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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions, except per share data)

 

 

Three Months Ended 
May 31,  

Six Months Ended
May 31,

 2019 2018  2019  2018
Revenues        

Cruise        
  Passenger ticket $ 3,257  $ 3,193  $ 6,456  $ 6,341
  Onboard and other 1,510  1,122  2,955  2,192

Tour and other 71  42  99  55
 4,838  4,357  9,511  8,589
Operating Costs and Expenses        

Cruise        
  Commissions, transportation and other 613  577  1,322  1,240
  Onboard and other 485  138  952  278
  Payroll and related 566  543  1,123  1,101
  Fuel 423  373  804  731
  Food 269  265  538  530
  Other ship operating 742  749  1,472  1,460

Tour and other 61  36  90  50
 3,159  2,681  6,301  5,390

Selling and administrative 621  605  1,250  1,221
Depreciation and amortization 542  512  1,059  1,000

 4,323  3,798  8,609  7,611
Operating Income 515  559  902  978
Nonoperating Income (Expense)        

Interest income 5  3  9  6
Interest expense, net of capitalized interest (54)  (49)  (105)  (98)
Gains on fuel derivatives, net —  41  —  57
Other income (expense), net (7)  10  (9)  11

 (56)  5  (105)  (24)
Income Before Income Taxes 459  564  797  955
Income Tax Expense, Net (8)  (3)  (10)  (3)
Net Income $ 451  $ 561  $ 787  $ 951
Earnings Per Share        

Basic $ 0.65  $ 0.79  $ 1.14  $ 1.33
Diluted $ 0.65  $ 0.78  $ 1.13  $ 1.33

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions)

 

 

Three Months Ended 
May 31,  

Six Months Ended
May 31,

 2019  2018  2019  2018
Net Income $ 451  $ 561  $ 787  $ 951
Items Included in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)       

Change in foreign currency translation adjustment (194)  (357)  (114)  (56)
Other (13)  (11)  (13)  (17)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (207)  (368)  (127)  (73)
Total Comprehensive Income $ 244  $ 193  $ 660  $ 878

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions, except par values)

 

 

May 31, 
2019  

November 30, 
2018

ASSETS    
Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,202  $ 982
Trade and other receivables, net 405  358
Inventories 501  450
Prepaid expenses and other 727  436

  Total current assets 2,835  2,225
Property and Equipment, Net 36,814  35,336
Goodwill 2,907  2,925
Other Intangibles 1,172  1,176
Other Assets 785  738

 $ 44,512  $ 42,401
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current Liabilities    

Short-term borrowings $ 480  $ 848
Current portion of long-term debt 1,614  1,578
Accounts payable 792  730
Accrued liabilities and other 1,675  1,654
Customer deposits 5,815  4,395

  Total current liabilities 10,377  9,204
Long-Term Debt 9,080  7,897
Other Long-Term Liabilities 948  856
Contingencies  
Shareholders’ Equity    

Common stock of Carnival Corporation, $0.01 par value; 1,960 shares authorized; 657 shares at 2019 and 656
shares at 2018 issued 7  7

Ordinary shares of Carnival plc, $1.66 par value; 217 shares at 2019 and 2018 issued 358  358
Additional paid-in capital 8,785  8,756
Retained earnings 25,138  25,066
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) (2,076)  (1,949)
Treasury stock, 130 shares at 2019 and 129 shares at 2018 of Carnival Corporation and 54 shares at 2019 and

48 shares at 2018 of Carnival plc, at cost (8,104)  (7,795)
  Total shareholders’ equity 24,108  24,443

 $ 44,512  $ 42,401

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions)

 

 

Six Months Ended 
May 31,

 2019  2018
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Net income $ 787  $ 951
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    

Depreciation and amortization 1,059  1,000
Gains on fuel derivatives, net —  (57)
Share-based compensation 27  32
Other, net 10  4

 1,883  1,930
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

Receivables (50)  (35)
Inventories 5  (16)
Prepaid expenses and other (302)  59
Accounts payable 68  (14)
Accrued liabilities and other 48  (249)
Customer deposits 1,516  1,413

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,169  3,087
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchases of property and equipment (3,021)  (2,201)
Proceeds from sales of ships 6  102
Payments of fuel derivative settlements (6)  (34)
Other, net 103  30

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (2,918)  (2,103)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from (repayments of) short-term borrowings, net (357)  398
Principal repayments of long-term debt (338)  (1,181)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,722  1,618
Dividends paid (694)  (646)
Purchases of treasury stock (316)  (513)
Other, net (43)  (16)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (26)  (339)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5)  2

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 220  646
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 996  422

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 1,215  $ 1,068

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(UNAUDITED)
(in millions)

 Three Months Ended

 
Common

stock  
Ordinary

shares  
Additional

paid-in
capital  

Retained
earnings  AOCI  

Treasury
stock  

Total
shareholders’

equity

At February 28, 2018 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,708  $ 23,360  $ (1,486)  $ (6,565)  $ 24,382
Net income —  —  —  561  —  —  561
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  (368)  —  (368)
Cash dividends declared ($0.50 per share) —  —  —  (357)  —  —  (357)
Purchases of treasury stock under the
Repurchase Program and other —  —  13  —  —  (298)  (284)

At May 31, 2018 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,721  $ 23,564  $ (1,855)  $ (6,862)  $ 23,933

              
At February 28, 2019 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,776  $ 25,033  $ (1,869)  $ (8,063)  $ 24,241

Net income —  —  —  451  —  —  451
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  (207)  —  (207)
Cash dividends declared ($0.50 per share) —  —  —  (346)  —  —  (346)
Purchases of treasury stock under the
Repurchase Program and other —  —  9  —  —  (41)  (32)

At May 31, 2019 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,785  $ 25,138  $ (2,076)  $ (8,104)  $ 24,108

              
 Six Months Ended

 
Common

stock  
Ordinary

shares  
Additional

paid-in
capital  

Retained
earnings  AOCI  

Treasury
stock  

Total
shareholders’

equity

At November 30, 2017 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,690  $ 23,292  $ (1,782)  $ (6,349)  $ 24,216
Net income —  —  —  951  —  —  951
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  (73)  —  (73)
Cash dividends declared ($0.95 per share) —  —  —  (679)  —  —  (679)
Purchases of treasury stock under the
Repurchase Program and other —  —  32  —  —  (514)  (482)

At May 31, 2018 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,721  $ 23,564  $ (1,855)  $ (6,862)  $ 23,933

              
At November 30, 2018 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,756  $ 25,066  $ (1,949)  $ (7,795)  $ 24,443

Changes in accounting principles (a) —  —  —  (24)  —  —  (24)
Net income —  —  —  787  —  —  787
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  (127)  —  (127)
Cash dividends declared ($1.00 per share) —  —  —  (691)  —  —  (691)
Purchases of treasury stock under the
Repurchase Program and other —  —  29  —  —  (310)  (280)

At May 31, 2019 $ 7  $ 358  $ 8,785  $ 25,138  $ (2,076)  $ (8,104)  $ 24,108

(a) We adopted the provisions of Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Derivatives and Hedging on December 1, 2018.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CARNIVAL CORPORATION & PLC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
NOTE 1 – General

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Carnival Corporation and Carnival plc and their respective subsidiaries. Together with their
consolidated subsidiaries, they are referred to collectively in these consolidated financial statements and elsewhere in this joint Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q as “Carnival Corporation & plc,” “our,” “us” and “we.”

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Statements of Income, the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the three and six months ended May 31, 2019 and 2018, and the Consolidated Balance Sheet at May 31,
2019 are unaudited and, in the opinion of our management, contain all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair
statement. Our interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes
included in the Carnival Corporation & plc 2018 joint Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
on January 28, 2019. Our operations are seasonal and results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year.
 
Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued guidance, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), which requires an entity to
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. On December 1, 2018, we
adopted this guidance using the modified retrospective method for all contracts as of the adoption date. Results for reporting periods beginning after
December 1, 2018 are presented under ASC 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historical
accounting under ASC 605.

The impact of the adoption of ASC 606 on our consolidated financial statements primarily relates to the gross presentation of prepaid travel agent
commissions (Consolidated Balance Sheet), shore excursions and other onboard revenues and costs (Consolidated Statement of Income) which were
historically presented net. As of December 1, 2018, we recorded a cumulative effect adjustment of $24 million to retained earnings related to the accounting
for our loyalty programs.
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The following tables summarize the impacts of ASC 606 adoption on our consolidated financial statements:

 Three months ended May 31, 2019
(in millions) Prior to adoption of ASC 606  Adjustments  As Reported
Consolidated Statement of Income      
Onboard and other (Revenues) $ 1,167  $ 343  $ 1,510
Revenues (Total) $ 4,495  $ 343  $ 4,838
Onboard and other (Operating Costs and Expenses) $ 142  $ 343  $ 485
Operating Costs and Expenses (Total) $ 3,980  $ 343  $ 4,323
Operating Income $ 515  $ —  $ 515
Net Income $ 451  $ —  $ 451
      

 Six months ended May 31, 2019
(in millions) Prior to adoption of ASC 606  Adjustments  As Reported
Consolidated Statement of Income      
Onboard and other (Revenues) $ 2,289  $ 666  $ 2,955
Revenues (Total) $ 8,845  $ 666  $ 9,511
Onboard and other (Operating Costs and Expenses) $ 286  $ 666  $ 952
Operating Costs and Expenses (Total) $ 7,943  $ 666  $ 8,609
Operating Income $ 902  $ —  $ 902
Net Income $ 787  $ —  $ 787

 At May 31, 2019
(in millions) Prior to adoption of ASC 606  Adjustments  As Reported
Consolidated Balance Sheet      
Prepaid expenses and other $ 517  $ 210  $ 727
Total current assets $ 2,625  $ 210  $ 2,835
Customer deposits $ 5,606  $ 210  $ 5,815
Total current liabilities $ 10,167  $ 210  $ 10,377
      

 Six months ended May 31, 2019
(in millions) Prior to adoption of ASC 606  Adjustments  As Reported
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows      
Prepaid expenses and other $ (92)  $ (210)  $ (302)
Customer deposits $ 1,306  $ 210  $ 1,516
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,169  $ —  $ 3,169

The FASB issued amended guidance, Business Combinations - Clarifying the Definition of a Business, which assists entities with evaluating whether
transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. On December 1, 2018, we adopted this guidance using the
prospective transition method. The adoption of this guidance had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

The FASB issued amended guidance, Statement of Cash Flows - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which clarifies how certain
cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The amendments are aimed at reducing the existing diversity in
practice. On December 1, 2018, we adopted this guidance using the retrospective method for each period presented. The adoption of this guidance had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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The FASB issued amended guidance, Statement of Cash Flows - Restricted Cash. On December 1, 2018, we adopted this guidance using the retrospective
method for each period presented. As a result, we now present restricted cash with cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. The
reclassification of restricted cash balances from investing activities to changes in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash was not material for the period
presented.

The FASB issued amended guidance, Service Concession Arrangements, which clarifies that the grantor in a service arrangement should be considered the
customer of the operating entity in all cases. On December 1, 2018, we adopted this guidance using the modified retrospective method. The adoption of this
guidance had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

The FASB issued amended guidance, Derivatives and Hedging, which targeted improvements to accounting for hedging activities such as hedging strategies,
effectiveness assessments and recognition of derivative gains or losses. On December 1, 2018, we early adopted this guidance using the modified
retrospective approach, which did not have a material impact on our financial statements. At the time of adoption, we changed the method by which we assess
effectiveness for outstanding net investment hedges from the forward method to the spot method. Under the spot method, the change in fair value of the
hedging instrument attributable to hedge effectiveness remains in AOCI until the net investment is sold or liquidated, while the impact attributable to
components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness is recorded in interest expense, net of capitalized interest, on a systematic and rational basis.
Previous gains or losses incurred under the forward method related to net investment hedges will remain in AOCI within the foreign currency translation
adjustments component and will be reclassified to earnings when the net investment is sold or liquidated. As required by this guidance, we have also added
certain disclosures about hedging activities and their effect on our consolidated financial statements.

The FASB issued guidance, Leases, which requires an entity to recognize both assets and liabilities arising from financing and operating leases, along with
additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures. This guidance is required to be adopted by us in the first quarter of 2020 and must be applied using a
modified retrospective approach which allows entities to either apply the new lease standard to the beginning of the earliest period presented or only to the
current period consolidated financial statements. The initial adoption of this guidance is expected to increase both our total assets and total liabilities,
reflecting the lease rights and obligations arising from our lease arrangements, and will require additional disclosures. We are evaluating certain contractual
arrangements to determine if they contain an implicit right to use an asset that would qualify as a leasing arrangement under the new guidance.

The FASB issued amended guidance, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software, which requires a customer in a cloud computing arrangement
that is a service contract to follow the internal-use software guidance to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as assets or expense as incurred.
The expense related to deferred implementation costs is required to be presented in the same income statement line item as the related hosting fees.
Additionally, the payments for deferred implementation costs are required to be presented in the same line item in the statement of cash flows as payments for
the related hosting fees. This guidance is required to be adopted by us in the first quarter of 2021 and must be applied using either a prospective or a
retrospective approach. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 – Revenue and Expense Recognition

Guest cruise deposits represent unearned revenues and are initially included in customer deposit liabilities when received. Customer deposits are subsequently
recognized as cruise revenues, together with revenues from onboard and other activities, and all associated direct costs and expenses of a voyage are
recognized as cruise costs and expenses, upon completion of voyages with durations of ten nights or less and on a pro rata basis for voyages in excess of ten
nights. The impact of recognizing these shorter duration cruise revenues and costs and expenses on a completed voyage basis versus on a pro rata basis is not
significant. Certain of our product offerings are bundled and we allocate the value of the bundled services and goods between passenger ticket revenues,
onboard and other revenues and tour and other revenues based upon the estimated standalone selling prices of those goods and services.

Future travel discount vouchers are included as a reduction of cruise passenger ticket revenues when such vouchers are utilized. Guest cancellation fees are
recognized in cruise passenger ticket revenues at the time of cancellation.

Our sale to guests of air and other transportation to and from airports near the home ports of our ships are included in cruise passenger ticket revenues, and the
related cost of purchasing these services are included in cruise transportation costs. The proceeds that we collect from the sales of third-party shore excursions
are included in onboard and other revenues and the related costs are included in onboard and other costs. The amounts collected on behalf of our onboard
concessionaires, net of
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the amounts remitted to them, are included in onboard and other cruise revenues as concession revenues. All of these amounts are recognized on a completed
voyage or pro rata basis as discussed above.

Cruise passenger ticket revenues include fees, taxes and charges collected by us from our guests. A portion of these fees, taxes and charges vary with guest
head counts and are directly imposed on a revenue-producing arrangement. This portion of the fees, taxes and charges is expensed in commissions,
transportation and other costs when the corresponding revenues are recognized. For the three and six months ended May 31, the fees, taxes and charges
included in passenger ticket revenues and commissions, transportation and other costs were $154 million and $317 million in 2019 and $143 million and $291
million in 2018. The remaining portion of fees, taxes and charges are also included in cruise passenger ticket revenues and are expensed in other ship
operating expenses when the corresponding revenues are recognized.

Revenues and expenses from our hotel and transportation operations, which are included in our Tour and Other segment, are recognized at the time the
services are performed or expenses are incurred. Revenues from the long-term leasing of ships, which are also included in our Tour and Other segment, are
recognized ratably over the term of the agreement.

                
Customer Deposits

Our payment terms generally require an initial deposit to confirm a reservation, with the balance due prior to the voyage. Cash received from guests in
advance of the cruise is recorded in customer deposits and in other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These amounts include
refundable deposits. We had customer deposits of $6.0 billion and $4.7 billion as of May 31, 2019 and December 1, 2018. During the six months ended May
31, 2019, we recognized revenues of $3.7 billion related to our customer deposits as of December 1, 2018. Our customer deposits balance changes due to the
seasonal nature of cash collections, the recognition of revenue and foreign currency translation.

Contract Receivables

Although we generally require full payment from our customers prior to or concurrently with their cruise, we grant credit terms to a relatively small portion of
our revenue source. We also have receivables from credit card merchants for cruise ticket purchases and onboard revenue. These receivables are included
within trade and other receivables, net.

Contract Assets

Contract assets are amounts paid prior to the start of a voyage, which we record as an asset within prepaid expenses and other and which are subsequently
recognized as commissions, transportation and other at the time of revenue recognition. We have contract assets of $210 million and $151 million as of
May 31, 2019 and December 1, 2018.

NOTE 3 – Unsecured Debt

At May 31, 2019, our short-term borrowings consisted of euro-denominated commercial paper of $480 million. For the six months ended May 31, 2019, there
were no borrowings or repayments of commercial paper with original maturities greater than three months. For the six months ended May 31, 2018, we had
borrowings of $2 million and repayments of $2 million of commercial paper with original maturities greater than three months.

In December 2018, we borrowed $852 million under an export credit facility due in semi-annual installments through 2031.

In February 2019, we borrowed $587 million under a euro-denominated export credit facility due in semi-annual installments through 2031. We also entered
into an $899 million export credit facility, which may be drawn in euro or U.S. dollars in 2023 and will be due in semi-annual installments through 2035. The
interest rate on this export credit facility can be fixed or floating, at our discretion.

In March 2019, we borrowed $283 million under two euro-denominated floating rate bank loans due in 2023.

NOTE 4 – Contingencies

Litigation

On May 2, 2019, two lawsuits were filed against Carnival Corporation in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida under Title III of the
Cuban Liberty and Democratic Solidarity Act, also known as the Helms-Burton Act. The complaint filed by Havana Docks Corporation alleges it holds an
interest in the Havana Cruise Port Terminal and the complaint
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filed by Javier Garcia-Bengochea alleges that he holds an interest in the Port of Santiago, Cuba, both of which were expropriated by the Cuban Government.
The complaints further allege that Carnival Cruise Line “trafficked” in those properties by embarking and disembarking passengers at these facilities. The
plaintiffs seek all available statutory remedies, including the value of the expropriated property, plus interest, treble damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. We
believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and we intend to vigorously defend against them. We do not believe that it is likely that the outcome of
these matters will be material, but litigation is inherently unpredictable and there can be no assurances that the final outcome of the case might not be material
to our operating results or financial condition.

Additionally, in the normal course of our business, various claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending against us. Most of these claims and lawsuits,
or any settlement of claims and lawsuits, are covered by insurance and the maximum amount of our liability, net of any insurance recoverables, is typically
limited to our self-insurance retention levels. We believe the ultimate outcome of these claims, lawsuits and settlements, as applicable, each and in the
aggregate, will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Obligations – Indemnifications

Some of the debt contracts we enter into include indemnification provisions obligating us to make payments to the counterparty if certain events occur. These
contingencies generally relate to changes in taxes or changes in laws which increase our lender’s costs. There are no stated or notional amounts included in
the indemnification clauses, and we are not able to estimate the maximum potential amount of future payments, if any, under these indemnification clauses.

NOTE 5 – Fair Value Measurements, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and Financial Risks

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received for selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date and is measured using inputs in one of the following three categories:

• Level 1 measurements are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access.
Valuation of these items does not entail a significant amount of judgment.

• Level 2 measurements are based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active or market data other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities.

• Level 3 measurements are based on unobservable data that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

Considerable judgment may be required in interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, certain estimates of fair value
presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current or future market exchange.

Financial Instruments that are not Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

 May 31, 2019  November 30, 2018

 Carrying
Value

 Fair Value  Carrying
Value  

Fair Value
(in millions)  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets              

Long-term other assets (a) $ 182  $ —  $ 29  $ 151  $ 127  $ —  $ 30  $ 95
Total $ 182  $ —  $ 29  $ 151  $ 127  $ —  $ 30  $ 95

Liabilities              
Fixed rate debt (b) $ 6,665  $ —  $ 6,915  $ —  $ 5,699  $ —  $ 5,799  $ —
Floating rate debt (b) 4,615  —  4,659  —  4,695  —  4,727  —

Total $ 11,280  $ —  $ 11,574  $ —  $ 10,394  $ —  $ 10,526  $ —
 
(a) Long-term other assets are comprised of notes receivable. The fair values of our Level 2 notes receivable were based on estimated future cash flows

discounted at appropriate market interest rates. The fair values of our Level 3 notes receivable were estimated using risk-adjusted discount rates.
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(b) The debt amounts above do not include the impact of interest rate swaps or debt issuance costs. The fair values of our publicly-traded notes were
based on their unadjusted quoted market prices in markets that are not sufficiently active to be Level 1 and, accordingly, are considered Level 2. The
fair values of our other debt were estimated based on current market interest rates being applied to this debt.

Financial Instruments that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

 May 31, 2019  November 30, 2018
(in millions) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,202  $ —  $ —  $ 982  $ —  $ —
Restricted cash 14  —  —  14  —  —
Derivative financial instruments —  25  —  —  —  —

Total $ 1,215  $ 25  $ —  $ 996  $ —  $ —
Liabilities            

Derivative financial instruments $ —  $ 22  $ —  $ —  $ 29  $ —
Total $ —  $ 22  $ —  $ —  $ 29  $ —

Nonfinancial Instruments that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Valuation of Goodwill and Trademarks 

 Goodwill

(in millions)
NAA (a)
Segment  

EA (b)
Segment  Total

At November 30, 2018 $ 1,898  $ 1,027  $ 2,925
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  (19)  (19)
At May 31, 2019 $ 1,898  $ 1,008  $ 2,906
(a)    North America & Australia (“NAA”)
(b)    Europe & Asia (“EA”)

 Trademarks

(in millions)
NAA

Segment  
EA 

Segment  Total
At November 30, 2018 $ 927  $ 242  $ 1,169
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  (4)  (4)
At May 31, 2019 $ 927  $ 238  $ 1,165

The determination of our reporting unit goodwill and trademark fair values includes numerous assumptions that are subject to various risks and uncertainties.
We believe that we have made reasonable estimates and judgments. A change in the conditions, circumstances or strategy, including decisions about the
allocation of new ships amongst brands and the transfer of ships between brands (influencing fair values in the future), may result in a need to recognize an
impairment charge.
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities  

(in millions) Balance Sheet Location  May 31, 2019  
November 30,

2018
Derivative assets      
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments      

Cross currency swaps (a) Prepaid expenses and other  $ 19  $ —
Other assets  6  —

Total derivative assets   $ 25  $ —
Derivative liabilities      
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments      

Cross currency swaps (a) Accrued liabilities and other  $ 3  $ 5
Foreign currency zero cost collars (b) Other long-term liabilities  1  —
Interest rate swaps (c) Accrued liabilities and other  7  8

Other long-term liabilities  11  11
   22  23
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments      

Fuel Accrued liabilities and other  —  6
Total derivative liabilities   $ 22  $ 29
 
(a) At May 31, 2019 and November 30, 2018, we had cross currency swaps totaling $984 million and $156 million, respectively, that are designated as

hedges of our net investment in foreign operations with a euro-denominated functional currency. At May 31, 2019, these cross currency swaps settle
through December 2030.

(b) At May 31, 2019, we had foreign currency derivatives consisting of foreign currency zero cost collars that are designated as foreign currency cash
flow hedges for a portion of our euro-denominated shipbuilding payments. See “Newbuild Currency Risks” below for additional information
regarding these derivatives.

(c) We have interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges whereby we receive floating interest rate payments in exchange for making fixed interest
rate payments. These interest rate swap agreements effectively changed $340 million at May 31, 2019 and $385 million at November 30, 2018 of
EURIBOR-based floating rate euro debt to fixed rate euro debt. At May 31, 2019, these interest rate swaps settle through March 2025.

Our derivative contracts include rights of offset with our counterparties. We have elected to net certain of our derivative assets and liabilities within
counterparties.

  May 31, 2019

(in millions)  Gross Amounts  
Gross Amounts Offset
in the Balance Sheet  

Total Net Amounts
Presented in the Balance

Sheet  

Gross Amounts not
Offset in the Balance

Sheet  Net Amounts
Assets  $ 29  $ (4)  $ 25  $ (3)  $ 22
Liabilities  $ 26  $ (4)  $ 22  $ (3)  $ 18

  November 30, 2018

(in millions)  Gross Amounts  
Gross Amounts Offset
in the Balance Sheet  

Total Net Amounts
Presented in the Balance

Sheet  

Gross Amounts not
Offset in the Balance

Sheet  Net Amounts
Assets  $ —  $ —  $ —  $  $ —
Liabilities  $ 29  $ —  $ 29  $ —  $ 29
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The effect of our derivatives qualifying and designated as hedging instruments recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and in income was as
follows:

 

Three Months Ended 
May 31,  

Six Months Ended
May 31,

(in millions) 2019  2018  2019  2018
Gains (losses) recognized in AOCI:        

Cross currency swaps – net investment hedges $ 29  $ 16  $ 18  $ 10
Foreign currency zero cost collars – cash flow hedges $ (1)  $ (11)  $ (1)  $ (10)
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges $ —  $ —  $ 1  $ 4

Gains (losses) reclassified from AOCI – cash flow hedges:        
Interest rate swaps – Interest expense, net of capitalized interest $ (2)  $ (2)  $ (4)  $ (5)

Gains (losses) recognized on derivative instruments (amount excluded from
effectiveness testing – net investment hedges)        

Cross currency swaps – Interest expense, net of capitalized interest $ 6  $ —  $ 11  $ —

The amount of estimated cash flow hedges’ unrealized gains and losses that are expected to be reclassified to earnings in the next twelve months is not
significant.

Financial Risks

Fuel Price Risks

We manage our exposure to fuel price risk by managing our consumption of fuel. Substantially all of our exposure to market risk for changes in fuel prices
relates to the consumption of fuel on our ships. We manage fuel consumption through ship maintenance practices, modifying our itineraries and implementing
innovative technologies. We are also adding new, more fuel efficient ships to our fleet and are strategically disposing of smaller, less fuel efficient ships.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risks

Overall Strategy

We manage our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates through our normal operating and financing activities, including netting certain
exposures to take advantage of any natural offsets and, when considered appropriate, through the use of derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments. Our primary focus is to monitor our exposure to, and manage, the economic foreign currency exchange risks faced by our operations and realized
if we exchange one currency for another. We currently only hedge certain of our ship commitments and net investments in foreign operations. The financial
impacts of the hedging instruments we do employ generally offset the changes in the underlying exposures being hedged.

Operational Currency Risks

Our operations primarily utilize the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar, euro or sterling as their functional currencies. Our operations also have revenue and
expenses denominated in non-functional currencies. Movements in foreign currency exchange rates will affect our financial statements.

Investment Currency Risks

We consider our investments in foreign operations to be denominated in stable currencies. Our investments in foreign operations are of a long-term nature. At
May 31, 2019, we had $7.0 billion and $835 million of euro- and sterling-denominated debt, respectively, including the effect of cross currency swaps, which
provide an economic offset for our operations with euro and sterling functional currency. We also partially mitigate our net investment currency exposures by
denominating a portion of our foreign currency intercompany payables in our foreign operations’ functional currencies. 

Newbuild Currency Risks

Our shipbuilding contracts are typically denominated in euros. Our decision to hedge a non-functional currency ship commitment for our cruise brands is
made on a case-by-case basis, considering the amount and duration of the exposure, market volatility, economic trends, our overall expected net cash flows by
currency and other offsetting risks. We use foreign currency derivative contracts to manage foreign currency exchange rate risk for some of our ship
construction payments. At May 31,
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2019, for the following newbuilds, we had foreign currency zero cost collars for a portion of our euro-denominated shipyard payments. These collars are
designated as cash flow hedges.

 Entered Into  Matures in  
Weighted-Average Floor

Rate  
Weighted- Average

Ceiling Rate
Carnival Panorama 2019  October 2019  $ 1.05  $ 1.28
Enchanted Princess 2019  June 2020  $ 1.04  $ 1.28
Mardi Gras 2019  August 2020  $ 1.04  $ 1.28

If the spot rate is between the ceiling and floor rates on the date of maturity, then we would not owe or receive any payments under these collars.

At May 31, 2019, our remaining newbuild currency exchange rate risk primarily relates to euro-denominated newbuild contract payments to non-euro
functional currency brands, which represent a total unhedged commitment of $7.5 billion for newbuilds scheduled to be delivered from 2020 through 2025.

The cost of shipbuilding orders that we may place in the future that is denominated in a different currency than our cruise brands’ will be affected by foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations. These foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations may affect our decision to order new cruise ships.

Interest Rate Risks

We manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates through our debt portfolio management and investment strategies. We evaluate our debt portfolio to
determine whether to make periodic adjustments to the mix of fixed and floating rate debt through the use of interest rate swaps, issuance of new debt,
amendment of existing debt or early retirement of existing debt.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

As part of our ongoing control procedures, we monitor concentrations of credit risk associated with financial and other institutions with which we conduct
significant business. We seek to minimize these credit risk exposures, including counterparty nonperformance primarily associated with our cash equivalents,
investments, committed financing facilities, contingent obligations, derivative instruments, insurance contracts and new ship progress payment guarantees,
by:

• Conducting business with large, well-established financial institutions, insurance companies and export credit agencies
• Diversifying our counterparties 
• Having guidelines regarding credit ratings and investment maturities that we follow to help safeguard liquidity and minimize risk
• Generally requiring collateral and/or guarantees to support notes receivable on significant asset sales, long-term ship charters and new ship progress

payments to shipyards 

We believe the risk of nonperformance by any of our significant counterparties is remote. At May 31, 2019, our exposures under foreign currency contracts,
cross currency swaps and interest rate swap agreements were not material. We also monitor the creditworthiness of travel agencies and tour operators in Asia,
Australia and Europe, which includes charter-hire agreements in Asia and credit and debit card providers to which we extend credit in the normal course of
our business. Our credit exposure also includes contingent obligations related to cash payments received directly by travel agents and tour operators for cash
collected by them on cruise sales in Australia and most of Europe where we are obligated to honor our guests’ cruise payments made by them to their travel
agents and tour operators regardless of whether we have received these payments. Concentrations of credit risk associated with these trade receivables,
charter-hire agreements and contingent obligations are not considered to be material, principally due to the large number of unrelated accounts, the nature of
these contingent obligations and their short maturities. We have not experienced significant credit losses on our trade receivables, charter-hire agreements and
contingent obligations. We do not normally require collateral or other security to support normal credit sales.

NOTE 6 – Segment Information

Our operating segments are reported on the same basis as the internally reported information that is provided to our chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”), who is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Carnival Corporation and Carnival plc. The CODM assesses performance and makes
decisions to allocate resources for Carnival Corporation & plc based upon
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review of the results across all of our segments. Our four reportable segments are comprised of (1) NAA cruise operations, (2) EA cruise operations, (3)
Cruise Support and (4) Tour and Other.

The operating segments within each of our NAA and EA reportable segments have been aggregated based on the similarity of their economic and other
characteristics, including geographic guest sourcing. Our Cruise Support segment includes our portfolio of leading port destinations and other services, all of
which are operated for the benefit of our cruise brands. Our Tour and Other segment represents the hotel and transportation operations of Holland America
Princess Alaska Tours and other operations.

 Three Months Ended May 31,

(in millions) Revenues  

Operating costs
and

expenses  

Selling
and

administrative  

Depreciation
and

amortization  
Operating

income (loss)
2019          
NAA $ 3,162  $ 2,033  $ 342  $ 339  $ 447
EA 1,561  1,033  185  166  177
Cruise Support 44  32  87  27  (102)
Tour and Other 71  61  7  9  (7)

 $ 4,838  $ 3,159  $ 621  $ 542  $ 515
2018          
NAA $ 2,836  $ 1,747  $ 338  $ 317  $ 433
EA 1,449  888  191  160  210
Cruise Support 31  11  64  25  (69)
Tour and Other 42  36  11  10  (14)

 $ 4,357  $ 2,681  $ 605  $ 512  $ 559

          

 Six Months Ended May 31,

(in millions) Revenues  

Operating costs
and

expenses  

Selling
and

administrative  

Depreciation
and

amortization  
Operating

income (loss)
2019          
NAA $ 6,239  $ 4,043  $ 695  $ 667  $ 833
EA 3,087  2,108  390  318  270
Cruise Support 86  60  152  55  (180)
Tour and Other 99  90  13  19  (22)

 $ 9,511  $ 6,301  $ 1,250  $ 1,059  $ 902
2018          
NAA $ 5,519  $ 3,405  $ 705  $ 617  $ 793
EA 2,952  1,892  379  316  364
Cruise Support 63  43  119  48  (147)
Tour and Other 55  50  17  19  (31)

 $ 8,589  $ 5,390  $ 1,221  $ 1,000  $ 978

Revenue by geographic areas, which are based on where our guests are sourced, were as follows:
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(in millions)
Three Months Ended May

31, 2019  
Six Months Ended May 31,

2019
North America $ 2,639  $ 5,159
Europe 1,350  2,749
Australia and Asia 741  1,324
Other 108  279

 $ 4,838  $ 9,511
    

NOTE 7 – Earnings Per Share 

 
Three Months Ended 

May 31,  
Six Months Ended

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2019  2018  2019  2018
Net income for basic and diluted earnings per share $ 451  $ 561  $ 787  $ 951
Weighted-average shares outstanding 691  714  692  715
Dilutive effect of equity plans 2  1  2  2
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 693  715  694  717
Basic earnings per share $ 0.65  $ 0.79  $ 1.14  $ 1.33

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.65  $ 0.78  $ 1.13  $ 1.33

NOTE 8 – Supplemental Cash Flow Information

(in millions) May 31, 2019  November 30, 2018
Cash and cash equivalents (Consolidated Balance Sheets) $ 1,202  $ 982
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other and other assets 14  14

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows) $ 1,215  $ 996

For the six months ended May 31, 2019 and 2018, we issued notes receivable upon sale of ships of $104 million and $35 million.

NOTE 9 – Property and Equipment

In March 2019, we sold and transferred an NAA segment 1,680-passenger capacity ship.

In April 2019, we sold and transferred an NAA segment 1,260-passenger capacity ship.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results

Some of the statements, estimates or projections contained in this document are “forward-looking statements” that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions with respect to us, including some statements concerning future results, outlooks, plans, goals and other events which have not yet occurred.
These statements are intended to qualify for the safe harbors from liability provided by Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking. These
statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about our business and the industry in which we operate and the beliefs and
assumptions of our management. We have tried, whenever possible, to identify these statements by using words like “will,” “may,” “could,” “should,”
“would,” “believe,” “depends,” “expect,” “goal,” “anticipate,” “forecast,” “project,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “target,” “indicate,” “outlook,”
and similar expressions of future intent or the negative of such terms.

Forward-looking statements include those statements that relate to our outlook and financial position including, but not limited to, statements regarding:

•    Net revenue yields •    Net cruise costs, excluding fuel per available lower berth day

•    Booking levels •    Estimates of ship depreciable lives and residual values

•    Pricing and occupancy •    Goodwill, ship and trademark fair values

•    Interest, tax and fuel expenses •    Liquidity

•    Currency exchange rates •    Adjusted earnings per share

Because forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, there are many factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements
to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. This note contains important cautionary statements of the known
factors that we consider could materially affect the accuracy of our forward looking statements and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial position. It is not possible to predict or identify all such risks. There may be additional risks that we consider immaterial or which are unknown.
These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

• Adverse world events impacting the ability or desire of people to travel may lead to a decline in demand for cruises
• Incidents concerning our ships, guests or the cruise vacation industry as well as adverse weather conditions and other natural disasters may impact the

satisfaction of our guests and crew and lead to reputational damage
• Changes in and non-compliance with laws and regulations under which we operate, such as those relating to health, environment, safety and security,

data privacy and protection, anti-corruption, economic sanctions, trade protection and tax may lead to litigation, enforcement actions, fines, penalties and
reputational damage

• Breaches in data security and lapses in data privacy as well as disruptions and other damages to our principal offices, information technology operations
and system networks and failure to keep pace with developments in technology may adversely impact our business operations, the satisfaction of our
guests and crew and lead to reputational damage

• Ability to recruit, develop and retain qualified shipboard personnel who live away from home for extended periods of time may adversely impact our
business operations, guest services and satisfaction

• Increases in fuel prices and availability of fuel supply may adversely impact our scheduled itineraries and costs
• Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may adversely impact our financial results
• Overcapacity and competition in the cruise and land-based vacation industry may lead to a decline in our cruise sales and pricing
• Geographic regions in which we try to expand our business may be slow to develop or ultimately not develop how we expect
• Inability to implement our shipbuilding programs and ship repairs, maintenance and refurbishments may adversely impact our business operations and

the satisfaction of our guests

The ordering of the risk factors set forth above is not intended to reflect our indication of priority or likelihood.

Forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual results. Subject to any continuing obligations under applicable law or any
relevant stock exchange rules, we expressly disclaim any obligation to disseminate, after the date of this document, any updates or revisions to any such
forward-looking statements to reflect any change in expectations or events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to our consolidated financial statements for further information on New Accounting Pronouncements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

For a discussion of our critical accounting estimates, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” that is
included in the Form 10-K.

Seasonality

Our revenues from the sale of passenger tickets are seasonal. Historically, demand for cruises has been greatest during our third quarter, which includes the
Northern Hemisphere summer months. This higher demand during the third quarter results in higher ticket prices and occupancy levels and, accordingly, the
largest share of our operating income is earned during this period. The seasonality of our results also increases due to ships being taken out-of-service for
maintenance, which we schedule during non-peak demand periods. In addition, substantially all of Holland America Princess Alaska Tours’ revenue and net
income is generated from May through September in conjunction with the Alaska cruise season.

Third and Fourth Quarter 2019

As previously disclosed, we expect results for the third and fourth quarter to be unfavorably impacted by voyage disruptions related to Carnival Vista, the
U.S. government’s policy change on travel to Cuba, and lower net revenue yields in the second half of the year compared to guidance released on March 26,
2019.

Statistical Information

 
Three Months Ended

May 31,  
Six Months Ended

May 31,
 2019  2018  2019  2018
Available Lower Berth Days (“ALBDs”) (in thousands) (a) (b) 21,645  20,690  42,944  41,151
Occupancy percentage (c) 105.3%  105.7%  105.0%  105.2%
Passengers carried (in thousands) 3,101  2,971  6,038  5,831
Fuel consumption in metric tons (in thousands) 835  819  1,664  1,640
Fuel consumption in metric tons per thousand ALBDs 38.6  39.6  38.8  39.9
Fuel cost per metric ton consumed $ 507  $ 455  $ 483  $ 446
Currencies (USD to 1)        

AUD $ 0.70  $ 0.77  $ 0.71  $ 0.77
CAD $ 0.75  $ 0.78  $ 0.75  $ 0.79
EUR $ 1.12  $ 1.21  $ 1.13  $ 1.21
GBP $ 1.30  $ 1.38  $ 1.29  $ 1.38
RMB $ 0.15  $ 0.16  $ 0.15  $ 0.16

(a) ALBD is a standard measure of passenger capacity for the period that we use to approximate rate and capacity variances, based on consistently
applied formulas that we use to perform analyses to determine the main non-capacity driven factors that cause our cruise revenues and expenses to
vary. ALBDs assume that each cabin we offer for sale accommodates two passengers and is computed by multiplying passenger capacity by revenue-
producing ship operating days in the period.

(b) For the three months ended May 31, 2019 compared to the three months ended May 31, 2018, we had a 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs comprised
of a 0.5% capacity increase in our NAA segment and a 12% capacity increase in our EA segment.

20



Table of Contents

Our NAA segment’s capacity increase was caused by:
• Partial period impact from one Carnival Cruise Line 3,960-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in April 2018
• Partial period impact from one Seabourn 600-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in May 2018
• Full period impact from one Holland America Line 2,670-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in December 2018

The increase in our NAA segment’s capacity was partially offset by:
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (Australia) 1,680-passenger capacity ship removed from service in March 2019
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (Australia) 1,260-passenger capacity ship removed from service in April 2019

Our EA segment’s capacity increase was caused by:
• Full period impact from one AIDA 5,230-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in December 2018
• Partial period impact from one Costa Cruises 4,200-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in March 2019

The increase in our EA segment’s capacity was partially offset by:
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (UK) 700-passenger capacity ship removed from service in March 2018
• Partial period impact from one Costa Cruises 1,300-passenger capacity ship removed from service in April 2018

For the six months ended May 31, 2019 compared to the six months ended May 31, 2018, we had a 4.4% capacity increase in ALBDs comprised of a
2.8% capacity increase in our NAA segment and a 7.1% capacity increase in our EA segment.

Our NAA segment’s capacity increase was caused by:
• Partial period impact from one Carnival Cruise Line 3,960-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in April 2018
• Partial period impact from one Seabourn 600-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in May 2018
• Partial period impact from one Holland America Line 2,670-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in December 2018

The increase in our NAA segment’s capacity was partially offset by:
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (Australia) 1,680-passenger capacity ship removed from service in March 2019
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (Australia) 1,260-passenger capacity ship removed from service in April 2019

Our EA segment’s capacity increase was caused by:
• Partial period impact from one AIDA 5,230-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in December 2018
• Partial period impact from one Costa Cruises 4,200-passenger capacity ship that entered into service in March 2019

The increase in our EA segment’s capacity was partially offset by:
• Partial period impact from one P&O Cruises (UK) 700-passenger capacity ship removed from service in March 2018
• Partial period impact from one Costa Cruises 1,300-passenger capacity ship removed from service in April 2018

(c) In accordance with cruise industry practice, occupancy is calculated using a denominator of ALBDs, which assumes two passengers per cabin even
though some cabins can accommodate three or more passengers. Percentages in excess of 100% indicate that on average more than two passengers
occupied some cabins.

Three Months Ended May 31, 2019 (“2019”) Compared to Three Months Ended May 31, 2018 (“2018”)

Revenues

Consolidated

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 67% of our 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues increased by $64 million, or 2.0%, to $3.3 billion
in 2019 from $3.2 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
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• $147 million - 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $30 million - increase in air transportation revenues

These increases were partially offset by:
• $95 million - net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact
• $14 million - decrease in occupancy

Onboard and other cruise revenues made up 31% of our 2019 total revenues. Onboard and other cruise revenues increased by $388 million, or 35%, to $1.5
billion in 2019 from $1.1 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $343 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $52 million - 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $26 million - higher onboard spending by our guests

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact of $29 million.

Tour and other revenues made up 1.5% of our 2019 total revenues. Tour and other revenues increased by $28 million, or 67%, to $71 million in 2019 from
$42 million in 2018.

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, increased by $1 million, or 0.5%, to $272 million in 2019 from $270 million in
2018.

NAA Segment

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 65% of our NAA segment’s 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues increased by $46 million, or
2.3%, to $2.1 billion in 2019 compared to $2.0 billion in 2018. 

This increase was driven by:
• $26 million - increase in cruise ticket revenues, driven primarily by price improvements in the Caribbean program, partially offset by net unfavorable

foreign currency transactional impact
• $10 million - 0.5% capacity increase in ALBDs

The remaining 35% of our NAA segment’s 2019 total revenues were comprised of onboard and other cruise revenues, which increased by $280 million, or
34%, to $1.1 billion in 2019 from $0.8 billion in 2018. This increase was driven by the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a
result of the adoption of new revenue guidance of $272 million.

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, remained at $193 million in both 2019 and 2018.

EA Segment

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 78% of our EA segment’s 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues increased by $29 million, or 2.5%,
to $1.2 billion in 2019 compared to $1.2 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $140 million - 12% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $17 million - increase in air transportation revenue

These increases were partially offset by:
• $90 million - net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact
• $20 million - decrease in cruise ticket revenues
• $17 million - decrease in occupancy

The remaining 22% of our EA segment’s 2019 total revenues were comprised of onboard and other cruise revenues, which increased by $83 million, or 32%,
to $346 million in 2019 from $262 million in 2018.
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This increase was caused by:
• $64 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $31 million - 12% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $16 million - higher onboard spending by our guests

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact of $26 million.

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, increased by $1 million, or 1.5%, to $78 million in 2019 from $77 million in 2018.

Costs and Expenses

Consolidated

Operating costs and expenses increased by $478 million, or 18%, to $3.2 billion in 2019 from $2.7 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $343 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $122 million - 4.6% capacity increase in ALBD
• $43 million - higher fuel prices
• $34 million - increase in various other costs
• $32 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $28 million - gains of ship sales in 2018
• $26 million - increase in tour and other costs
• $15 million - higher cruise payroll and related expenses

These increases were partially offset by:
• $71 million - net favorable foreign currency translational impact
• $65 million - lower dry dock expense and repair and maintenance expenses
• $16 million - gains on ship sales in 2019
• $10 million - lower fuel consumption per ALBD

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $16 million, or 2.7%, to $621 million in 2019 from $605 million in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $31 million, or 6.0%, to $542 million in 2019 from $512 million in 2018.

NAA Segment

Operating costs and expenses increased by $286 million, or 16%, to $2.0 billion in 2019 from $1.7 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $272 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $26 million - higher fuel prices
• $13 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $11 million - higher cruise payroll and related expense
• $11 million - various other costs

These increases were partially offset by:
• $39 million - lower dry dock expense and repair and maintenance expenses
• $16 million - gains on ship sales in 2019

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $4 million, or 1.2%, to $342 million in 2019 from $338 million in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $22 million, or 7.0%, to $339 million in 2019 from $317 million in 2018.
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EA Segment

Operating costs and expenses increased by $145 million, or 16%, to $1.0 billion in 2019 from $0.9 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $105 million - 12% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $64 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $28 million - gains of ship sales in 2018
• $19 million - various other costs
• $18 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $17 million - higher fuel prices

These increases were partially offset by:
• $68 million - net favorable foreign currency translational impact
• $24 million - lower dry dock expense and repair and maintenance expenses

Selling and administrative expenses decreased by $7 million, or 3.5%, to $185 million in 2019 from $191 million in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $7 million, or 4.3%, to $166 million in 2019 from $160 million in 2018.

Operating Income

Our consolidated operating income decreased by $44 million, or 7.9%, to $515 million in 2019 from $559 million in 2018. Our NAA segment’s operating
income increased by $14 million, or 3.1%, to $447 million in 2019 from $433 million in 2018, and our EA segment’s operating income decreased by $33
million, or 16%, to $177 million in 2019 from $210 million in 2018. These changes were primarily due to the reasons discussed above.

Nonoperating Income (Expense)

(in millions)
Three Months Ended May

31, 2018
Unrealized gains on fuel derivatives, net $ 50
Realized losses on fuel derivatives, net (9)
Gains on fuel derivatives, net $ 41

There were no unrealized or realized gains or losses on fuel derivatives for the three months ended May 31, 2019.

Explanations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use net cruise revenues per ALBD (“net revenue yields”), net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD, adjusted net income and adjusted earnings per share
as non-GAAP financial measures of our cruise segments’ and the company’s financial performance. These non-GAAP financial measures are provided along
with U.S. GAAP gross cruise revenues per ALBD (“gross revenue yields”), gross cruise costs per ALBD and U.S. GAAP net income and U.S. GAAP
earnings per share. 

Net revenue yields and net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD enable us to separate the impact of predictable capacity or ALBD changes from price and
other changes that affect our business. We believe these non-GAAP measures provide useful information to investors and expanded insight to measure our
revenue and cost performance as a supplement to our U.S. GAAP consolidated financial statements.

Under U.S. GAAP, the realized and unrealized gains and losses on fuel derivatives not qualifying as fuel hedges are recognized currently in earnings. We
believe that unrealized gains and losses on fuel derivatives are not an indication of our earnings performance since they relate to future periods and may not
ultimately be realized in our future earnings. Therefore, we believe it is more meaningful for the unrealized gains and losses on fuel derivatives to be excluded
from our net income and earnings per share and, accordingly, we present adjusted net income and adjusted earnings per share excluding these unrealized gains
and losses.
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We believe that gains and losses on ship sales, impairment charges, restructuring and other expenses are not part of our core operating business and are not an
indication of our future earnings performance. Therefore, we believe it is more meaningful for gains and losses on ship sales, impairment charges, and
restructuring and other non-core gains and charges to be excluded from our net income and earnings per share and, accordingly, we present adjusted net
income and adjusted earnings per share excluding these items.

The presentation of our non-GAAP financial information is not intended to be considered in isolation from, as substitute for, or superior to the financial
information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. It is possible that our non-GAAP financial measures may not be exactly comparable to the like-kind
information presented by other companies, which is a potential risk associated with using these measures to compare us to other companies.

Net revenue yields are commonly used in the cruise industry to measure a company’s cruise segment revenue performance and for revenue management
purposes. We use “net cruise revenues” rather than “gross cruise revenues” to calculate net revenue yields. We believe that net cruise revenues is a more
meaningful measure in determining revenue yield than gross cruise revenues because it reflects the cruise revenues earned net of our most significant variable
costs, which are travel agent commissions, cost of air and other transportation, certain other costs that are directly associated with onboard and other revenues
and credit and debit card fees. 

Net passenger ticket revenues reflect gross passenger ticket revenues, net of commissions, transportation and other costs.

Net onboard and other revenues reflect gross onboard and other revenues, net of onboard and other cruise costs.

Net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD is the measure we use to monitor our ability to control our cruise segments’ costs rather than gross cruise costs per
ALBD. We exclude the same variable costs that are included in the calculation of net cruise revenues as well as fuel expense to calculate net cruise costs
without fuel to avoid duplicating these variable costs in our non-GAAP financial measures. Substantially all of our net cruise costs excluding fuel are largely
fixed, except for the impact of changing prices, once the number of ALBDs has been determined.

Reconciliation of Forecasted Data

We have not provided a reconciliation of forecasted gross cruise revenues to forecasted net cruise revenues or forecasted gross cruise costs to forecasted net
cruise costs without fuel or forecasted U.S. GAAP net income to forecasted adjusted net income or forecasted U.S. GAAP earnings per share to forecasted
adjusted earnings per share because preparation of meaningful U.S. GAAP forecasts of gross cruise revenues, gross cruise costs, net income and earnings per
share would require unreasonable effort. We are unable to predict, without unreasonable effort, the future movement of foreign exchange rates and fuel prices.
We are unable to determine the future impact of gains or losses on ships sales, restructuring expenses and other non-core gains and charges.

Constant Dollar and Constant Currency

Our operations primarily utilize the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar, euro and sterling as functional currencies to measure results and financial condition.
Functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar subject us to foreign currency translational risk. Our operations also have revenues and expenses that are in
currencies other than their functional currency, which subject us to foreign currency transactional risk.

We report net revenue yields, net passenger revenue yields, net onboard and other revenue yields and net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD on a “constant
dollar” and “constant currency” basis assuming the 2019 periods’ currency exchange rates have remained constant with the 2018 periods’ rates. These metrics
facilitate a comparative view for the changes in our business in an environment with fluctuating exchange rates.
 
Constant dollar reporting removes only the impact of changes in exchange rates on the translation of our operations.
 
Constant currency reporting removes the impact of changes in exchange rates on the translation of our operations (as in constant dollar) plus the transactional
impact of changes in exchange rates from revenues and expenses that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency.

Examples:

• The translation of our operations with functional currencies other than U.S. dollar to our U.S. dollar reporting currency
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results in decreases in reported U.S. dollar revenues and expenses if the U.S. dollar strengthens against these foreign currencies and increases in
reported U.S. dollar revenues and expenses if the U.S. dollar weakens against these foreign currencies.

• Our operations have revenue and expense transactions in currencies other than their functional currency. If their functional currency strengthens
against these other currencies, it reduces the functional currency revenues and expenses. If the functional currency weakens against these other
currencies, it increases the functional currency revenues and expenses.

Consolidated gross and net revenue yields were computed by dividing the gross and net cruise revenues by ALBDs as follows:

 Three Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except yields) 2019  

2019
Constant

Dollar  2018
Passenger ticket revenues $ 3,257  $ 3,352  $ 3,193
Onboard and other revenues 1,510  1,538  1,122
Gross cruise revenues 4,767  4,890  4,315
Less cruise costs      
Commissions, transportation and other (613)  (634)  (577)
Onboard and other (485)  (493)  (138)
 (1,098)  (1,127)  (716)
Net passenger ticket revenues 2,644  2,718  2,616
Net onboard and other revenues 1,025  1,045  984

Net cruise revenues $ 3,669  $ 3,763  $ 3,599

ALBDs 21,644,723  21,644,723  20,689,903

Gross revenue yields $ 220.24  $ 225.94  $ 208.55
% increase (decrease) 5.6 %  8.3 %  
 Net revenue yields $ 169.52  $ 173.87  $ 173.96
% increase (decrease) (2.6)%  (0.1)%  

Net passenger ticket revenue yields $ 122.17  $ 125.59  $ 126.43
     % increase (decrease) (3.4)%  (0.7)%  

Net onboard and other revenue yields $ 47.35  $ 48.28  $ 47.54
     % increase (decrease) (0.4)%  1.6 %  

 Three Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except yields) 2019  

2019
Constant
Currency  2018

Net passenger ticket revenues $ 2,644  $ 2,741  $ 2,616
Net onboard and other revenues 1,025  1,046  984

Net cruise revenues $ 3,669  $ 3,786  $ 3,599

ALBDs 21,644,723  21,644,723  20,689,903

Net revenue yields $ 169.52  $ 174.92  $ 173.96
% increase (decrease) (2.6)%  0.6%  

Net passenger ticket revenue yields $ 122.17  $ 126.61  $ 126.43
% increase (decrease) (3.4)%  0.1%  
Net onboard and other revenue yields $ 47.35  $ 48.31  $ 47.54
% increase (decrease) (0.4)%  1.6%  
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Consolidated gross and net cruise costs and net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD were computed by dividing the gross and net cruise costs and net cruise
costs excluding fuel by ALBDs as follows:

 Three Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except costs per ALBD) 2019  

2019
Constant

Dollar  2018
Cruise operating expenses $ 3,098  $ 3,169  $ 2,645
Cruise selling and administrative expenses 614  629  594
Gross cruise costs 3,712  3,798  3,239
Less cruise costs included above      

Commissions, transportation and other (613)  (634)  (577)
     Onboard and other (485)  (493)  (138)
     Gains (losses) on ship sales and impairments 16  17  28
     Restructuring expenses —  —  —
     Other (20)  (20)  (1)
Net cruise costs 2,610  2,668  2,551
Less fuel (423)  (423)  (373)

Net cruise costs excluding fuel $ 2,187  $ 2,245  $ 2,178

ALBDs 21,644,723  21,644,723  20,689,903

Gross cruise costs per ALBD $ 171.51  $ 175.49  $ 156.55
% increase (decrease) 9.6 %  12.1 %  
Net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD $ 101.05  $ 103.73  $ 105.27
% increase (decrease) (4.0)%  (1.5)%  

 Three Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except costs per ALBD) 2019  

2019
Constant
Currency  2018

Net cruise costs excluding fuel $ 2,187  $ 2,250  $ 2,178

ALBDs 21,644,723  21,644,723  20,689,903

Net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD $ 101.05  $ 103.94  $ 105.27
% increase (decrease) (4.0)%  (1.3)%  
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Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share was computed as follows:

 Three Months Ended
 May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2019  2018
Net income    
     U.S. GAAP net income $ 451  $ 561
     Unrealized (gains) losses on fuel derivatives, net —  (50)
     (Gains) losses on ship sales and impairments (16)  (28)
     Restructuring expenses —  —
     Other 22  6

     Adjusted net income $ 457  $ 489

Weighted-average shares outstanding 693  715

Earnings per share    
     U.S. GAAP earnings per share $ 0.65  $ 0.78
     Unrealized (gains) losses on fuel derivatives, net —  (0.07)
     (Gains) losses on ship sales and impairments (0.02)  (0.04)
     Restructuring expenses —  —
     Other 0.03  0.01

     Adjusted earnings per share $ 0.66  $ 0.68

Net cruise revenues increased by $70 million, or 1.9%, to $3.7 billion in 2019 from $3.6 billion in 2018.

The increase was caused by:
• $166 million - 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $21 million - 0.6% increase in constant currency net revenue yields

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency impacts (including both the foreign currency translational and transactional
impacts) of $117 million.

The 0.6% increase in net revenue yields on a constant currency basis was due to a 0.1% increase in net passenger ticket revenue yields and a 1.6% increase in
net onboard and other revenue yields.

This 0.1% increase in net passenger ticket revenue yields was driven primarily by price improvements in the Caribbean program. This 0.1% increase in net
passenger ticket revenue yields was comprised of a 3.0% increase from our NAA segment and a 3.5% decrease from our EA segment.

The 1.6% increase in net onboard and other revenue yields was comprised of a 0.9% increase from our NAA segment and a 3.8% increase from our EA
segment.

Net cruise costs excluding fuel increased by $9 million, or 0.4%, to $2.2 billion in 2019 compared to $2.2 billion in 2018.

The increase was caused by a 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs of $101 million.

This increase was partially offset by:
• $62 million - net favorable foreign currency impacts (including both the foreign currency translational and transactional impacts)
• $29 million - 1.3% decrease in constant currency net cruise costs excluding fuel

Fuel costs increased by $50 million, or 14%, to $423 million in 2019 from $373 million in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $43 million - higher fuel prices
• $17 million - 4.6% capacity increase in ALBDs

    
These increases were partially offset by lower fuel consumption per ALBD of $10 million.
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Six Months Ended May 31, 2019 (“2019”) Compared to Six Months Ended May 31, 2018 (“2018”)

Revenues

Consolidated

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 68% of our 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues increased by $115 million, or 1.8%, to $6.5
billion in 2019 from $6.3 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $276 million - 4.4% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $64 million - increase in air transportation revenues

These increases were partially offset by:
• $185 million - net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact
• $24 million - decrease in cruise ticket revenues, driven primarily by net unfavorable foreign currency transactional impact partially offset by price

improvements in the Caribbean program

Onboard and other cruise revenues made up 31% of 2019 total revenues. Onboard and other cruise revenues increased by $763 million, or 35%, to $3.0
billion in 2019 from $2.2 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $666 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $96 million - 4.4% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $59 million - higher onboard spending by our guests

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency translation impact of $55 million.

Tour and other revenues made up 1.0% of our 2019 total revenues. Tour and other revenues increased by $44 million, or 79%, to $99 million in 2019 from
$55 million in 2018.

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, increased by $9 million, or 1.8%, to $526 million in 2019 from $517 million in
2018.

NAA Segment

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 65% of our NAA segment’s 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues increased by $143 million, or
3.6%, to $4.1 billion in 2019 from $3.9 billion in 2018. 

This increase was caused by:
• $107 million - 2.8% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $26 million - increase in air transportation revenues
• $23 million - increase in cruise ticket revenues, driven primarily by price improvements in the Caribbean program, partially offset by net unfavorable

foreign currency transactional impact

The remaining 35% of our NAA segment’s 2019 total revenues were comprised of onboard and other cruise revenues, which increased by $576 million, or
36%, to $2.2 billion in 2019 from $1.6 billion in 2018.

The increase was driven by:
• $525 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $43 million - 2.8% capacity increase in ALBDs

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, increased by $11 million, or 2.9%, to $375 million in 2019 from $364 million in
2018. 
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EA Segment

Cruise passenger ticket revenues made up 78% of our EA segment’s 2019 total revenues. Cruise passenger ticket revenues decreased by $12 million, or 0.5%,
to $2.4 billion in 2019 compared to $2.4 billion in 2018. 

This decrease was caused by:
• $172 million - net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact
• $31 million - decrease in cruise ticket revenues
• $13 million - decrease in occupancy

These decreases were offset by:
• $171 million - 7.1% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $36 million - increase in air transportation revenues

The remaining 22% of our EA segment’s 2019 total revenues were comprised of onboard and other cruise revenues, which increased by $147 million, or
28%, to $675 million in 2019 from $528 million in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $127 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $38 million - 7.1% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $33 million - higher onboard spending by our guests

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency translational impact of $48 million.

Concession revenues, which are included in onboard and other revenues, decreased by $1 million, or 0.9%, to $151 million in 2019 from $153 million in
2018.
 

Costs and Expenses

Consolidated

Operating costs and expenses increased by $910 million, or 17%, to $6.3 billion in 2019 from $5.4 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $666 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $232 million - 4.4% capacity increase in ALBD
• $76 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $61 million - higher fuel prices
• $41 million - increase in various other costs
• $40 million - increase in tour and other costs
• $28 million - gains on ship sales in 2018

These increases were partially offset by:
• $143 million - net favorable foreign currency translational impact
• $59 million - lower dry-dock expenses and repair and maintenance expenses
• $21 million - lower fuel consumption per ALBD
• $16 million - gains on ship sales in 2019

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $29 million, or 2.4%, to $1.2 billion in 2019 compared to $1.2 billion in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $59 million, or 5.9%, to $1.1 billion in 2019 from $1.0 billion in 2018.

NAA Segment

Operating costs and expenses increased by $638 million, or 19%, to $4.0 billion in 2019 from $3.4 billion in 2018.
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This increase was caused by:
• $525 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $93 million - 2.8% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $42 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $38 million - higher fuel prices
• $29 million - various other costs

These increases were partially offset by:
• $35 million - lower dry-dock expenses and repair and maintenance expenses
• $16 million - gains on ship sales in 2019

Selling and administrative expenses decreased by $10 million, or 1.4%, to $695 million in 2019 from $705 million in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $50 million, or 8.2%, to $667 million in 2019 from $617 million in 2018.

EA Segment

Operating costs and expenses increased by $216 million, or 11%, to $2.1 billion in 2019 from $1.9 billion in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $130 million - 7.1% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $127 million - related to the gross presentation of shore excursions and other onboard revenues as a result of the adoption of new revenue accounting

guidance
• $37 million - higher commissions, transportation and other expenses
• $29 million - various other costs
• $28 million - gains on ship sales in 2018
• $23 million - higher fuel prices

These increases were partially offset by:
• $132 million - net favorable foreign currency translational impact
• $24 million - lower dry-dock expenses and repair and maintenance expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $11 million, or 2.9% to $390 million in 2019 from $379 million in 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by $2 million, or 0.6%, to $318 million in 2019 from $316 million in 2018.

Operating Income

Our consolidated operating income decreased by $77 million, or 7.8%, to $902 million in 2019 from $978 million in 2018. Our NAA segment’s operating
income increased by $40 million, or 5.1%, to $833 million in 2019 from $793 million in 2018, and our EA segment’s operating income decreased by $94
million, or 26%, to $270 million in 2019 from $364 million in 2018. These changes were primarily due to the reasons discussed above.

Nonoperating Income (Expense)

 
Six Months Ended May

31,
(in millions) 2018
Unrealized gains on fuel derivatives, net $ 82
Realized losses on fuel derivatives, net (25)
Gains on fuel derivatives, net $ 57

There were no unrealized or realized gains or losses on fuel derivatives for the six months ended May 31, 2019.
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Key Performance Non-GAAP Financial Indicators

Consolidated gross and net revenue yields were computed by dividing the gross and net cruise revenues by ALBDs as follows:

 Six Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except yields) 2019  

2019
Constant

Dollar  2018
Passenger ticket revenues $ 6,456  $ 6,641  $ 6,341
Onboard and other revenues 2,955  3,010  2,192
Gross cruise revenues 9,412  9,651  8,534
Less cruise costs      
     Commissions, transportation and other (1,322)  (1,368)  (1,240)
     Onboard and other (952)  (969)  (278)
 (2,274)  (2,336)  (1,518)
Net passenger ticket revenues 5,134  5,273  5,101
Net onboard and other revenues 2,003  2,041  1,914

Net cruise revenues $ 7,137  $ 7,315  $ 7,015

ALBDs 42,943,919  42,943,919  41,151,485

Gross revenue yields $ 219.16  $ 224.73  $ 207.38
% increase (decrease) 5.7 %  8.4 %  
Net revenue yields $ 166.20  $ 170.33  $ 170.48
% increase (decrease) (2.5)%  (0.1)%  

Net passenger ticket revenue yields $ 119.55  $ 122.79  $ 123.96
% increase (decrease) (3.6)%  (0.9)%  
Net onboard and other revenue yields $ 46.64  $ 47.54  $ 46.52
% increase (decrease) 0.3 %  2.2 %  

 Six Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except yields) 2019  

2019
Constant
Currency  2018

Net passenger ticket revenues $ 5,134  $ 5,317  $ 5,101
Net onboard and other revenues 2,003  2,045  1,914

Net cruise revenues $ 7,137  $ 7,361  $ 7,015

ALBDs 42,943,919  42,943,919  41,151,485

Net revenue yields $ 166.20  $ 171.42  $ 170.48
% increase (decrease) (2.5)%  0.6 %   

Net passenger ticket revenue yields $ 119.55  $ 123.81  $ 123.96
% increase (decrease) (3.6)%  (0.1)%   
Net onboard and other revenue yields $ 46.64  $ 47.61  $ 46.52
% increase (decrease) 0.3 %  2.3 %   
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Consolidated gross and net cruise costs and net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD were computed by dividing the gross and net cruise costs and net cruise
costs excluding fuel by ALBDs as follows:

 Six Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except costs per ALBD) 2019  

2019
Constant

Dollar  2018
Cruise operating expenses $ 6,211  $ 6,354  $ 5,340
Cruise selling and administrative expenses 1,237  1,267  1,203
Gross cruise costs 7,448  7,621  6,544
Less cruise costs included above      
     Commissions, transportation and other (1,322)  (1,368)  (1,240)
     Onboard and other (952)  (969)  (278)
    Gains (losses) on ship sales and impairments 14  15  12
     Restructuring expenses —  —  —
     Other (20)  (20)  (1)
Net cruise costs 5,168  5,280  5,037
Less fuel (804)  (804)  (731)

Net cruise costs excluding fuel $ 4,364  $ 4,476  $ 4,305

ALBDs 42,943,919  42,943,919  41,151,485

Gross cruise costs per ALBD $ 173.44  $ 177.46  $ 159.02
% increase (decrease) 9.1 %  11.6 %  
Net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD $ 101.63  $ 104.23  $ 104.60
% increase (decrease) (2.8)%  (0.4)%  

 Six Months Ended May 31,

(dollars in millions, except costs per ALBD) 2019  

2019
Constant
Currency  2018

Net cruise costs excluding fuel $ 4,364  $ 4,483  $ 4,305

ALBDs 42,943,919  42,943,919  41,151,485

Net cruise costs excluding fuel per ALBD $ 101.63  $ 104.39  $ 104.60
% increase (decrease) (2.8)%  (0.2)%  
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Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share was computed as follows:

 Six Months Ended
 May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2019  2018
Net income    
     U.S. GAAP net income $ 787  $ 951
     Unrealized (gains) losses on fuel derivatives, net —  (82)
     (Gains) losses on ship sales and impairments (14)  (12)
     Restructuring expenses —  —
     Other 22  6

     Adjusted net income $ 795  $ 864

Weighted-average shares outstanding 694  717

Earnings per share  
     U.S. GAAP earnings per share $ 1.13  $ 1.33
     Unrealized (gains) losses on fuel derivatives, net —  (0.11)
     (Gains) losses on ship sales and impairments (0.02)  (0.02)
     Restructuring expenses —  —
     Other 0.03  0.01

     Adjusted earnings per share $ 1.15  $ 1.21

Net cruise revenues increased by $122 million, or 1.7%, to $7.1 billion in 2019 from $7.0 billion in 2018.

The increase was caused by:
• $306 million - 4.4% capacity increase in ALBDs
• $40 million - 0.6% increase in constant currency net revenue yields

These increases were partially offset by net unfavorable foreign currency impacts (including both the foreign currency translational and transactional
impacts) of $224 million.

The 0.6% increase in net revenue yields on a constant currency basis was due to a 2.3% increase in net onboard and other revenue yields partially offset by a
0.1% decrease in net passenger ticket revenue yields.

The 0.1% decrease in net passenger ticket revenue yields was driven primarily by net unfavorable foreign currency impact (including both the foreign
currency translational and transactional impacts) partially offset by price improvements in the Caribbean program. This 0.1% decrease in net passenger ticket
revenue yields was comprised of a 1.4% increase from our NAA segment and a 2.0% decrease from our EA segment.

The 2.3% increase in net onboard and other revenue yields was comprised of a 1.6% increase from our NAA segment and a 3.1% increase from our EA
segment.

Net cruise costs excluding fuel increased by $59 million, or 1.4%, to $4.4 billion in 2019 from $4.3 billion in 2018. This increase was caused by a 4.4%
capacity increase in ALBDs, which accounted for $188 million.

This increase was partially offset by net favorable foreign currency impacts (including both the foreign currency translational and transactional impacts)
of $119 million.

Fuel costs increased by $72 million, or 10%, to $804 million in 2019 from $731 million in 2018.

This increase was caused by:
• $62 million - higher fuel prices
• $32 million - 4.4% capacity increase in ALBDs

These increases were partially offset by lower fuel consumption by ALBD by $21 million.

34



Table of Contents

Liquidity, Financial Condition and Capital Resources

Our primary financial goals are to profitably grow our cruise business and sustain and grow our double-digit return on invested capital (“ROIC”), while
maintaining a strong balance sheet and strong investment grade credit ratings. (We define ROIC as the twelve-month adjusted earnings before interest divided
by the monthly average of debt plus equity minus construction-in-progress.) Our ability to generate significant operating cash flow allows us to internally
fund our capital improvements, debt maturities and dividend payments. We have $10.8 billion of committed export credit facilities available to fund the vast
majority of our new ship growth capital. Other objectives of our capital structure policy are to maintain a sufficient level of liquidity through our available
cash and cash equivalents and committed financings for immediate and future liquidity needs and to maintain a reasonable debt maturity profile.

Based on our historical results, projections and financial condition, we believe that our future operating cash flows and liquidity will be sufficient to fund all
of our expected capital improvements, new ship growth capital, debt maturities and dividend payments. We believe that our ability to generate significant
operating cash flows and our strong balance sheet, as evidenced by our strong investment grade credit ratings, provide us with the ability, in most financial
credit market environments, to obtain debt financing.

We had a working capital deficit of $7.5 billion as of May 31, 2019 compared to a working capital deficit of $7.0 billion as of November 30, 2018. The
increase in working capital deficit was caused by an increase in customer deposits offset by decrease in short-term debt and increase in cash and cash
equivalents. We operate with a substantial working capital deficit. This deficit is mainly attributable to the fact that, under our business model, substantially
all of our passenger ticket receipts are collected in advance of the applicable sailing date. These advance passenger receipts remain a current liability until the
sailing date. The cash generated from these advance receipts is used interchangeably with cash on hand from other sources, such as our borrowings and other
cash from operations. The cash received as advanced receipts can be used to fund operating expenses, pay down our debt, make long-term investments or any
other use of cash. Included within our working capital deficit are $5.8 billion and $4.4 billion of customer deposits as of May 31, 2019 and November 30,
2018, respectively. In addition, we have a relatively low-level of accounts receivable and limited investment in inventories. We generate substantial cash
flows from operations and our business model has historically allowed us to maintain this working capital deficit and still meet our operating, investing and
financing needs. We expect that we will continue to have working capital deficits in the future.

Sources and Uses of Cash
 
Operating Activities

Our business provided $3.2 billion of net cash from operations during the six months ended May 31, 2019, an increase of $82 million, or 2.7%, compared to
$3.1 billion for the same period in 2018. 

Investing Activities

During the six months ended May 31, 2019, net cash used in investing activities was $2.9 billion. This was caused by the following:
• Capital expenditures of $2.1 billion for our ongoing new shipbuilding program
• Capital expenditures of $876 million for ship improvements and replacements, information technology and buildings and improvements

During the six months ended May 31, 2018, net cash used in investing activities was $2.1 billion. This was caused by the following:
• Capital expenditures of $1.2 billion for our ongoing new shipbuilding program
• Capital expenditures of $965 million for ship improvements and replacements, information technology and buildings and improvements
• Proceeds from sale of ships of $102 million
• Payments of $34 million for fuel derivative settlements

  
Financing Activities

During the six months ended May 31, 2019, net cash used in financing activities of $26 million was caused by the following:
• Net repayments of short-term borrowings of $357 million in connection with our availability of, and needs for, cash at various times throughout the

period
• Repayments of $338 million of long-term debt
• Issuances of $1.7 billion of long-term debt
• Payments of cash dividends of $694 million
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• Purchases of $316 million of Carnival Corporation common stock and Carnival plc ordinary shares in open market transactions under our
Repurchase Program

During the six months ended May 31, 2018, net cash used in financing activities of $339 million was substantially due to the following:
• Net proceeds of short-term borrowings of $398 million in connection with our availability of, and needs for, cash at various times throughout the

period
• Repayments of $1.2 billion of long-term debt
• Issuances of $1.6 billion of long-term debt under a term loan
• Payments of cash dividends of $646 million
• Purchases of $513 million of Carnival Corporation common stock and Carnival plc ordinary shares in open market transactions under our

Repurchase Program

Capital Expenditure and Capacity Forecast

Our annual capital expenditure forecast consists of contracted new ship growth capital, estimated payments for planned new ship growth capital and capital
improvements.

(in billions)  2019  2020  2021  2022
Annual capital expenditure forecast  $ 6.7  $ 5.7  $ 5.9  $ 5.4

Our annual capacity forecast consists of contracted new ships and announced dispositions.

  2019  2020  2021  2022
Annual capacity increase  4.5%  7.3%  6.1%  5.3%

Funding Sources

At May 31, 2019, we had liquidity of $14.1 billion. Our liquidity consisted of $898 million of cash and cash equivalents, which excludes $304 million of cash
used for current operations, $2.4 billion available for borrowing under our revolving credit facilities, net of our outstanding commercial paper borrowings,
and $10.8 billion under our committed future financings, which are comprised of ship export credit facilities. These commitments are from numerous large
and well-established banks and export credit agencies, which we believe will honor their contractual agreements with us. 

(in billions)  2019  2020  2021  2022  2023
Availability of committed future financing at May 31, 2019  $ 2.0  $ 2.8  $ 2.8  $ 2.3  $ 0.9

At May 31, 2019, all of our revolving credit facilities are scheduled to mature in 2021, except for $392 million that matures in 2020.

Substantially all of our debt agreements contain financial covenants as described in Note 5 - “Unsecured Debt” in the annual consolidated financial
statements, which are included within our Form 10-K. At May 31, 2019, we were in compliance with our debt covenants. In addition, based on, among other
things, our forecasted operating results, financial condition and cash flows, we expect to be in compliance with our debt covenants for the foreseeable future.
Generally, if an event of default under any debt agreement occurs, then pursuant to cross default acceleration clauses, substantially all of our outstanding debt
and derivative contract payables could become due, and all debt and derivative contracts could be terminated.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements, including guarantee contracts, retained or contingent interests, certain derivative instruments and
variable interest entities that either have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

For a discussion of our hedging strategies and market risks, see the discussion below and Note 10 - “Fair Value Measurements, Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities and Financial Risks” in our consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations within our Form 10-K. 

Operational Currency Risks

Our operations primarily utilize the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar, euro or sterling as their functional currencies. Our operations also have revenue and
expenses denominated in non-functional currencies. Movements in foreign currency exchange rates will affect our financial statements.

Based on a 10% change in all currency exchange rates that were used in our June 20, 2019 guidance, we estimate that our adjusted diluted earnings per share
guidance would change by the following:

• $0.14 per share for the remaining two quarters of 2019
• $0.08 per share for the third quarter of 2019

Interest Rate Risks

The composition of our debt, including the effect of foreign currency swaps and interest rate swaps, was as follows:

 May 31, 2019
Fixed rate 26%
EUR fixed rate 37%
Floating rate 5%
EUR floating rate 26%
GBP floating rate 7%
   
Fuel Price Risks

Based on a 10% change in fuel prices versus the current spot price that was used to calculate fuel expense in our June 20, 2019 guidance, we estimate that our
adjusted diluted earnings per share guidance would change by the following:

• $0.10 per share for the remaining two quarters of 2019
• $0.05 per share for the third quarter of 2019

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

A. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in our reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer have evaluated our disclosure controls and
procedures and have concluded, as of May 31, 2019, that they are effective at a reasonable level of assurance, as described above.
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B. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended May 31, 2019 that have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

  
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

As previously disclosed, Princess Cruises entered into a plea agreement in December 2016 with the U.S. Department of Justice with respect to violations of
federal laws related to illegal discharges of oily bilge water for incidents occurring in 2013 and prior. The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
Florida accepted the plea agreement in April 2017, and ordered that Princess Cruises pay a fine and complete a five-year term of probation. Carnival
Corporation was further required to adopt a five-year court-supervised environmental compliance plan. In March 2019, the probation officer filed a petition
seeking to revoke the probation based on alleged violations of the conditions of probation. In June 2019, the court approved a settlement pursuant to which
Carnival Corporation agreed to additional oversight and environmental goals, adjustments to certain reporting requirements, as well as a restructuring of the
compliance function, in addition to a $20 million financial penalty.

As previously disclosed, Princess Cruises entered into a plea agreement in December 2016 with the U.S. Department of Justice with respect to violations of
federal laws related to illegal discharges of oily bilge water for incidents occurring in 2013 and prior. The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
Florida accepted the plea agreement in April 2017, and ordered that Princess Cruises pay a fine and complete a five-year term of probation. Carnival
Corporation was further required to adopt a five-year court-supervised environmental compliance plan. In March 2019, the probation officer filed a petition
seeking to revoke the probation based on alleged violations of the conditions of probation. In June 2019, the court approved a settlement pursuant to which
Carnival Corporation agreed to additional oversight and environmental goals, adjustments to certain reporting requirements, as well as a restructuring of the
compliance function, in addition to a $20 million financial penalty.

Refer to our consolidated financial statements for further information on Legal Proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The risk factors that affect our business and financial results are discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” included in the Form 10-K, and there has been no
material change to these risk factors since the Form 10-K filing. We wish to caution the reader that the risk factors discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors,”
included in the Form 10-K, and those described elsewhere in this report or other Securities and Exchange Commission filings, could cause future results to
differ materially from those stated in any forward-looking statements. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem
to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or future results.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

A. Repurchase Program

Under a share repurchase program effective 2004, we are authorized to repurchase Carnival Corporation common stock and Carnival plc ordinary shares (the
“Repurchase Program”). Effective August 2018, the company approved a modification of the general authorization under the Repurchase Program, which
replenished the remaining authorized repurchases at the time of the approval to $1.0 billion. The Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date and
may be discontinued by our Boards of Directors at any time.
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During the three months ended May 31, 2019, no shares of Carnival Corporation common stock were repurchased pursuant to the Repurchase Program.

During the three months ended May 31, 2019, repurchases of Carnival plc ordinary shares pursuant to the Repurchase Program were as follows:

Period  

Total Number of Shares of
Carnival plc Purchased (in

millions)  
Average Price Paid per Share of

Carnival plc  

Maximum Dollar Value of
Shares That May Yet Be

Purchased Under the
Repurchase Program 

(in millions)

March 1, 2019 through March 31, 2019  0.2  $ 50.31  $ 453
April 1, 2019 through April 30, 2019  0.6  $ 52.31  $ 424
May 1, 2019 through May 31, 2019  0.1  $ 52.78  $ 419

Total  0.8  $ 51.98   

No shares of Carnival Corporation common stock and Carnival plc ordinary shares were purchased outside of publicly announced plans or programs.

B. Stock Swap Programs

In addition to the Repurchase Program, we have programs that allow us to obtain an economic benefit when either Carnival Corporation common stock is
trading at a premium to the price of Carnival plc ordinary shares or Carnival plc ordinary shares are trading at a premium to Carnival Corporation common
stock (the “Stock Swap Programs”). For example:

• In the event Carnival Corporation common stock trades at a premium to Carnival plc ordinary shares, we may elect to sell shares of Carnival
Corporation common stock, at prevailing market prices in ordinary brokers’ transactions and repurchase an equivalent number of Carnival plc
ordinary shares in the UK market.

• In the event Carnival plc ordinary shares trade at a premium to Carnival Corporation common stock, we may elect to sell ordinary shares of Carnival
plc, at prevailing market prices in ordinary brokers’ transactions and repurchase an equivalent number of shares of Carnival Corporation common
stock in the U.S. market.

Under the Stock Swap Programs effective 2008, the Boards of Directors have made the following authorizations:

• In 2017, to sell up to 22.0 million shares of Carnival Corporation common stock in the U.S. market and repurchase up to 22.0 million of Carnival plc
ordinary shares in the UK market. We had 22.0 million shares remaining under this authorization at May 31, 2019.

• In 2016, to sell up to 26.9 million of existing shares of Carnival plc in the UK market and repurchase up to 26.9 million shares of Carnival
Corporation common stock in the U.S. market. We had 26.0 million shares remaining under this authorization at May 31, 2019.

Any sales of Carnival Corporation shares and Carnival plc ordinary shares have been or will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933. During the three
months ended May 31, 2019, no Carnival Corporation common stock or Carnival plc ordinary shares were sold or repurchased under the Stock Swap
Programs.

C. Carnival plc Shareholder Approvals

Carnival plc ordinary share repurchases under both the Repurchase Program and the Stock Swap Programs require annual shareholder approval. The existing
shareholder approval is limited to a maximum of 19.2 million ordinary shares and is valid until the earlier of the conclusion of the Carnival plc 2020 annual
general meeting or July 15, 2020.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS         

    Incorporated by Reference  Filed/
Furnished
Herewith

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  Exhibit  

Filing
Date  

Articles of incorporation and by-laws         

3.1  Third Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Carnival Corporation     8-K  3.1  4/17/2003   
3.2  Third Amended and Restated By-Laws of Carnival Corporation     8-K  3.1  4/20/2009   
3.3  Articles of Association of Carnival plc     8-K  3.3  4/20/2009   

Material contracts         
10.1  Amended and Restated Carnival Corporation 2011 Stock Plan        X
10.2  Amended and Restated Carnival plc 2014 Employee Share Plan        X
10.3

 
Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement for the Carnival
Corporation 2011 Stock Plan        

X

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certifications         

 31.1

 

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer of Carnival Corporation
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002        

X

 31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Carnival
Corporation pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002        

X

 31.3

 

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer of Carnival plc pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002        

X

 31.4

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Carnival plc
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002        

X

Section 1350 certifications         

32.1*

 

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer of Carnival Corporation
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002        

X

32.2*

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Carnival
Corporation pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002        

X

32.3*

 

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer of Carnival plc pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002        

X

32.4*

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Carnival plc
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002        

X
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS         

    Incorporated by Reference  Filed/
Furnished
Herewith

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  Exhibit  

Filing
Date  

           

           

           

Interactive Data File         

101

 

The consolidated financial statements from Carnival Corporation & plc’s joint
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 24, 2019, formatted in XBRL, are as
follows:         

  
(i) the Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended May 31,
2019 and 2018;        

X

  
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and six
months ended May 31, 2019 and 2018;        

X

  (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at May 31, 2019 and November 30, 2018;        X

  
(iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three and six months ended
May 31, 2019 and 2018;        

X

  
(v) the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the three and six months
ended May 31, 2019 and 2018         

  (vi) the notes to the consolidated financial statements, tagged in summary and detail.        X

* These items are furnished and not filed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each of the registrants has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 CARNIVAL CORPORATION   CARNIVAL PLC
     

By: /s/ Arnold W. Donald  By: /s/ Arnold W. Donald
 Arnold W. Donald   Arnold W. Donald
 President and Chief Executive Officer   President and Chief Executive Officer
     

By: /s/ David Bernstein  By: /s/ David Bernstein
 David Bernstein   David Bernstein
 Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer   Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
     

 Date: June 24, 2019   Date: June 24, 2019
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
CARNIVAL CORPORATION 2011 STOCK PLAN

(Approved by the Shareholders April 13, 2011, amended by the Board on October 13, 2014 and amended by the Board on October 17,
2016, amended by the Compensation Committee on July 17, 2018 and amended by the Board on April 17, 2019) 

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Carnival Corporation 2011 Stock Plan is to provide a means through which the members of the
Combined Group and their Affiliates may attract and retain key personnel, including the services of experienced and knowledgeable non-
executive directors, and to provide a means whereby directors, officers, employees, consultants and advisors (and prospective directors,
officers, employees, consultants and advisors) of the members of the Combined Group and their Affiliates can acquire and maintain an interest
in the Shares, or be paid incentive compensation, including but not limited to incentive compensation measured by reference to the value of
Shares, thereby strengthening their commitment to the welfare of members of the Combined Group and their Affiliates and aligning their
interests with those of the holders of the Shares.

2.    Definitions. The following definitions shall be applicable throughout the Plan.

(a)    “Absolute Share Limit” has the meaning given such term in Section 5(b).

(b)    “Affiliate” means (i) any person or entity that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the
Company or Carnival plc and/or (ii) to the extent provided by the Committee, any person or entity in which the Company or Carnival plc has a
significant interest. The term “control” (including, with correlative meaning, the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as
applied to any person or entity, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of such person or entity, whether through the ownership of voting or other securities, by contract or otherwise.

(c)    “Award” means, individually or collectively, any Incentive Stock Option, Nonqualified Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right,
Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Other Stock-Based Award and Performance Compensation Award granted under the Plan. For
purposes of Section 5(c) of the Plan, “Award” and “Award under the Plan” shall also mean any stock-based award granted under a Prior Plan
and outstanding on the Effective Date.

(d)    “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(e)    “Carnival plc” means the entity previously known as P&O Princess Cruises plc, a public limited company incorporated under the
laws of England and Wales, and any successor thereto.

(f)    “Cause” means, in the case of a particular Award, unless the applicable Award agreement states otherwise, (i) a member of the
Combined Group or an Affiliate having “cause” to terminate a Participant’s employment or service, as defined in any employment, consulting
or any other agreement between the Participant and the Combined Group in effect at the time of such termination or (ii) in the absence of any
such employment, consulting or other agreement (or the absence of any definition of “cause” or term of similar import therein), (A) the
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Participant has failed to reasonably perform his or her duties to the Combined Group, or has failed to follow the lawful instructions of the
Board or his or her direct superiors, in each case other than as a result of his or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness or injury, that
could reasonably be expected to result in harm (whether financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group (B) the Participant
has engaged or is about to engage in conduct harmful (whether financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group (C) the
Participant having been convicted of, or plead guilty or no contest to, a felony or any crime involving as a material element fraud or
dishonesty, (D) the willful misconduct or gross neglect of the Participant that could reasonably be expected to result in harm (whether
financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group, (E) the willful violation by the Participant of the Combined Group’s written
policies that could reasonably be expected to result in harm (whether financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group; (F) the
Participant’s fraud or misappropriation, embezzlement or misuse of funds or property belonging to the Combined Group (other than good faith
expense account disputes); (G) the Participant’s act of personal dishonesty which involves personal profit in connection with the Participant’s
employment or service with the Combined Group, or (H) the willful breach by the Participant of fiduciary duty owed to the Combined Group,
or (I) in the case of a Participant who is a Non-Employee Director, the Participant engaging in any of the activities described in clauses
(A) through (H) above; provided, however, that the Participant shall be provided a 10-day period to cure any of the events or occurrences
described in the immediately preceding clause (A) hereof, to the extent capable of cure during such 10-day period. References in the preceding
sentence to the “Combined Group” shall be deemed to refer to any member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate thereof. Any
determination of whether Cause exists shall be made by the Committee in its sole discretion.

(g)    “Change of Control” shall, in the case of a particular Award, unless the applicable Award agreement states otherwise or contains
a different definition of “Change of Control,” be deemed to occur upon:

(i)    the acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the
Exchange Act (a “Person”)) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d‑3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or more
(on a fully diluted basis) of either (A) the then outstanding shares of Common Stock taking into account as outstanding for this purpose such
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of options or warrants, the conversion of convertible stock or debt, and the exercise of any similar
right to acquire such Common Stock (the “Outstanding Company Common Stock”) or (B) the combined voting power of the then outstanding
voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”);
provided, however, that for purposes of this Plan, the following acquisitions shall not constitute a Change of Control: (I) any acquisition by the
Combined Group or any Affiliate, (II) any acquisition by any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the Combined Group or any
Affiliate, (III) any acquisition by Marilyn B. Arison, Micky Arison, Shari Arison, Michael Arison or their spouses or lineal descendents, any
trust established for the benefit of any of the aforementioned Arison family members, or any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled
by or under common control with any of the aforementioned Arison family members or any trust established by any person or entity described
in this clause (III), (IV) any acquisition which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of subsection (v) of this Section 2(g), or (V) in respect of
an Award held by a particular Participant, any acquisition by the Participant or any group of persons including the Participant (or any entity
controlled by the Participant or any group of persons including the
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Participant) (persons described in clauses (I), (II), (III) (IV) and (V) being referred to hereafter as “Excluded Persons”);

(ii)    individuals who, during any consecutive 12-month period, constitute the Board (the “Incumbent Directors”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided, that any person becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof,
whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the Incumbent Directors then on the Board (either by
a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement of the Company in which such person is named as a nominee for director, without written
objection to such nomination) shall be an Incumbent Director; provided, however, that no individual initially elected or nominated as a director
of the Company as a result of an actual or threatened election contest, as such terms are used in Rule 14a-12 of Regulation 14A promulgated
under the Exchange Act, with respect to directors or as a result of any other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on
behalf of any person other than the Board shall be deemed to be an Incumbent Director;

(iii)    the approval by the shareholders of the Company of a plan of complete dissolution or liquidation of the
Company; or

(iv)    the consummation of a reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange or
similar form of corporate transaction involving the Company (a “Business Combination”), or sale, transfer or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to an entity that is not an Affiliate of the Company (a “Sale”), that in each case
requires the approval of the Company’s stockholders (whether for such Business Combination or Sale or the issuance of securities in such
Business Combination or Sale), unless immediately following such Business Combination or Sale: (A) more than 50% of the total voting power
of (x) the entity resulting from such Business Combination or the entity which has acquired all or substantially all of the business or assets of
the Company in a Sale (in either case, the “Surviving Company”), or (y) if applicable, the ultimate parent entity that directly or indirectly has
beneficial ownership of sufficient voting securities eligible to elect a majority of the board of directors (or the analogous governing body) of the
Surviving Company (the “Parent Company”), is represented by the Outstanding Company Voting Securities that were outstanding immediately
prior to such Business Combination or Sale (or, if applicable, is represented by shares into which the Outstanding Company Voting Securities
were converted pursuant to such Business Combination or Sale), and such voting power among the holders thereof is in substantially the same
proportion as the voting power of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities among the holders thereof immediately prior to the Business
Combination or Sale, (B) no Person (other than any Excluded Person or any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the Surviving
Company or the Parent Company), is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total voting power of the
outstanding voting securities eligible to elect members of the board of directors (or the analogous governing body) of the Parent Company (or,
if there is no Parent Company, the Surviving Company) and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or the analogous
governing body) of the Parent Company (or, if there is no Parent Company, the Surviving Company) following the consummation of the
Business Combination or Sale were Board members at the time of the Board’s approval of the execution of the initial agreement providing for
such Business Combination or Sale.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may determine that a transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which (x) the Company is
acquired by or otherwise becomes a subsidiary of or merges, consolidates or amalgamates with Carnival plc or (y) Carnival plc is acquired by
or otherwise becomes a subsidiary of or merges, consolidates or amalgamates with the Company, shall not be a Change of Control.

(h)    “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan to any section
of the Code shall be deemed to include any regulations or other interpretative guidance under such section, and any amendments or successor
provisions to such section, regulations or guidance.

(i)    “Combined Group” means the Company and Carnival plc and any successor thereto.

(j)    “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or subcommittee thereof if required with respect to actions taken
to obtain the exception for performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code or to comply with Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange
Act in respect of Awards or, if no such Compensation Committee or subcommittee thereof exists, the Board.

(k)    “Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (and any stock or other securities into
which such common stock may be converted or into which it may be exchanged).

(l)    “Company” means Carnival Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws of the Republic of Panama, and any successor
thereto.

(m)    “Date of Grant” means the date on which the granting of an Award is authorized, or such other date as may be specified in such
authorization or, if there is no such date, the date indicated on the applicable Award agreement.

(n)    “Detrimental Activity” means any of the following: (i) unauthorized disclosure of any confidential or proprietary information of
the Combined Group, (ii) any activity that would be grounds to terminate the Participant’s employment or service with the Combined Group
for Cause, (iii) whether in writing or orally, maligning, denigrating or disparaging the Combined Group or their respective predecessors and
successors, or any of the current or former directors, officers, employees, shareholders, partners, members, agents or representatives of any of
the foregoing, with respect to any of their respective past or present activities, or otherwise publishing (whether in writing or orally) statements
that tend to portray any of the aforementioned persons or entities in an unfavorable light, or (iv) the breach of any noncompetition,
nonsolicitation or other agreement containing restrictive covenants, with the Combined Group. For purposes of the preceding sentence the
phrase “the Combined Group” shall mean “any member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate”.

(o)    “Disability” means, unless in the case of a particular Award the applicable Award agreement states otherwise, a member of the
Combined Group or an Affiliate having cause to terminate a Participant’s employment or service on account of “disability,” as defined in any
then-existing employment, consulting or other similar agreement between the Participant and a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate
or, in the absence of such an employment,
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consulting or other similar agreement, a Participant’s total disability as defined below and (to the extent required by Code Section 409A)
determined in a manner consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder:

(i)    The Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable
physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than
12 months.

(ii)    A Participant will be deemed to have suffered a Disability if determined to be totally disabled by the Social
Security Administration. In addition, the Participant will be deemed to have suffered a Disability if determined to be disabled in
accordance with a disability insurance program maintained by the Company.

(p)    “Effective Date” means April 13, 2011, if approved by the stockholders of the Company at the annual meeting of stockholders
held on such day.

(q)    “Eligible Director” means a person who is (i) a “non‑employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b‑3 under the Exchange
Act, (ii) an “outside director” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code and (iii) an “independent director” under the rules of the
NYSE or any other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted, or a person meeting
any similar requirement under any successor rule or regulation.

(r)    “Eligible Person” means any (i) individual regularly employed by a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate who has
received written notification from the Committee, or from a person designated by the Committee, that he or she has been selected to
participate in the Plan; provided, however, that no such individual covered by a collective bargaining agreement shall be an Eligible Person
unless and only to the extent that such eligibility is set forth in such collective bargaining agreement or in an agreement or instrument relating
thereto; (ii) director or officer of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate; (iii) consultant or advisor to a member of the Combined
Group or an Affiliate who may be offered securities registrable pursuant to a registration statement on Form S‑8 under the Securities Act
(which, as of the Effective Date, includes only those who (A) are natural persons and (B) provide bona fide services to a member of the
Combined Group or its Affiliates other than in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, and do not directly
or indirectly promote or maintain a market for the Company’s securities); or (iv) any prospective employee, director, officer, consultant or
advisor who has accepted an offer of employment or consultancy from a member of the Combined Group or its Affiliates (and would satisfy
the provisions of clauses (i) through (iii) above once he or she begins employment with or providing services to a member of the Combined
Group or any of its Affiliates), who, in the case of each of clauses (i) through (iv) above has entered into an Award agreement or who has
received written notification from the Committee or its designee that he or she has been selected to participate in the Plan. Solely for purposes
of this Section 2(r), “Affiliate” shall be limited to, with respect to each member of the Combined Group, (1) a Subsidiary, (2) any parent
corporation within the meaning of Section 424(e) of the Code (“Parent”), (3) any corporation, trade or business 50% or more of the combined
voting power of such entity’s outstanding securities is directly or indirectly controlled by the member or any Subsidiary or Parent of the
member, (4) any corporation, trade or business which directly or indirectly controls 50% or more of the combined voting power of
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its outstanding securities and (5) any other entity in which the member or any Subsidiary or Parent of the member has a material equity
interest and which is designated as an “Affiliate” by the Committee.

(s)    “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan to
any section of (or rule promulgated under) the Exchange Act shall be deemed to include any rules, regulations or other interpretative guidance
under such section or rule, and any amendments or successor provisions to such section, rules, regulations or guidance.

(t)    “Exercise Price” has the meaning given such term in Section 7(b) of the Plan.

(u)    “Fair Market Value” means, on a given date, (i) if the Shares are listed on a national securities exchange, the closing sales price
of the Shares reported on the primary exchange on which the Shares are listed and traded on such date, or, if there are no such sales on that
date, then on the last preceding date on which such sales were reported; (ii) if the Shares are not listed on any national securities exchange but
are quoted in an inter-dealer quotation system on a last sale basis, the average between the closing bid price and ask price reported on such
date, or, if there is no such sale on that date, then on the last preceding date on which a sale was reported; or (iii) if the Shares are not listed on
a national securities exchange or quoted in an inter-dealer quotation system on a last sale basis, the amount determined by the Committee in
good faith to be the fair market value of the Shares computed in accordance with applicable regulations of the Internal Revenue Service.

(v)     “Immediate Family Members” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15(b).

(w)    “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option which is designated by the Committee as an incentive stock option as described in
Section 422 of the Code and otherwise meets the requirements set forth in the Plan.

(x)    “Indemnifiable Person” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4(f) of the Plan.

(y)    “Negative Discretion” shall mean the discretion authorized by the Plan to be applied by the Committee to eliminate or reduce the
size of a Performance Compensation Award consistent with Section 162(m) of the Code.

(z)    “Nonqualified Stock Option” means an Option which is not designated by the Committee as an Incentive Stock Option.

(aa)    “Non-Employee Director” means a member of the Board who is not an employee of a member of the Combined Group or any
Affiliate.    

(bb)    “NYSE” means the New York Stock Exchange.

(cc)    “Option” means an Award granted under Section 7 of the Plan.

(dd)    “Option Period” has the meaning given such term in Section 7(c) of the Plan.
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(ee)    “Other Stock-Based Award” means an Award granted under Section 10 of the Plan.

(ff)    “Pairing Agreement” means the Pairing Agreement, dated April 17, 2003, among Carnival Corporation, The Law Debenture
Trust Corporation (Cayman) Limited, as trustee of the Carnival plc Special Voting Trust, and Sun Trust Bank, as transfer agent, as it may be
amended from time to time.

(gg)    “Participant” means an Eligible Person who pursuant to Section 5 of the Plan has been selected by the Committee to participate
in the Plan and to receive an Award.

(hh)    “Performance Compensation Award” shall mean any Award designated by the Committee as a Performance Compensation
Award pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan.

(ii)    “Performance Criteria” shall mean the criterion or criteria that the Committee shall select for purposes of establishing the
Performance Goal(s) for a Performance Period with respect to any Performance Compensation Award under the Plan.

(jj)    “Performance Formula” shall mean, for a Performance Period, the one or more objective formulae applied against the relevant
Performance Goal to determine, with regard to the Performance Compensation Award of a particular Participant, whether all, some portion but
less than all, or none of the Performance Compensation Award has been earned for the Performance Period.

(kk)    “Performance Goals” shall mean, for a Performance Period, the one or more goals established by the Committee for the
Performance Period based upon the Performance Criteria.

(ll)    “Performance Period” shall mean the one or more periods of time of not less than 12 months, as the Committee may select, over
which the attainment of one or more Performance Goals will be measured for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to, and the
payment of, a Performance Compensation Award.

(mm)    “Permitted Transferee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15(b) of the Plan.

(nn)    “Person” has the meaning given such term in the definition of “Change of Control”.

(oo)    “Plan” means this Carnival Corporation 2011 Stock Plan, as amended.

(pp)    “Prior Plan” shall mean, as amended from time to time, each of the Carnival Corporation 2002 Stock Plan and the Carnival
Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Outside Director Stock Plan.

(qq)    “Released Unit” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 9(e).
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(rr)    “Restricted Period” means the period of time determined by the Committee during which an Award is subject to restrictions or,
as applicable, the period of time within which performance is measured for purposes of determining whether an Award has been earned.

(ss)    “Restricted Stock” means Shares, subject to forfeiture and certain specified restrictions (including, without limitation, a
requirement that the Participant remain continuously employed or provide continuous services for a specified period of time), granted under
Section 8 of the Plan.

(tt)    “Restricted Stock Unit” means an unfunded and unsecured promise to deliver Shares, cash, other securities or other property,
subject to certain restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that the Participant remain continuously employed or provide
continuous services for a specified period of time), granted under Section 9 of the Plan.

(uu)    “Retirement” means a termination of employment with a member of the Combined Group and all Affiliates by a Participant on
or after the Participant’s Retirement Age.

(vv)    “Retirement Age” means, unless determined otherwise by the Committee, attainment of the earlier of (i) age 65 with at least
five years of employment with a member of the Combined Group and/or its Affiliates or (ii) age 60 with at least 15 years of employment with
a member of the Combined Group and/or its Affiliates.

(ww)    “SAR Period” has the meaning given such term in Section 8(c) of the Plan.

(xx)    “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan to any section
of (or rule promulgated under) the Securities Act shall be deemed to include any rules, regulations or other interpretative guidance under such
section or rule, and any amendments or successor provisions to such section, rules, regulations or guidance.

(yy)    “Share” means the aggregate of one share of Common Stock and one Trust Share.

(zz)    “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means an Award granted under Section 8 of the Plan.

(aaa)    “Strike Price” has the meaning given such term in Section 8(b) of the Plan.

(bbb)    “Subsidiary” means, with respect to any specified Person:

(i) any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of the then
outstanding voting securities (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or
stockholders’ agreement that effectively transfers voting power) is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person
or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and 

(ii) any partnership (or any comparable foreign entity) (A) the sole general partner (or functional equivalent thereof) or
the managing general partner of
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which is such Person or Subsidiary of such Person or (B) the only general partners (or functional equivalents thereof) of which are that
Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any combination thereof).

(ccc)    “Substitute Award” has the meaning given such term in Section 5(e).

(ddd)    “Trust Share” shall have the meaning assigned to it in the Pairing Agreement.

3.    Effective Date; Duration and Shareholder Approval. The Plan shall be effective as of the Effective Date. The expiration date of the
Plan, on and after which date no Awards may be granted hereunder, shall be the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, that
such expiration shall not affect Awards then outstanding, and the terms and conditions of the Plan shall continue to apply to such Awards.

4.    Administration. (a) The Committee shall administer the Plan. The majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum.
The acts of a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present or acts approved in writing by a majority of the
Committee shall be deemed the acts of the Committee. To the extent required to comply with the provisions of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under
the Exchange Act (if the Board is not acting as the Committee under the Plan) or necessary to obtain the exception for performance-based
compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, or any exception or exemption under the rules of the NYSE or any other securities exchange
or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted, as applicable, it is intended that each member of the
Committee shall, at the time he or she takes any action with respect to an Award under the Plan, be an Eligible Director. However, the fact that
a Committee member shall fail to qualify as an Eligible Director shall not invalidate any Award granted or action taken by the Committee that
is otherwise validly granted or taken under the Plan.

(b)    Subject to the provisions of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee shall have the sole and plenary authority, in addition to
other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Committee by the Plan, to: (i) designate Participants; (ii) determine the type or types
of Awards to be granted to a Participant; (iii) determine the number of Shares to be covered by, or with respect to which payments, rights or
other matters are to be calculated in connection with, Awards; (iv) determine the terms and conditions of any Award; (v) determine whether, to
what extent and under what circumstances Awards may be settled or exercised in cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property
or canceled, forfeited or suspended, and the method or methods by which Awards may be settled, exercised, canceled, forfeited or suspended;
(vi) determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances the delivery of cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other
property and other amounts payable with respect to an Award shall be deferred, either automatically or at the election of the Participant or the
Committee; (vii) interpret, administer, reconcile any inconsistency in, correct any defect in and/or supply any omission in the Plan and any
instrument or agreement relating to, or Award granted under, the Plan; (viii) establish, amend, suspend or waive any rules and regulations and
appoint such agents as the Committee shall deem appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan; and (ix) make any other determination
and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.

(c)    Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law or the applicable rules and regulations of any securities exchange or inter-
dealer quotation system on which the Shares or
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any successor securities of the Company are listed or traded, the Committee may allocate all or any portion of its responsibilities and powers
to any one or more of its members and may delegate all or any part of its responsibilities and powers to any person or persons selected by it.
Any such allocation or delegation may be revoked by the Committee at any time. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Committee may delegate to one or more officers of any member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate the authority to act on behalf of the
Committee with respect to any matter, right, obligation or election which is the responsibility of or which is allocated to the Committee herein,
and which may be so delegated as a matter of law, except for grants of Awards to persons (i) who are non-employee members of the Board or
otherwise are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act or (ii) who are, or who are reasonably expected to be, “covered employees” for
purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code.

(d)    The Committee shall have the authority to amend the Plan (including by the adaptation of appendices or subplans) and/or the
terms and conditions relating to an Award to the extent necessary to permit participation in the Plan by Eligible Persons who are located
outside of the United States on terms and conditions comparable to those afforded to Eligible Persons located within the United States;
provided, however, that no such action shall be taken without shareholder approval if such approval is necessary to comply with any tax or
regulatory requirement applicable to the Plan (including as necessary to prevent the Company from being denied a tax deduction on account of
Section 162(m) of the Code).

(e)    Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, all designations, determinations, interpretations and other decisions under or
with respect to the Plan or any Award or any documents evidencing Awards granted pursuant to the Plan shall be within the sole discretion of
the Committee, may be made at any time and shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons or entities, including, without limitation,
each member of the Combined Group, each Affiliate, any Participant, any holder or beneficiary of any Award and any stockholder.

(f)    No member of the Board, the Committee or any employee or agent of any member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate (each
such person, an “Indemnifiable Person”) shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken or any determination made with respect to
the Plan or any Award hereunder (unless constituting fraud or a willful criminal act or omission). Each Indemnifiable Person shall be
indemnified and held harmless by the Company against and from any loss, cost, liability or expense (including attorneys’ fees) that may be
imposed upon or incurred by such Indemnifiable Person in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or proceeding to which such
Indemnifiable Person may be a party or in which such Indemnifiable Person may be involved by reason of any action taken or omitted to be
taken or determination made under the Plan or any Award agreement and against and from any and all amounts paid by such Indemnifiable
Person with the Company’s approval, in settlement thereof, or paid by such Indemnifiable Person in satisfaction of any judgment in any such
action, suit or proceeding against such Indemnifiable Person, and the Company shall advance to such Indemnifiable Person any such expenses
promptly upon written request (which request shall include an undertaking by the Indemnifiable Person to repay the amount of such advance if
it shall ultimately be determined as provided below that the Indemnifiable Person is not entitled to be indemnified); provided, that the
Company shall have the right, at its own expense, to assume and defend any such action, suit or proceeding and once the Company gives
notice of its intent to assume the defense, the Company shall have sole control over such defense with counsel of the Company’s choice. The
foregoing right of indemnification shall not be available to an Indemnifiable Person to the extent that a final judgment or other final
adjudication (in either
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case not subject to further appeal) binding upon such Indemnifiable Person determines that the acts or omissions or determinations of such
Indemnifiable Person giving rise to the indemnification claim resulted from such Indemnifiable Person’s fraud or willful criminal act or
omission or that such right of indemnification is otherwise prohibited by law or by the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws. The
foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of or otherwise supersede any other rights of indemnification to which such
Indemnifiable Persons may be entitled under any member of the Combined Group’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, as a matter of law,
individual indemnification agreement or contract or otherwise, or any other power that any member of the Combined Group or Affiliate may
have to indemnify such Indemnifiable Persons or hold them harmless.

(g)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, the Board may, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time
to time, grant Awards and administer the Plan with respect to such Awards. Any such actions by the Board shall be subject to the applicable
rules of the NYSE or any other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Shares are listed or quoted. In any such case,
the Board shall have all the authority granted to the Committee under the Plan.

5.    Grant of Awards; Shares Subject to the Plan; Limitations. (a) The Committee may from time to time grant Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Other Stock-Based Awards and/or Performance Compensation Awards to one or
more Eligible Persons.

(b)    Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to the following limitations: (i) subject to Section 12 of the Plan, no more than
15,000,000 Shares (the “Absolute Share Limit”) shall be available for Awards under the Plan; (ii) subject to Section 12 of the Plan, grants of
Options or SARs in respect of no more than 3,000,000 Shares may be made to any individual Participant during any period of 36 consecutive
months; (iii) subject to Section 12 of the Plan, no more than the number of Shares equal to the Absolute Share Limit may be delivered in the
aggregate pursuant to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan; (iv) subject to Section 12 of the Plan, no more than
1,000,000 Shares may be delivered in respect of Performance Compensation Awards denominated in Shares granted pursuant to Section 11 of
the Plan to any individual Participant for a single fiscal year during a Performance Period (or with respect to each single fiscal year in the
event a Performance Period extends beyond a single fiscal year), or in the event such Performance Compensation Award is paid in cash, other
securities, other Awards or other property, no more than the Fair Market Value of such Shares on the last day of the Performance Period to
which such Award relates; and (v) the maximum amount that can be paid to any individual Participant for a single fiscal year during a
Performance Period (or with respect to each single fiscal year in the event a Performance Period extends beyond a single fiscal year) pursuant
to a Performance Compensation Award denominated in cash (described in Section 11(a) of the Plan) shall be $10,000,000.

(c)    If and to the extent an Award under the Plan or any Prior Plan terminates due to expiration, cancellation, forfeiture, or
otherwise without the issuance of Shares, the Shares covered by such Award shall again become available for other Awards under
the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Shares subject to an Award may not again be made available for issuance under the Plan
(and shall not be added to the Plan in respect of awards under any Prior Plans) if such shares are: (i) shares that were subject to a
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stock-settled SAR (or stock appreciation right under any Prior Plan) and were not issued upon the net settlement or net exercise of
such SAR (or stock appreciation right under any Prior Plan), (ii) shares delivered to or withheld by the Company to pay the
exercise price of an Option (or option under any Prior Plan), (iii) shares delivered to or withheld by the Company to pay the
withholding taxes related an Option or SAR (or option or stock appreciation right under any Prior Plan), or (iv) shares repurchased
on the open market with the proceeds of an Option (or option under any Prior Plan) exercise.

(d)    Shares delivered by the Company in settlement of Awards may be authorized and unissued Shares, Shares held in the treasury of
the Company, Shares purchased on the open market or by private purchase or a combination of the foregoing. Following the Effective Date, no
further awards shall be granted under any Prior Plan.

(e)    Awards may, in the sole discretion of the Committee, be granted under the Plan in assumption of, or in substitution for,
outstanding awards previously granted by an entity directly or indirectly acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines
(“Substitute Awards”). Substitute Awards shall not be counted against the Absolute Share Limit; provided, that Substitute Awards issued in
connection with the assumption of, or in substitution for, outstanding options intended to qualify as “incentive stock options” within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Code shall be counted against the aggregate number of Shares available for Awards of Incentive Stock Options
under the Plan. Subject to applicable stock exchange requirements, available shares under a stockholder approved plan of an entity directly or
indirectly acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines (as appropriately adjusted to reflect the acquisition or combination
transaction) may be used for Awards under the Plan and shall not reduce the number of Shares available for delivery under the Plan.

6.    Eligibility. Participation shall be limited to Eligible Persons.

7.    Options. (a) Generally. Each Option granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement. Each Option so granted shall be
subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 7 and to such other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be reflected in the
applicable Award agreement. All Options granted under the Plan shall be Nonqualified Stock Options unless the applicable Award agreement
expressly states that the Option is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option. Incentive Stock Options shall be granted only to Eligible Persons
who are employees of a member of the Combined Group or any Subsidiary of such member, and no Incentive Stock Option shall be granted to
any Eligible Person who is ineligible to receive an Incentive Stock Option under the Code. No Option shall be treated as an Incentive Stock
Option unless the Plan has been approved by the stockholders of the Company in a manner intended to comply with the stockholder approval
requirements of Section 422(b)(1) of the Code, provided, that any Option intended to be an Incentive Stock Option shall not fail to be effective
solely on account of a failure to obtain such approval, but rather such Option shall be treated as a Nonqualified Stock Option unless and until
such approval is obtained. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the terms and conditions of such grant shall be subject to and comply with
such rules as may be prescribed by Section 422 of the Code. If for any reason an Option intended to be an Incentive Stock Option (or any
portion thereof) shall not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option, then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such Option or portion thereof shall
be regarded as a Nonqualified Stock Option appropriately granted under the Plan.
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(b)    Exercise Price. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee in the case of Substitute Awards, the exercise price (“Exercise
Price”) per Share for each Option shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of such share (determined as of the Date of Grant). Any
modification to the Exercise Price of an outstanding Option shall be subject to the prohibition on repricing set forth in Section 14(b).

(c)    Vesting and Expiration. Options shall vest and become exercisable in such manner and on such date or dates determined by the
Committee and shall expire after such period, not to exceed ten years, as may be determined by the Committee (the “Option Period”);
provided, however, that notwithstanding any vesting dates set by the Committee, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, accelerate the
exercisability of any Option, which acceleration shall not affect the terms and conditions of such Option other than with respect to
exercisability; provided, further, that if the Option Period (other than in the case of an Incentive Stock Option) would expire at a time when
trading in the Shares is prohibited by the Company’s insider trading policy (or Company-imposed “blackout period”), the Option Period shall
be automatically extended until the 30th day following the expiration of such prohibition; provided, however, that in no event shall the Option
Period exceed five years from the Date of Grant in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Participant who on the Date of Grant
owns stock representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Award agreement, an Option shall expire earlier than the end of the Option Period in
the following circumstances:

(i)    If prior to the end of the Option Period, the Participant’s employment or service with each member of the Combined
Group and all Affiliates is terminated without Cause or by the Participant for any reason other than Retirement, the Option shall expire on the
earlier of the last day of the Option Period or the date that is three months after the date of such termination; provided, however, that any
Participant whose employment or service with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate is terminated and who is subsequently
rehired or reengaged by a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate within three months following such termination and prior to the
expiration of the Option shall not be considered to have undergone a termination. In the event of a termination described in this clause (i), the
Option shall remain exercisable by the Participant until its expiration only to the extent the Option was exercisable at the time of such
termination.

(ii)    If the Participant dies or is terminated on account of Disability prior to the end of the Option Period and while still in the
employ or service of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, or dies following a termination described in clause (i) above but prior
to the expiration of an Option, the Option shall expire on the earlier of the last day of the Option Period or the date that is one year after the
date of death or termination on account of Disability of the Participant, as applicable. In such event, the Option shall remain exercisable by the
Participant or his or her beneficiary determined in accordance with Section 15(g), as applicable, until its expiration only to the extent the
Option was exercisable by the Participant at the time of such event.

(iii)    If the Participant ceases employment or service with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliates due to a
termination for Cause, the Option shall expire immediately upon such cessation of employment or service.
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(iv)    If the Participant terminates by reason of Retirement prior to the end of the Option Period, the Option shall (i) expire at
the end of the Option Period and (ii) continue vesting in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the Award agreement, without regard
to any requirement in such vesting schedule that the Participant remain employed with a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate as a
condition to vesting.

(v)    If the Participant’s employment or service ceases on account of Disability at a time when the Participant has attained the
age and service requirements for Retirement, the Participant shall receive the better of the treatment under clause (ii) and clause (iv) above.

(vi)     Notwithstanding (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) above, if a Participant is a member of the Board, upon the Participant’s ceasing
to be a member of the Board due to death or Disability, all unvested Options shall immediately vest and become exercisable and all vested
Options (including after giving effect to such accelerated vesting) shall continue to be exercisable by the Participant or the Participant’s estate,
as applicable, until the earlier to occur of (i) the original expiration date of such Option, and (ii) one year from such cessation, provided,
however, that upon a Participant’s ceasing to be a member of the Board for any reason other than death or Disability, all unvested Options shall
continue to vest in accordance with their initial terms, and all vested Options shall continue to be exercisable until the original expiration date
of such Option; provided, further, that if the Participant ceases to be a member of the Board prior to serving in such capacity for one year, all of
such Participant's Options shall immediately expire upon such termination.

(d)    Other Terms and Conditions. Except as specifically provided otherwise in an Award agreement, each Option granted under the
Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:

(i)    Each Option or portion thereof that is exercisable shall be exercisable for the full amount or for any part thereof.

(ii)    Each Share purchased through the exercise of an Option shall be paid for in full at the time of the exercise. Each Option
shall cease to be exercisable, as to any Share, when the Participant purchases the Share or when the Option expires.

(iii)    Subject to Section 15(b), Options shall not be transferable by the Participant except by will or the laws of descent and
distribution and shall be exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant.

(iv)    At the time of any exercise of an Option, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, require a Participant to deliver to the
Committee a written representation that the Shares to be acquired upon such exercise are to be acquired for investment and not for
resale or with a view to the distribution thereof. Upon such a request by the Committee, delivery of such representation prior to the
delivery of any Shares issued upon exercise of an Option shall be a condition precedent to the right of the Participant or such other
person to purchase any Shares. In the event certificates for Shares are delivered under the Plan with respect to which such investment
representation has been obtained, the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be placed on such certificates to make
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appropriate reference to such representation and to restrict transfer in the absence of compliance with applicable federal or state
securities laws.

(v)    Except as specifically provided otherwise in an Award agreement, any Participant who is classified as a “shipboard
employee,” and who has not otherwise evidenced a specific intent to permanently terminate his employment with each member of the
Combined Group and all Affiliates (as reasonably determined by the Committee) shall not be considered to have terminated
employment with each member of the Combined Group and all Affiliates until a six-month period has expired from his signing off of a
ship without physically signing on to another ship.

(e)    Method of Exercise and Form of Payment. No Shares shall be delivered pursuant to any exercise of an Option until payment in
full of the Exercise Price therefor is received by the Company and the Participant has paid to the Company an amount equal to any Federal,
state, local and non-U.S. income and employment taxes required to be withheld. Options which have become exercisable may be exercised by
delivery of written notice (or electronic notice or telephonic instructions to the extent provided by the Committee) of exercise to the Company
or its designee (including a third party administrator) in accordance with the terms of the Option accompanied by payment of the Exercise
Price. The Exercise Price shall be payable (i) in cash, check, cash equivalent and/or Shares valued at the Fair Market Value at the time the
Option is exercised (including, pursuant to procedures approved by the Committee, by means of attestation of ownership of a sufficient
number of Shares in lieu of actual delivery of such shares to the Company or such other method as determined by the Committee); provided,
that such Shares are not subject to any pledge or other security interest; or (ii) by such other method as the Committee may permit in its sole
discretion, including without limitation: (A) in other property having a fair market value on the date of exercise equal to the Exercise Price or
(B) if there is a public market for the Shares at such time, by means of a broker-assisted “cashless exercise” pursuant to which the Company is
delivered (including telephonically to the extent permitted by the Committee) a copy of irrevocable instructions to a stockbroker to sell the
Shares otherwise deliverable upon the exercise of the Option and to deliver promptly to the Company an amount equal to the Exercise Price or
(C) a “net exercise” procedure effected by withholding the minimum number of Shares otherwise deliverable in respect of an Option that are
needed to pay the Exercise Price and all applicable required withholding taxes.

(f)    Notification upon Disqualifying Disposition of an Incentive Stock Option. Each Participant awarded an Incentive Stock Option
under the Plan shall notify the Company in writing immediately after the date he or she makes a disqualifying disposition of any Shares
acquired pursuant to the exercise of such Incentive Stock Option. A disqualifying disposition is any disposition (including, without limitation,
any sale) of such Shares before the later of (A) two years after the Date of Grant of the Incentive Stock Option or (B) one year after the date of
exercise of the Incentive Stock Option. The Company may, if determined by the Committee and in accordance with procedures established by
the Committee, retain possession, as agent for the applicable Participant, of any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Incentive Stock
Option until the end of the period described in the preceding sentence, subject to complying with any instructions from such Participant as to
the sale of such Share.

(g)    Compliance With Laws, etc. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall a Participant be permitted to exercise an Option in
a manner which the Committee determines would violate the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or any other applicable law or the applicable
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rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or the applicable rules and regulations of any securities exchange or inter-
dealer quotation system on which the securities of the Company are listed or traded.

(h)    Incentive Stock Option Grants to 10% Shareholders. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 7, if an Incentive
Stock Option is granted to a Participant who owns stock representing more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of stock of the
Company or of a Subsidiary or a parent of the Company, the Option Period shall not exceed five years from the Date of Grant of such Option
and the Option Price shall be at least 110 percent of the Fair Market Value (on the Date of Grant) of the Shares subject to the Option.

(i)    $100,000 Per Year Limitation for Incentive Stock Options. To the extent the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the
Date of Grant) of Shares for which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by any Participant during any calendar year
(under all plans of the Company) exceeds $100,000, such excess Incentive Stock Options shall be treated as Nonqualified Stock Options.

8.    Stock Appreciation Rights. (a) Generally. Each SAR granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement. Each SAR so
granted shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 8, and to such other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be
reflected in the applicable Award agreement. Any Option granted under the Plan may include tandem SARs. The Committee also may award
SARs to Eligible Persons independent of any Option.

(b)    Strike Price. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee in the case of Substitute Awards, the strike price (“Strike Price”) per
Share for each SAR shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of such share (determined as of the Date of Grant). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, a SAR granted in tandem with (or in substitution for) an Option previously granted shall have a Strike Price equal to the Exercise
Price of the corresponding Option. Any modification to the Strike Price of an outstanding SAR shall be subject to the prohibition on repricing
set forth in Section 14(b).

(c)    Vesting and Expiration. A SAR granted in connection with an Option shall become exercisable and shall expire according to the
same vesting schedule and expiration provisions as the corresponding Option. A SAR granted independent of an Option shall vest and become
exercisable and shall expire in such manner and on such date or dates determined by the Committee and shall expire after such period, not to
exceed ten years, as may be determined by the Committee (the “SAR Period”); provided, that if the SAR Period would expire at a time when
trading in the Shares is prohibited by a member of the Combined Group’s insider trading policy (or a member of the Combined Group’s-
imposed “blackout period”), the SAR Period shall be automatically extended until the 30th day following the expiration of such prohibition.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Award agreement, a SAR shall expire earlier than the end of the SAR Period in the
following circumstances:

(i)    If prior to the end of the SAR Period, the Participant’s employment or service with each member of the Combined Group
and all Affiliates is terminated without Cause or by the Participant for any reason other than Retirement, the SAR shall expire on the earlier of
the last day of the SAR Period or the date that is three months after the date of such termination;
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provided, however, that any Participant whose employment or service with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate is terminated
and who is subsequently rehired or reengaged by a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate within three months following such
termination and prior to the expiration of the SAR shall not be considered to have undergone a termination. In the event of a termination
described in this clause (i), the SAR shall remain exercisable by the Participant until its expiration only to the extent the SAR was exercisable
at the time of such termination.

(ii)    If the Participant dies or is terminated on account of Disability prior to the end of the SAR Period and while still in the
employ or service of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, or dies following a termination described in clause (i) above but prior
to the expiration of an SAR, the SAR shall expire on the earlier of the last day of the SAR Period or the date that is one year after the date of
death or termination on account of Disability of the Participant, as applicable. In such event, the SAR shall remain exercisable by the
Participant or his or her beneficiary determined in accordance with Section 15(g), as applicable, until its expiration only to the extent the SAR
was exercisable by the Participant at the time of such event.

(iii)    If the Participant ceases employment or service with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliates due to a
termination for Cause, the SAR shall expire immediately upon such cessation of employment or service.

(iv)    If the Participant terminates by reason of Retirement prior to the end of the SAR Period, the SAR shall (i) expire at the
end of the SAR Period and (ii) continue vesting in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the Award agreement, without regard to
any requirement in such vesting schedule that the Participant remain employed with a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate as a
condition to vesting.

(v)    If the Participant’s employment or service ceases on account of Disability at a time when the Participant has attained the
age and service requirements for Retirement, the Participant shall receive the better of the treatment under clause (ii) and clause (iv) above.

(vi)     Notwithstanding (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) above, if a Participant is a member of the Board, upon the Participant’s ceasing
to be a member of the Board due to death or Disability, all unvested SARs shall immediately vest and become exercisable and all vested SARs
(including after giving effect to such accelerated vesting) shall continue to be exercisable by the Participant or the Participant’s estate, as
applicable, until the earlier to occur of (i) the original expiration date of such SAR, and (ii) one year from such cessation, provided, however,
that upon a Participant’s ceasing to be a member of the Board for any reason other than death or Disability, all unvested SARs shall continue to
vest in accordance with their initial terms, and all vested SARs shall continue to be exercisable until the original expiration date of such SAR;
provided, further, that if the Participant ceases to be a member of the Board prior to serving in such capacity for one year, all of such
Participant's SARs shall immediately expire upon such termination.

(d)    Method of Exercise. SARs which have become exercisable may be exercised by delivery of written notice (or electronic notice or
telephonic instructions to the extent provided by the Committee) of exercise to the Company or its designee (including a third party
administrator)
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in accordance with the terms of the Award, specifying the number of SARs to be exercised and the date on which such SARs were awarded.

(e)    Payment. Upon the exercise of a SAR, a member of the Combined Group shall pay to the Participant an amount equal to the
number of shares subject to the SAR that are being exercised multiplied by the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of one Share on the
exercise date over the Strike Price, less an amount equal to any Federal, state, local and non-U.S. income and employment taxes required to be
withheld. A member of the Combined Group shall pay such amount in cash, in Shares valued at Fair Market Value, or any combination thereof,
as determined by the Committee.

(f)    Substitution of SARs for Nonqualified Stock Options. The Committee shall have the authority in its sole discretion to substitute,
without the consent of the affected Participant or any holder or beneficiary of SARs, SARs settled in Shares (or settled in shares or cash in the
sole discretion of the Committee) for outstanding Nonqualified Stock Options, provided that (i) the substitution shall not otherwise result in a
modification of the terms of any such Nonqualified Stock Option, (ii) the number of Shares underlying the substituted SARs shall be the same
as the number of shares of Shares underlying such Nonqualified Stock Options and (iii) the Strike Price of the substituted SARs shall be equal
to the Exercise Price of such Nonqualified Stock Options; provided, however, that if, in the opinion of the Company’s independent public
auditors, the foregoing provision creates adverse accounting consequences for a member of the Combined Group, such provision shall be
considered null and void.

9.    Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. (a) Generally. Each grant of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units shall be evidenced
by an Award agreement. Each Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 9, and
to such other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as determined by the Committee and may be reflected in the applicable Award
agreement. The Committee shall establish restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units, including the Restricted
Period, which may differ with respect to each Participant, and the time or times at which Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units shall be
granted or become vested.

(b)    Stock Certificates and Book Entry; Escrow or Similar Arrangement. Upon the grant of Restricted Stock, the Committee shall
cause a stock certificate registered in the name of the Participant to be issued or shall cause Shares to be registered in the name of the
Participant and held in book-entry form subject to the Company’s directions and, if the Committee determines that the Restricted Stock shall
be held by the Company or in escrow rather than delivered to the Participant pending the release of the applicable restrictions, the Committee
may require the Participant to additionally execute and deliver to the Company (i) an escrow agreement satisfactory to the Committee, if
applicable, and (ii) the appropriate stock power (endorsed in blank) with respect to the Restricted Stock covered by such agreement. If a
Participant shall fail to execute and deliver (in a manner permitted under Section 15(a) or as otherwise determined by the Committee) an
agreement evidencing an Award of Restricted Stock and, if applicable, an escrow agreement and blank stock power within the amount of time
specified by the Committee, the Award shall be null and void. Subject to the restrictions set forth in this Section 9 and the applicable Award
agreement, the Participant generally shall have the rights and privileges of a stockholder as to such Restricted Stock, including without
limitation the right to vote such Restricted Stock. Subject to Section 15(c), at the discretion of the Committee, cash dividends and stock
dividends with respect to the Restricted Stock may be
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either currently paid to the Participant or withheld by the Company for the Participant’s account, and interest may be credited on the amount of
cash dividends withheld at a rate and subject to such terms as determined by the Committee. The cash dividends or stock dividends so
withheld by the Committee and attributable to any particular share of Restricted Stock (and earnings thereon, if applicable) shall be distributed
to the Participant upon the release of restrictions on such share. To the extent shares of Restricted Stock are forfeited, any stock certificates
issued to the Participant evidencing such shares shall be returned to the Company, and all rights of the Participant to such shares and as a
stockholder with respect thereto, including, but not limited to, the right to any cash dividends and stock dividends, shall terminate without
further obligation on the part of the Company.

(c)    Restricted Stock Units: No Shares shall be issued at the time an Award of Restricted Stock Units is made, and the Company will
not be required to set aside a fund for the payment of any such Award. At the discretion of the Committee, each Restricted Stock Unit
(representing one Share) awarded to a Participant may be credited with cash and stock dividends paid in respect of one Share (“Dividend
Equivalents”). Subject to Section 15(c), at the discretion of the Committee, Dividend Equivalents may be either currently paid to the
Participant or withheld by the Company for the Participant’s account, and interest may be credited on the amount of cash Dividend
Equivalents withheld at a rate and subject to such terms as determined by the Committee. Dividend Equivalents credited to a Participant’s
account and attributable to any particular Restricted Stock Unit (and earnings thereon, if applicable) shall be distributed to the Participant upon
settlement of such Restricted Stock Unit and, if such Restricted Stock Unit is forfeited, the Participant shall have no right to such Dividend
Equivalents.

(d)    Restrictions; Forfeiture: (i) Restricted Stock awarded to a Participant shall be subject to the following restrictions until the
expiration of the Restricted Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the Committee, and to such other terms and
conditions as may be set forth in the applicable Restricted Stock Agreement: (A) if an escrow arrangement is used, the Participant shall not be
entitled to delivery of the stock certificate; (B) the Shares shall be subject to the restrictions on transferability set forth in the Restricted Stock
Agreement; (C) the Shares shall be subject to forfeiture to the extent provided in the applicable Restricted Stock Agreement and, with respect
to a Participant who has not been a member of the Board, if the Participant ceases to be a member of the Board for any reason other than death
or Disability prior to the one-year anniversary of his or her initial election to the Board such award shall be forfeited. In the event of any
forfeiture, the stock certificates shall be returned to the Company, and all rights of the Participant to such Shares and as a shareholder shall
terminate without further obligation on the part of the Company.

(i)    Restricted Stock Units awarded to any Participant shall be subject to (1) forfeiture until the expiration of the
Restricted Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the Committee, to the extent provided in the applicable
Restricted Stock Unit agreement and, with respect to a Participant who has not been a member of the Board, if the Participant ceases to be a
member of the Board for any reason other than death or Disability prior to the one-year anniversary of his or her initial election to the Board
such award shall be forfeited. In the event of any forfeiture, all rights of the Participant to such Restricted Stock Units shall terminate without
further obligation on the part of the Company and (2) such other terms and conditions as may be set forth in the applicable Restricted Stock
Unit agreement.
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(ii)    The Committee shall have the authority to remove any or all of the restrictions on the Restricted Stock and
Restricted Stock Units whenever it may determine that, by reason of changes in applicable laws or other changes in circumstances arising after
the date of the Restricted Stock Award or Restricted Stock Unit Award, such action is appropriate.

(e)    Delivery of Restricted Stock and Settlement of Restricted Stock Units. (i) Upon the expiration of the Restricted Period with
respect to any shares of Restricted Stock, the restrictions set forth in the applicable Restricted Stock Agreement shall be of no further force or
effect with respect to such shares, except as set forth in the applicable Restricted Stock Agreement. If an escrow arrangement is used, upon
such expiration, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, or his or her beneficiary, without charge, the stock certificate (or, if applicable, a
notice evidencing a book entry notation) evidencing the shares of Restricted Stock which have not then been forfeited and with respect to
which the Restricted Period has expired (rounded down to the nearest full share). Dividends, if any, that may have been withheld by the
Committee and attributable to any particular share of Restricted Stock shall be distributed to the Participant in cash or, at the sole discretion of
the Committee, in Shares having a Fair Market Value (on the date of distribution) equal to the amount of such dividends, upon the release of
restrictions on such share and, if such share is forfeited, the Participant shall have no right to such dividends.

(ii)    Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in an Award agreement, upon the expiration of the Restricted
Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the Committee, with respect to any outstanding Restricted Stock Units
covered by a Restricted Stock Unit Award, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, or his or her beneficiary, without charge, one Share (or
other securities or other property, as applicable) for each such outstanding Restricted Stock Unit which has not then been forfeited and with
respect to which the Restricted Period has expired and any other such vesting criteria are attained (“Released Unit”); provided, however, that
the Committee may, in its sole discretion, elect to (i) pay cash or part cash and part Shares in lieu of delivering only Shares in respect of such
Released Units or (ii) defer the delivery of Shares (or cash or part Shares and part cash, as the case may be) beyond the expiration of the
Restricted Period if such extension would not cause adverse tax consequences under Section 409A of the Code. If a cash payment is made in
lieu of delivering Shares, the amount of such payment shall be equal to the Fair Market Value of the Shares as of the date on which the
Restricted Period lapsed with respect to such Restricted Stock Units. To the extent provided in an Award agreement, the holder of Released
Units shall be entitled to be credited with dividend equivalent payments (upon the payment by the Company of dividends on Shares) either in
cash or, at the sole discretion of the Committee, in Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends (and interest may,
at the sole discretion of the Committee, be credited on the amount of cash dividend equivalents at a rate and subject to such terms as determined
by the Committee), which accumulated dividend equivalents (and interest thereon, if applicable) shall be payable at the same time as the
underlying Restricted Stock Units are settled following the release of restrictions on such Restricted Stock Units, and, if such Restricted Stock
Units are forfeited, the Participant shall have no right to such dividend equivalent payments.

(f)    Legends on Restricted Stock. Each certificate representing Restricted Stock awarded under the Plan, if any, shall bear a legend
substantially in the form of the following, in addition to any other information the Company deems appropriate, until the lapse of all
restrictions with respect to such Shares:
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TRANSFER OF THIS CERTIFICATE AND THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY IS RESTRICTED PURSUANT TO THE
TERMS OF THE CARNIVAL CORPORATION 2011 STOCK PLAN, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AND A
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF BETWEEN CARNIVAL CORPORATION AND
_______________. COPIES OF SUCH PLAN AND AWARD AGREEMENTS ARE ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE
OFFICES OF CARNIVAL CORPORATION.

10.    Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may issue unrestricted Shares, rights to receive grants of Awards at a future date, the grant
of securities convertible into Shares, the grant of other Awards denominated in Shares (including, without limitation, performance shares, or
performance units), or valued with reference to Shares, under the Plan to Eligible Persons, alone or in tandem with other Awards, in such
amounts as the Committee shall from time to time in its sole discretion determine. Each Other Stock-Based Award granted under the Plan shall
be evidenced by an Award agreement. Each Other Stock-Based Award so granted shall be subject to such conditions not inconsistent with the
Plan as may be reflected in the applicable Award agreement including, without limitation, the payment by the Participant of the Fair Market
Value of such Shares on the Date of Grant.

11.    Performance Compensation Awards. (a) Generally. The Committee shall have the authority, at or before the time of grant of any
Award, to designate such Award as a Performance Compensation Award intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under
Section 162(m) of the Code. The Committee shall also have the authority to make an award of a cash bonus to any Participant and designate
such Award as a Performance Compensation Award intended to qualify as “performance‑based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the
Code. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, if the Company determines that a Participant who has been granted an Award
designated as a Performance Compensation Award is not (or is no longer) a “covered employee” (within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the
Code), the terms and conditions of such Award may be modified without regard to any restrictions or limitations set forth in this Section 11 (but
subject otherwise to the provisions of Section 13 of the Plan).

(b)    Discretion of Committee with Respect to Performance Compensation Awards. With regard to a particular Performance Period,
the Committee shall have sole discretion to select the length of such Performance Period, the type(s) of Performance Compensation Awards to
be issued, the Performance Criteria that will be used to establish the Performance Goal(s), the kind(s) and/or level(s) of the Performance
Goals(s) that is (are) to apply and the Performance Formula. Within the first 90 days of a Performance Period (or, within any other maximum
period allowed under Section 162(m) of the Code), the Committee shall, with regard to the Performance Compensation Awards to be issued
for such Performance Period, exercise its discretion with respect to each of the matters enumerated in the immediately preceding sentence and
record the same in writing.

(c)    Performance Criteria. The Performance Criteria that will be used to establish the Performance Goal(s) may be based on the
attainment of specific levels of performance of Carnival Corporation & plc (and/or in respect of Carnival Corporation, Carnival plc or one or
more cruise brands or reporting units, administrative departments, or any combination of the foregoing) and shall be limited to the following:
(i) income before taxes or net income
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(calculated with or without asset impairments and/or gains or losses on sale of ships or other assets); (ii) basic or fully diluted earnings per
share (calculated with or without asset impairments and/or gains or losses on sale of ships or other assets); (iii) net revenue, net revenue yield
or the growth of either in current or constant dollars; (iv) net passenger revenue, net passenger revenue yield or the growth of either in current
or constant dollars; (v) net ticket revenue, net ticket revenue yield or the growth of either in current or constant dollars; (vi) net onboard
revenue, net onboard revenue yield or the growth of either in current or constant dollars; (vii) net other revenue, net other revenue yield or the
growth of either in current or constant dollars; (viii) net cruise costs excluding fuel, net cruise costs excluding fuel per available lower berth
day (“ALBD”), or the change of either in current or constant dollars (calculated with or without asset impairments and/or gains or losses on
sale of ships or other assets); (ix) operating income, operating income per ALBD or the growth of either in current or constant dollars and/or at
constant fuel prices (calculated with or without asset impairments and/or gains or losses on sale of ships or other assets); (x) fuel consumption,
fuel consumption in tons per ALBD (x 1,000) or the change of either or any other metric of fuel efficiency; (xi) occupancy percentage; (xii)
return measures (including, but not limited to, returns on investment, assets, or equity) calculated with or without asset impairments, gains
and/or losses on sale of ships or other assets, construction-in-progress, goodwill and/or intangibles; (xiii) cash flow measures (including, but
not limited to, cash provided by operating activities, free cash flow, and cash flow return on capital), which may, but are not required to be,
measured on a per share or per ALBD basis, in current or constant dollars and/or at constant fuel prices (calculated with or without asset
impairments and/or gains or losses on sale of ships or other assets); (xiv) earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation and/or
amortization (including EBIT and EBITDA) which may, but are not required to be, measured on a per share or per ALBD basis, in current or
constant dollars and/or at constant fuel prices (calculated with or without asset impairments and/or gains or losses on sale of ships or other
assets); (xv) share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder return); (xvi) expense targets or cost reduction
goals and general and administrative expense savings; (xvii) measures of economic value added or other ‘value creation’ metrics; (xviii)
inventory control; (xix) enterprise value; (xx) employee recruitment and retention; (xxi) timely introduction of new ships or facilities; (xxii)
objective measures of personal targets, goals or completion of projects (including, but not limited to, succession and hiring projects,
completion of specific acquisitions, reorganizations or other corporate transactions or capital-raising transactions, expansions of specific
business operations and meeting cruise brand, reporting unit or project budgets); (xxiii) cost of capital, debt leverage, cash and liquidity
positions or book value; (xxiv) health, environmental, safety, security or other enterprise risk management initiatives; (xxv) increase in
passengers (including, but not limited to, increase in international source passengers, and increase percentage of first time cruisers); (xxvi)
cross selling cruises on other Carnival corporation & plc brands; (xxvii) reduction in ship incidents; (xxvviii) expansion into new markets;
(xxix) strategic objectives; or (xxx) any combination of the foregoing. Any one or more of the Performance Criteria may be stated as a
percentage of another Performance Criteria, or used on an absolute or relative basis to measure the performance of the Company and/or one or
more Affiliates as a whole or any divisions or operational and/or business units, product lines, brands, business segments, administrative
departments of the Company and/or one or more Affiliates or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem appropriate, or any of the
above Performance Criteria may be compared to the performance of a selected group of comparison companies, or a published or special
index that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate, or as compared to various stock market indices. The Committee also has
the authority to provide for accelerated vesting of any Award based on the achievement of Performance Goals pursuant to the
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Performance Criteria specified in this paragraph. To the extent required under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee shall, within the
first 90 days of a Performance Period (or, within any other maximum period allowed under Section 162(m) of the Code), define in an
objective fashion the manner of calculating the Performance Criteria it selects to use for such Performance Period.

(d)    Modification of Performance Goal(s). In the event that applicable tax and/or securities laws change to permit Committee
discretion to alter the governing Performance Criteria without obtaining stockholder approval of such alterations, the Committee shall have
sole discretion to make such alterations without obtaining stockholder approval. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time a
Performance Compensation Award is granted, the Committee shall, during the first 90 days of a Performance Period (or, within any other
maximum period allowed under Section 162(m) of the Code), or at any time thereafter to the extent the exercise of such authority at such time
would not cause the Performance Compensation Awards granted to any Participant for such Performance Period to fail to qualify as
“performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Code, specify adjustments or modifications to be made to the calculation of a
Performance Goal for such Performance Period, based on and in order to appropriately reflect the following events: (i) asset impairments; (ii)
litigation or claim judgments or settlements; (iii) the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, or other laws or regulatory rules
affecting reported results; (iv) any reorganization and restructuring programs; (v) extraordinary nonrecurring items as described in Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 225-20 (or any successor pronouncement thereto) and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to stockholders for the applicable year; (vi) acquisitions or
divestitures; (vii) any other specific, unusual or nonrecurring events, or objectively determinable category thereof; (viii) foreign exchange
gains and losses; (ix) discontinued operations and nonrecurring charges; (x) gains or losses on the sale of ships or other assets; and (xi) a
change in the Company’s fiscal year.

(e)    Payment of Performance Compensation Awards. (i) Condition to Receipt of Payment. Unless otherwise provided in the
applicable Award agreement, a Participant must be employed by the Company on the last day of a Performance Period to be eligible for
payment in respect of a Performance Compensation Award for such Performance Period.

(ii)    Limitation. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Award agreement, a Participant shall be eligible to
receive payment in respect of a Performance Compensation Award only to the extent that: (A) the Performance Goals for such period are
achieved; and (B) all or some of the portion of such Participant’s Performance Compensation Award has been earned for the Performance
Period based on the application of the Performance Formula to such achieved Performance Goals; provided, however, that in the event of (x)
the termination of a Participant’s employment or service due to Retirement, or by the Company other than for Cause (and other than due to
death or Disability), in each case within 12 months following a Change of Control, or (y) the termination of a Participant’s employment or
service due to death or Disability, the Participant shall receive payment in respect of a Performance Compensation Award based on (1) actual
performance through the date of termination as determined by the Committee, or (2) if the Committee determines that measurement of actual
performance cannot be reasonably assessed, the assumed achievement of target performance as determined by the Committee (but not to the
extent that application of this clause (2) would cause Section 162(m) of the Code to result in the loss of the deduction of the compensation
payable in
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respect of such Performance Compensation Award for any Participant reasonably expected to be a “covered employee” within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Code), in each case prorated based on the time elapsed from the date of grant to the date of termination of employment or
service.

(iii)    Certification. Following the completion of a Performance Period, the Committee shall review and certify in
writing whether, and to what extent, the Performance Goals for the Performance Period have been achieved and, if so, calculate and certify in
writing that amount of the Performance Compensation Awards earned for the period based upon the Performance Formula. The Committee
shall then determine the amount of each Participant’s Performance Compensation Award actually payable for the Performance Period and, in so
doing, may apply Negative Discretion.

(iv)    Use of Negative Discretion. In determining the actual amount of an individual Participant’s Performance
Compensation Award for a Performance Period, the Committee may reduce or eliminate the amount of the Performance Compensation Award
earned under the Performance Formula in the Performance Period through the use of Negative Discretion. Unless otherwise provided in the
applicable Award agreement, the Committee shall not have the discretion to (A) grant or provide payment in respect of Performance
Compensation Awards for a Performance Period if the Performance Goals for such Performance Period have not been attained; or (B) increase
a Performance Compensation Award above the applicable limitations set forth in Section 5 of the Plan.

(f)    Timing of Award Payments. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Award agreement, Performance Compensation Awards
granted for a Performance Period shall be paid to Participants as soon as administratively practicable following completion of the certifications
required by this Section 11. Any Performance Compensation Award that has been deferred shall not (between the date as of which the Award
is deferred and the payment date) increase (i) with respect to a Performance Compensation Award that is payable in cash, by a measuring
factor for each fiscal year greater than a reasonable rate of interest set by the Committee or (ii) with respect to a Performance Compensation
Award that is payable in Shares, by an amount greater than the appreciation of a share of Common Stock from the date such Award is deferred
to the payment date. Unless otherwise provided in an Award agreement, any Performance Compensation Award that is deferred and is
otherwise payable in Shares shall be credited (during the period between the date as of which the Award is deferred and the payment date)
with dividend equivalents (in a manner consistent with the methodology set forth in the last sentence of Section 9(c).

12.    Changes in Capital Structure and Similar Events. In the event of (a) any dividend (other than regular cash dividends) or other
distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other securities or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split,
reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, split-off, spin-off, combination, repurchase or exchange of Shares or other securities of the
Company, issuance of warrants or other rights to acquire Shares or other securities of the Company, an unpairing of the shares of Common
Stock from the Trust Shares, or other similar corporate transaction or event that affects the Shares, or (b) unusual or nonrecurring events
affecting the Combined Group, any Affiliate, or the financial statements of the Combined Group or any Affiliate, or changes in applicable rules,
rulings, regulations or other requirements of any governmental body or securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system, accounting
principles or law, such that in either case an adjustment is determined by the Committee in its sole
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discretion to be necessary or appropriate, then the Committee shall make any such adjustments in such manner as it may deem equitable,
including without limitation, any or all of the following:

(i)    adjusting any or all of (A) the number of Shares or other securities of the Company (or number and kind of other
securities or other property) which may be delivered in respect of Awards or with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan
(including, without limitation, adjusting any or all of the limitations under Section 5 of the Plan) and (B) the terms of any outstanding Award,
including, without limitation, (1) the number of Shares or other securities of the Company (or number and kind of other securities or other
property) subject to outstanding Awards or to which outstanding Awards relate, (2) the Exercise Price with respect to any Award or (3) any
applicable performance measures (including, without limitation, Performance Criteria and Performance Goals);

(ii)    providing for a substitution or assumption of Awards (or awards of an acquiring company), accelerating the
exercisability of, lapse of restrictions on, or termination of, Awards or providing for a period of time (which shall not be required to be more
than ten (10) days) for Participants to exercise outstanding Awards prior to the occurrence of such event (and any such Award not so exercised
shall terminate upon the occurrence of such event); and

(iii)    cancelling any one or more outstanding Awards and causing to be paid to the holders thereof, in cash, Shares,
other securities or other property, or any combination thereof, the value of such Awards, if any, as determined by the Committee (which if
applicable may be based upon the price per Share received or to be received by other stockholders of the Company in such event), including
without limitation, in the case of an outstanding Option or SAR, a cash payment in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market
Value (as of a date specified by the Committee) of the Shares subject to such Option or SAR over the aggregate Exercise Price or Strike Price
of such Option or SAR, respectively (it being understood that, in such event, any Option or SAR having a per share Exercise Price or Strike
Price equal to, or in excess of, the Fair Market Value of a Share subject thereto may be canceled and terminated without any payment or
consideration therefor);

provided, however, that in the case of any “equity restructuring” (within the meaning of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor pronouncement thereto) (“ASC 718”)), the Committee shall make an
equitable or proportionate adjustment to outstanding Awards to reflect such equity restructuring. Except as otherwise determined by the
Committee, any adjustment in Incentive Stock Options under this Section 12 (other than any cancellation of Incentive Stock Options)
shall be made only to the extent not constituting a “modification” within the meaning of Section 424(h) (3) of the Code, and any
adjustments under this Section 12 shall be made in a manner which does not adversely affect the exemption provided pursuant to
Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. Any such adjustment shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes.

13.    Effect of Change of Control: Except to the extent a particular Award Agreement otherwise provides:

(a)    In the event a Participant’s employment with the Combined Group is terminated by the Combined Group without Cause (and
other than due to death or disability) on or within 12
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months following a Change of Control, notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, all Options and SARs held by such
Participant shall become immediately exercisable with respect to 100 percent of the Shares subject to such Options and SARs, and the
Restricted Period shall expire immediately with respect to 100 percent of the shares of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units and any
other Awards held by such Participant (including a waiver of any applicable Performance Goals); provided that in the event the vesting or
exercisability of any Award would otherwise be subject to the achievement of performance conditions, a portion of any such Award that shall
become fully vested and immediately exercisable shall be based on (a) actual performance through the date of termination as determined by the
Committee or (b) if the Committee determines that measurements of actual performance cannot be reasonably assessed, the assumed
achievement of target performance as determined by the Committee.

(b)    In addition, in the event of a Change of Control, the Committee may in its discretion and upon at least 10 days’ advance notice to
the affected persons, cancel any outstanding Award and pay to the holders thereof, in cash or stock, or any combination thereof, the value of
such Awards based upon the price per Share received or to be received by other shareholders of the Company in the event. Notwithstanding the
above, the Committee shall exercise such discretion over any Award subject to Code Section 409A at the time such Award is granted.

(c)    The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be binding upon any successor corporation or organization resulting from the
merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor corporation or organization succeeding to substantially all
of the assets and business of the Company. The Company agrees that it will make appropriate provisions for the preservation of Participants’
rights under the Plan in any agreement or plan which it may enter into or adopt to effect any such merger, consolidation, reorganization or
transfer of assets.

14.    Amendments and Termination. (a) Amendment and Termination of the Plan. The Board may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or
terminate the Plan or any portion thereof at any time; provided, that no such amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuation or termination
shall be made without stockholder approval if (i) such approval is necessary to comply with any regulatory requirement applicable to the Plan
(including, without limitation, as necessary to comply with any rules or regulations of any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system
on which the securities of the Company may be listed or quoted) or for changes in GAAP to new accounting standards, (ii) it would materially
increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan, (iii) it would materially increase the number of securities which may be issued
under the Plan (except for increases pursuant to Section 5 or 12), or (iv) it would materially modify the requirements for participation in the
Plan; provided, further, that any such amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuance or termination that would materially and adversely
affect the rights of any Participant or any holder or beneficiary of any Award theretofore granted shall not to that extent be effective without the
consent of the affected Participant, holder or beneficiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment shall be made to the last proviso of
Section 14(b) without stockholder approval.

(b)    Amendment of Award Agreements. The Committee may, to the extent consistent with the terms of any applicable Award
agreement, waive any conditions or rights under, amend any terms of, or alter, suspend, discontinue, cancel or terminate, any Award
theretofore granted or the associated Award agreement, prospectively or retroactively (including after a Participant’s
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termination of employment or service with the Company); provided, that any such waiver, amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuance,
cancellation or termination that would materially and adversely affect the rights of any Participant with respect to any Award theretofore
granted shall not to that extent be effective without the consent of the affected Participant; provided, further, that without stockholder
approval, except as otherwise permitted under Section 12 of the Plan, (i) no amendment or modification may reduce the Exercise Price of any
Option or the Strike Price of any SAR, (ii) the Committee may not cancel any outstanding Option or SAR and replace it with a new Option or
SAR (with a lower Exercise Price or Strike, as the case may be) or other Award or cash and (iii) the Committee may not take any other action
which is considered a “repricing” for purposes of the stockholder approval rules of any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on
which the securities of the Company are listed or quoted.

15.    General. (a) Award Agreements. Each Award under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement, which shall be delivered to the
Participant and shall specify the terms and conditions of the Award and any rules applicable thereto, including without limitation, the effect on
such Award of the death, Disability or termination of employment or service of a Participant, or of such other events as may be determined by
the Committee. For purposes of the Plan, an Award agreement may be in any such form (written or electronic) as determined by the Committee
(including, without limitation, a Board or Committee resolution, an employment agreement, a notice, a certificate or a letter) evidencing the
Award. The Committee need not require an Award agreement to be signed by the Participant or a duly authorized representative of the
Company.

(b)    Nontransferability. (i) Each Award shall be exercisable only by a Participant during the Participant’s lifetime, or, if permissible
under applicable law, by the Participant’s legal guardian or representative. No Award may be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or
otherwise transferred or encumbered by a Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and any such purported
assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company or an Affiliate;
provided that the designation of a beneficiary shall not constitute an assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance.

(ii)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, permit Awards (other than Incentive
Stock Options) to be transferred by a Participant, without consideration, subject to such rules as the Committee may adopt consistent with any
applicable Award agreement to preserve the purposes of the Plan, to: (A) any person who is a “family member” of the Participant, as such term
is used in the instructions to Form S-8 under the Securities Act or any successor form of registration statement promulgated by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (collectively, the “Immediate Family Members”); (B) a trust solely for the benefit of the Participant and his or her
Immediate Family Members; or (C) a partnership or limited liability company whose only partners or stockholders are the Participant and his or
her Immediate Family Members; or (D) any other transferee as may be approved either (I) by the Board or the Committee in its sole discretion,
or (II) as provided in the applicable Award agreement;

(each transferee described in clauses (A), (B), (C) and (D) above is hereinafter referred to as a “Permitted Transferee”); provided, that
the Participant gives the Committee advance written notice describing the terms and conditions of the proposed transfer and the
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Committee notifies the Participant in writing that such a transfer would comply with the requirements of the Plan.

(iii)    The terms of any Award transferred in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence shall apply to the
Permitted Transferee and any reference in the Plan, or in any applicable Award agreement, to a Participant shall be deemed to refer to the
Permitted Transferee, except that (A) Permitted Transferees shall not be entitled to transfer any Award, other than by will or the laws of descent
and distribution; (B) Permitted Transferees shall not be entitled to exercise any transferred Option unless there shall be in effect a registration
statement on an appropriate form covering the Shares to be acquired pursuant to the exercise of such Option if the Committee determines,
consistent with any applicable Award agreement, that such a registration statement is necessary or appropriate; (C) the Committee or the
Company shall not be required to provide any notice to a Permitted Transferee, whether or not such notice is or would otherwise have been
required to be given to the Participant under the Plan or otherwise; and (D) the consequences of the termination of the Participant’s employment
by, or services to, the Company or an Affiliate under the terms of the Plan and the applicable Award agreement shall continue to be applied
with respect to the Participant, including, without limitation, that an Option shall be exercisable by the Permitted Transferee only to the extent,
and for the periods, specified in the Plan and the applicable Award agreement.

(c)    Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. The Committee in its sole discretion may provide a Participant as part of an Award with
dividends or dividend equivalents, payable in cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property, on a current or deferred basis, on
such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, including without limitation, payment directly to the
Participant, withholding of such amounts by the Company subject to vesting of the Award or reinvestment in additional Shares, Restricted
Stock or other Awards; provided, that no dividends or dividend equivalents shall be payable in respect of outstanding (i) Options or SARs or
(ii) unearned Performance Compensation Awards or other unearned Awards subject to performance conditions (other than or in addition to the
passage of time) (although dividend equivalents may be accumulated in respect of unearned Awards and paid as soon as administratively
practicable (but not more than 60 days) after such Awards are earned and become payable or distributable).

(d)    Tax Withholding. (i) A Participant shall be required to pay a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate, and each member
of the Combined Group or any Affiliate shall have the right and is hereby authorized to withhold, from any cash, Shares, other securities or
other property deliverable under any Award or from any compensation or other amounts owing to a Participant, the amount (in cash, Shares,
other securities or other property) of any required withholding taxes in respect of an Award, its exercise, or any payment or transfer under an
Award or under the Plan and to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Committee or the Company to satisfy all
obligations for the payment of such withholding and taxes.

(ii)    Without limiting the generality of clause (i) above, the Committee pre-authorizes and permits a Participant to
satisfy, in whole or in part, the foregoing withholding liability (but no more than the minimum required statutory withholding liability, if
required to avoid adverse accounting treatment of the Award as a liability award under ASC 718); in each case such withholding intended to
satisfy the exemption available under Rule 16b-3(e), to the extent that Rule 16(b)-3 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is
applicable by (A)
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payment in cash; (B) the delivery of Shares (which Shares must be owned by a Participant which are not subject to any pledge or other security
interest and have either been held by the Participant for six months, previously acquired by the Participant on the open market or that meet such
other requirements as the Committee may determine are necessary in order to avoid an accounting earnings charge on account of the use of
such Shares to pay the Exercise Price or satisfy a withholding obligation in respect of an Option) owned by the Participant having a Fair Market
Value equal to such withholding liability; (C) having the Company withhold from the number of Shares otherwise issuable or deliverable
pursuant to the exercise or settlement of the Award a number of Shares with a Fair Market Value equal to such withholding liability; or (D)
authorizing the Company to arrange the sale of sufficient Shares to generate proceeds sufficient to discharge any withholding liability.

(e)    No Claim to Awards; No Rights to Continued Employment; Waiver. No employee of a member of a Combined Group or an
Affiliate, or other person, shall have any claim or right to be granted an Award under the Plan or, having been selected for the grant of an
Award, to be selected for a grant of any other Award. There is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Participants or holders or
beneficiaries of Awards. The terms and conditions of Awards and the Committee’s determinations and interpretations with respect thereto need
not be the same with respect to each Participant and may be made selectively among Participants, whether or not such Participants are
similarly situated. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any Participant any right to be retained in the
employ or service of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, nor shall it be construed as giving any Participant any rights to
continued service on the Board. A member of the Combined Group or any of its Affiliates may at any time dismiss a Participant from
employment or discontinue any consulting relationship, free from any liability or any claim under the Plan, unless otherwise expressly
provided in the Plan or any Award agreement. By accepting an Award under the Plan, a Participant shall thereby be deemed to have waived
any claim to continued exercise or vesting of an Award or to damages or severance entitlement related to non-continuation of the Award
beyond the period provided under the Plan or any Award agreement, except to the extent of any provision to the contrary in any written
employment contract or other agreement between a member of the Combined Group and its Affiliates and the Participant, whether any such
agreement is executed before, on or after the Date of Grant.

(f)    International Participants. Without limiting the generality of Section 4(d), with respect to Participants who reside or work outside
of the United States of America and who are not (and who are not expect to be) “covered employees” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of
the Code, the Committee may in its sole discretion amend the terms of the Plan or subplans or appendices thereto, or outstanding Awards, with
respect to such Participants in order to conform such terms with the requirements of local law or to obtain more favorable tax or other
treatment for a Participant, a member of the Combined Group or its Affiliates.

(g)    Designation and Change of Beneficiary. If provided in an Award agreement or otherwise permitted by the Company, each
Participant may file with the Company a written designation of one or more persons as the beneficiary(ies) who shall be entitled to receive the
amounts payable with respect to an Award, if any, due under the Plan upon his or her death. If a beneficiary designation is permitted, a
Participant may, from time to time, revoke or change his or her beneficiary designation without the consent of any prior beneficiary by filing a
new designation with the Committee. The last such designation received by the Committee shall be controlling; provided, however, that no
designation, or change or revocation thereof, shall be
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effective unless received by the Committee prior to the Participant’s death, and in no event shall it be effective as of a date prior to such
receipt. If the Company does not allow a Participant to file a beneficiary designation in an Award Agreement or otherwise, or if a beneficiary
designation is permitted but no beneficiary designation is filed by a Participant, the beneficiary shall be determined by will or the laws of
descent and distribution. After receipt of Options in accordance with this paragraph, beneficiaries will only be able to exercise such Options in
accordance with Section 7(c)(ii) of this Plan.

(h)    Termination of Employment. Except as otherwise provided in an Award agreement or an employment, severance, consulting,
letter or other agreement with a Participant, unless determined otherwise by the Committee at any point following such event, neither a
temporary absence from employment or service due to illness, vacation or leave of absence (including, without limitation, a call to active duty
for military service through a Reserve or National Guard unit) nor a transfer from employment or service with a member of the Combined
Group to employment or service with another member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate (or vice-versa) shall be considered a termination
of employment or service of such Participant with a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate.

(i)    No Rights as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or any Award agreement, no person shall be
entitled to the privileges of ownership in respect of Shares which are subject to Awards hereunder until such Shares have been issued or
delivered to that person.

(j)    Government and Other Regulations. (i) The obligation of the Company to settle Awards in Shares or other consideration shall be
subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by governmental agencies as may be required. Notwithstanding any
terms or conditions of any Award to the contrary, the Company shall be under no obligation to offer to sell or to sell, and shall be prohibited
from offering to sell or selling, any Shares pursuant to an Award unless such shares have been properly registered for sale pursuant to the
Securities Act with the Securities and Exchange Commission or unless the Company has received an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to the
Company, that such shares may be offered or sold without such registration pursuant to an available exemption therefrom and the terms and
conditions of such exemption have been fully complied with. The Company shall be under no obligation to register for sale under the
Securities Act any Shares to be offered or sold under the Plan. The Committee shall have the authority to provide that all Shares or other
securities of the Company or any Affiliate delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the
Committee may deem advisable under the Plan, the applicable Award agreement, the Federal securities laws, or the rules, regulations and
other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the
securities of the Company are listed or quoted and any other applicable Federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws, rules, regulations and other
requirements, and, without limiting the generality of Section 9 of the Plan, the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on
certificates representing Shares or other securities of the Company or any Affiliate delivered under the Plan to make appropriate reference to
such restrictions or may cause such Shares or other securities of the Company or any Affiliate delivered under the Plan in book-entry form to
be held subject to the Company’s instructions or subject to appropriate stop-transfer orders. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the
contrary, the Committee reserves the right to add any additional terms or provisions to any Award granted under the Plan
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that it in its sole discretion deems necessary or advisable in order that such Award complies with the legal requirements of any governmental
entity to whose jurisdiction the Award is subject.

(ii)    The Committee may cancel an Award or any portion thereof if it determines, in its sole discretion, that legal or
contractual restrictions and/or blockage and/or other market considerations would make the Company’s acquisition of Shares from the public
markets, the Company’s issuance of Shares to the Participant, the Participant’s acquisition of Shares from the Company and/or the Participant’s
sale of Shares to the public markets, illegal, impracticable or inadvisable. If the Committee determines to cancel all or any portion of an Award
in accordance with the foregoing, the Company shall pay to the Participant an amount equal to the excess of (A) the aggregate Fair Market
Value of the shares of Shares subject to such Award or portion thereof canceled (determined as of the applicable exercise date, or the date that
the shares would have been vested or delivered, as applicable), over (B) the aggregate Exercise Price (in the case of an Option) or any amount
payable as a condition of delivery of Shares (in the case of any other Award). Such amount shall be delivered to the Participant as soon as
practicable following the cancellation of such Award or portion thereof.

(k)    No Section 83(b) Elections Without Consent of Company. No election under Section 83(b) of the Code or under a similar
provision of law may be made unless expressly permitted by the terms of the applicable Award agreement or by action of the Committee in
writing prior to the making of such election. If a Participant, in connection with the acquisition of Shares under the Plan or otherwise, is
expressly permitted to make such election and the Participant makes the election, the Participant shall notify the Company of such election
within ten days of filing notice of the election with the Internal Revenue Service or other governmental authority, in addition to any filing and
notification required pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code or other applicable provision.

(l)    Payments to Persons Other Than Participants. If the Committee shall find that any person to whom any amount is payable under
the Plan is unable to care for his or her affairs because of illness or accident, or is a minor, or has died, then any payment due to such person or
his or her estate (unless a prior claim therefor has been made by a duly appointed legal representative or a beneficiary designation form has
been filed with the Company) may, if the Committee so directs the Company, be paid to his or her spouse, child, relative, an institution
maintaining or having custody of such person, or any other person deemed by the Committee to be a proper recipient on behalf of such person
otherwise entitled to payment. Any such payment shall be a complete discharge of the liability of the Committee and the Company therefor.

(m)    Nonexclusivity of the Plan. Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Board nor the submission of this Plan to the stockholders of
the Company for approval shall be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board to adopt such other incentive arrangements
as it may deem desirable, including, without limitation, the granting of stock options otherwise than under this Plan, and such arrangements
may be either applicable generally or only in specific cases.

(n)    No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any
kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company or any Affiliate, on the one hand, and a Participant or other person or entity, on the other
hand. No provision of the Plan or any Award shall require the Company, for the purpose of satisfying any obligations under the Plan, to
purchase assets or place any assets in a trust or
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other entity to which contributions are made or otherwise to segregate any assets, nor shall the Company maintain separate bank accounts,
books, records or other evidence of the existence of a segregated or separately maintained or administered fund for such purposes. Participants
shall have no rights under the Plan other than as unsecured general creditors of the Company, except that insofar as they may have become
entitled to payment of additional compensation by performance of services, they shall have the same rights as other employees under general
law.

(o)    Reliance on Reports. Each member of the Committee and each member of the Board shall be fully justified in acting or failing to
act, as the case may be, and shall not be liable for having so acted or failed to act in good faith, in reliance upon any report made by the
independent public accountant of the Combined Group and its Affiliates and/or any other information furnished in connection with the Plan by
any agent of the Combined Group or the Committee or the Board, other than himself.

(p)    Relationship to Other Benefits. No payment under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any benefits under any
pension, retirement, profit sharing, group insurance or other benefit plan of the Combined Group except as otherwise specifically provided in
such other plan.

(q)    Purchase for Investment. Whether or not the Options and Shares covered by the Plan have been registered under the Securities
Act, each person exercising an Option under the Plan may be required by the Company to give a representation in writing that such person is
acquiring such Shares for investment and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, the distribution of any part thereof. The Company
will endorse any necessary legend referring to the foregoing restriction upon the certificate or certificates representing any Shares issued or
transferred to the Participant upon the exercise of any Option granted under the Plan.

(r)    Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Florida without
regard to the principles of conflicts of law thereof, or principles of conflicts of laws of any other jurisdiction which could cause the application
of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Florida.

(s)    Severability. If any provision of the Plan or any Award or Award agreement is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction or as to any person or entity or Award, or would disqualify the Plan or any Award under any law deemed
applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform to the applicable laws, or if it cannot be
construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee, materially altering the intent of the Plan or the Award, such
provision shall be construed or deemed stricken as to such jurisdiction, person or entity or Award and the remainder of the Plan and any such
Award shall remain in full force and effect.

(t)    Obligations Binding on Successors. The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be binding upon any successor
corporation or organization resulting from the merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor
corporation or organization succeeding to substantially all of the assets and business of the Company.

(u)    409A of the Code. (i) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, it is intended that the provisions of this Plan
comply with Section 409A of the Code, and all provisions of this Plan shall be construed and interpreted in a manner consistent with the
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requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code. Each Participant is solely responsible and liable for the
satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may be imposed on or in respect of such Participant in connection with this Plan or any other plan
maintained by the Company (including any taxes and penalties under Section 409A of the Code), and neither any member of the Combined
Group nor any Affiliate shall have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold such Participant (or any beneficiary) harmless from any or all
of such taxes or penalties. With respect to any Award that is considered “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Code,
references in the Plan to “termination of employment” (and substantially similar phrases) shall mean “separation from service” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each payment that may be made in respect of any Award
granted under the Plan is designated as a separate payment.

(ii)    Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, if a Participant is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, no payments in respect of any Awards that are “deferred compensation” subject to Section
409A of the Code shall be made to such Participant prior to the date that is six months after the date of such Participant’s “separation from
service” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code) or, if earlier, the Participant’s date of death. Following any applicable six month delay, all
such delayed payments will be paid in a single lump sum on the earliest date permitted under Section 409A of the Code that is also a business
day.

(iii)    Unless otherwise provided by the Committee, in the event that the timing of payments in respect of any Award
(that would otherwise be considered “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Code) would be accelerated upon the occurrence
of (A) a Change of Control, no such acceleration shall be permitted unless the event giving rise to the Change of Control satisfies the definition
of a change in the ownership or effective control of a corporation, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of a
corporation pursuant to Section 409A of the Code and any Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder or (B) a Disability, no such
acceleration shall be permitted unless the Disability also satisfies the definition of “Disability” pursuant to Section 409A of the Code and any
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

(v)    Clawback/Forfeiture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, an Award agreement may provide that the
Committee may in its sole discretion cancel such Award if the Participant, without the consent of a member of the Combined Group, while
employed by or providing services to a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate or after termination of such employment or service,
violates a non-competition, non-solicitation or non-disclosure covenant or agreement or otherwise has engaged in or engages in Detrimental
Activity that is in conflict with or adverse to the interest of a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate, including fraud or conduct
contributing to any financial restatements or irregularities, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee may also
provide in an Award agreement that if the Participant otherwise has engaged in or engages in any activity referred to in the preceding sentence,
the Participant will forfeit any gain realized on the vesting or exercise of such Award, and must repay the gain to the Company. The
Committee may also provide in an Award agreement that if the Participant receives any amount in excess of what the Participant should have
received under the terms of the Award for any reason (including without limitation by reason of a financial restatement, mistake in calculations
or other administrative error), then the Participant shall be required to repay any such excess amount to the Company.
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(w)    Code Section 162(m) Re-approval. If so determined by the Committee, the provisions of the Plan regarding Performance
Compensation Awards shall be submitted for re-approval by the stockholders of the Company no later than the first stockholder meeting that
occurs in the fifth year following the year in which stockholders previously approved such provisions, in each case for purposes of exempting
certain Awards granted after such time from the deduction limitations of Section 162(m) of the Code. Nothing in this subsection, however,
shall affect the validity of Awards granted after such time if such stockholder approval has not been obtained.

(x)    Expenses; Gender; Titles and Headings. The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company and its
Affiliates. Masculine pronouns and other words of masculine gender shall refer to both men and women. The titles and headings of the
sections in the Plan are for convenience of reference only, and in the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than such titles or
headings shall control.

Approved by Board: January 28, 2011
Approved by Shareholders: April 13, 2011
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
CARNIVAL PLC 2014 EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN

(Approved by Shareholders April 17, 2014; amended by the Board of Directors October 17, 2016, amended by the
Compensation Committee on July 17, 2018 and amended by the Board of Directors April 17, 2019) 

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Carnival plc 2014 Employee Share Plan is to provide a means through which the members of the plc
Group may attract and retain key personnel, and to provide a means whereby employees and executive directors of members of the plc Group
can acquire and maintain an interest in Shares, or be paid incentive compensation, measured by reference to the value of Shares, thereby
strengthening their commitment to the welfare of members of the plc Group and aligning their interests with those of the holders of Shares. It is
intended that the Plan will be an employees’ share scheme within the meaning of section 1166 of the Companies Act 2006.

2.    Definitions. The following definitions shall be applicable throughout the Plan:

(a)    “ADRs” means American Depositary Receipts evidencing American Depositary Shares deposited by the Company with a
depositary pursuant to a depositary agreement.

(b)    “Affiliate” means (i) any person or entity that directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with
the Company or Carnival Corporation and/or (ii) to the extent provided by the Committee, any person or entity in which the Company or
Carnival Corporation has a significant interest.

(c)    “Approved Option” means an Option granted under the HMRC approved share plan contained in the Appendix to this Plan.

(d)    “Award” means, individually or collectively, any Incentive Stock Option, Nonqualified Stock Option, Unapproved Option,
Approved Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Unit and Other Share-Based Award granted under the Plan.

(e)     “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company (or any duly appointed committee thereof).

(f)    “Capital Reorganisation” means any variation in the share capital or reserves of the Company (including, without limitation, by
way of capitalisation issue, rights issue, sub-division, consolidation, or reduction).

(g)    “Carnival Corporation” means Carnival Corporation, a corporation organised under the laws of the Republic of Panama and any
successor thereto.

(h)     “Cause” means, in the case of a particular Award, unless the applicable Award agreement states otherwise:
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(i)     a member of the plc Group having “cause” to terminate a Participant’s employment, as defined in any employment or
other agreement between the Participant and the plc Group in effect at the time of such termination; or

(ii)     in the absence of any such employment or other agreement (or the absence of any definition of “cause” or term of similar
import therein):

(A)     the Participant has failed to reasonably perform his or her duties to the plc Group, or has failed to follow the
lawful instructions of the Board or his or her direct superiors, in each case other than as a result of his or her incapacity
due to physical or mental illness or injury, that could reasonably be expected to result in harm (whether financially,
reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group;

(B)     the Participant has engaged or is about to engage in conduct harmful (whether financially, reputationally or
otherwise) to the Combined Group;

(C)     the Participant having been convicted of, or pleaded guilty to, a crime involving as a material element fraud or
dishonesty;

(D)     the wilful misconduct or gross neglect of the Participant that could reasonably be expected to result in harm
(whether financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group;

(E)     the wilful violation by the Participant of the Combined Group’s written policies that could reasonably be
expected to result in harm (whether financially, reputationally or otherwise) to the Combined Group;

(F)     the Participant’s fraud or misappropriation, embezzlement or misuse of funds or property belonging to the
Combined Group (other than good faith expense account disputes);

(G)     the Participant’s act of personal dishonesty which involves personal profit in connection with the Participant’s
employment with the plc Group; or

(H)     the wilful breach by the Participant of fiduciary duty owed to the plc Group,

provided, however, that the Participant shall be provided a 10-day period to cure any of the events or occurrences
described in the immediately preceding clause (A) hereof, to the extent capable of cure during such 10-day period.
References in the preceding sentence to the “plc Group” or to the “Combined Group” shall be deemed to refer to any
member of the plc Group or the Combined Group, as the case may be. Any determination of whether Cause exists shall
be made by the Committee in its sole discretion.
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(i)    “Change of Control” shall, in the case of a particular Award, unless the applicable Award agreement states otherwise or contains a
different definition of “Change of Control,” be deemed to occur upon:

(i)    a person (either alone or together with any person acting in concert with him) obtaining Control of the Company
as a result of a general offer or otherwise for the whole of the share capital of the Company (other than those shares which are already
owned by him and/or any person acting in concert with him);

(ii)    a person (either alone or together with any person acting in concert with him) acquiring 50% or more (on a fully
diluted basis) of either:

(a)    the then outstanding Shares taking into account as outstanding for this purpose such Shares as are issuable upon
the exercise of options or warrants, the conversion of convertible shares or debt and the exercise of any similar right to
acquire such Shares (the “Outstanding Shares”); or

(b)    the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting shares or securities of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”);

and for the purposes of this Plan an event falling within sub-paragraphs (i) or (ii) of this definition shall be referred to as an
Acquisition; provided, however, that for purposes of this Plan, the following Acquisitions shall not constitute a Change of Control:

(A)    any acquisition by the Company or any Affiliate;

(B)    any acquisition by any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the Company or any Affiliate;

(C)    any acquisition by Marilyn B. Arison, Micky Arison, Shari Arison, Michael Arison or their spouses or lineal
descendents, any trust established for the benefit of any of the aforementioned Arison family members, or any person
directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with any of the aforementioned Arison family
members or any trust established for the benefit of any of the aforementioned Arison family members or any charitable
trust or non-profit entity established by any person or entity described in this sub-paragraph (C);

(D)    any acquisition by any person which falls within the proviso to paragraph (v) below or sub-paragraphs (A), (B)
or (C) of paragraph (vii) below; or

(E)     in respect of an Award held by a particular Participant, any acquisition by the Participant or any group of persons
including the Participant (or any entity controlled by the Participant or any group of persons including the Participant)
(persons described in clauses (A), (B), (C), (D) and (E) being referred to hereafter as “Excluded Persons”);
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(iii)    individuals who, during any consecutive 12-month period, constitute the Board (the “Incumbent Directors”)
cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided that any person becoming a director subsequent to the date
hereof, whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the Incumbent Directors then on the
Board (either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement or annual report and accounts of the Company in which such
person is nominated for election by shareholders, without written objection to such nomination) shall be an Incumbent Director and for
the purposes of this Plan an event falling within this sub-paragraph (iii) shall be referred to as a Board Change;

(iv)    a person becoming entitled or required under sections 979 to 985 of the Companies Act 2006 to acquire Shares
(a “Compulsory Acquisition Procedure”);

(v)    a Court directing that a meeting of the holders of Shares be convened pursuant to section 896 of the Companies
Act 2006 for the purposes of considering a scheme of arrangement of the Company or its amalgamation with any other company or
companies and the scheme of arrangement being approved by the shareholders’ meeting or sanctioned by the Court (as the Committee
may determine) (the “Relevant Condition”) provided, however, that the Committee may determine that the scheme of arrangement
shall not constitute a Change of Control if the purpose and effect of the scheme of arrangement is to create a new holding company for
the Company, such company having substantially the same shareholders with the same proportionate shareholdings as the Company
had immediately prior to the scheme of arrangement, and for the purposes of this Plan an event falling within this sub- paragraph (v)
shall be referred to as a Scheme of Arrangement;

(vi)    notice being duly given of a resolution for the voluntary winding-up of the Company (a “Voluntary Winding
Up”);

(vii)    the completion of a reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, share exchange or similar form of
corporate transaction involving the Company (a “Business Combination”), or sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all
of the business or assets of the Company to an entity that is not an Affiliate of the Company (a “Sale”), that in each case requires the
approval of the Company’s shareholders (whether for such Business Combination or Sale or the issue of securities in such Business
Combination or Sale), unless immediately following such Business Combination or Sale:

(A)     more than 50% of the total voting power of (x) the entity resulting from such Business Combination or the entity
which has acquired all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company in a Sale (in either case, the
“Surviving Company”), or (y) if applicable, the ultimate parent entity that directly or indirectly has beneficial
ownership of sufficient voting securities eligible to elect a majority of the board of directors (or the analogous
governing body) of the Surviving Company (the “Parent Company”), is represented by the Outstanding Company
Voting Securities that were outstanding immediately prior to such Business Combination or Sale (or, if applicable, is
represented by shares into which the Outstanding Company Voting Securities were
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converted pursuant to such Business Combination or Sale), and such voting power among the holders thereof is in
substantially the same proportion as the voting power of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities among the
holders thereof immediately prior to the Business Combination or Sale;

(B)     no Person (other than any Excluded Person or any employee benefit plan sponsored or maintained by the
Surviving Company or the Parent Company), is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more
of the total voting power of the outstanding voting securities eligible to elect members of the board of directors (or the
analogous governing body) of the Parent Company (or, if there is no Parent Company, the Surviving Company); and

(C)     at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or the analogous governing body) of the Parent
Company (or, if there is no Parent Company, the Surviving Company) following the completion of the Business
Combination or Sale were Board members at the time of the Board’s approval of the execution of the initial agreement
providing for such Business Combination or Sale,

and for the purposes of this Plan a transaction falling within this sub-paragraph (vii) shall be referred to as a Corporate Transaction.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may determine that a transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which (x) the Company is
acquired by or otherwise becomes a subsidiary of or merges, consolidates or amalgamates with Carnival Corporation or (y) Carnival
Corporation is acquired by or otherwise becomes a subsidiary of or merges, consolidates or amalgamates with the Company, shall not be a
Change of Control.

(j)    “Code” means the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan to any
section of the Code shall be deemed to include any regulations or other interpretative guidance under such section, and any amendments or
successor provisions to such section, regulations or guidance.

(k)    “Combined Group” means the Company and Carnival Corporation.

(l)    “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or subcommittee thereof or, if no such Compensation Committee
or subcommittee thereof exists, the Board. Unless the Board determines otherwise, each member of the Committee shall, at the time he takes
any action with respect to an Award under the Plan, be an Eligible Director. However, the mere fact that a Committee member shall fail to
qualify as an Eligible Director shall not invalidate any Award which is otherwise validly granted under the Plan.

(m)    “Company” means Carnival plc, a company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales.

(n)    The term “Control” (including, with correlative meaning, the terms “controlled by” and “under common Control with”), as
applied to any person or entity, means the
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possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person or entity,
whether through the ownership of voting or other securities, by contract or otherwise.

(o)    “Date of Grant” means the date on which the granting of an Award is authorised, or such other date as may be specified in such
authorization or, if there is no such date, the date indicated on the applicable Award agreement.

(p)    “Dealing Day” means any day on which the London Stock Exchange is open for the transaction of business.

(q)    “Detrimental Activity” means any of the following: (i) unauthorised disclosure of any confidential or proprietary information of
the Combined Group, (ii) any activity that would be grounds to terminate the Participant’s employment with the Combined Group for Cause,
(iii) whether in writing or orally, maligning, denigrating or disparaging the Combined Group or their respective predecessors and successors,
or any of the current or former directors, officers, employees, shareholders, partners, members, agents or representatives of any of the
foregoing, with respect to any of their respective past or present activities, or otherwise publishing (whether in writing or orally) statements
that tend to portray any of the aforementioned persons or entities in an unfavorable light, or (iv) the breach of any noncompetition,
nonsolicitation or other agreement containing restrictive covenants, with the Combined Group. For purposes of the preceding sentence the
phrase “the Combined Group” shall mean “any member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate”.

(r)    “Disability” means, unless in the case of a particular Award the applicable Award agreement states otherwise, a member of the
Combined Group or an Affiliate having cause to terminate a Participant’s employment on account of “disability,” as defined in any then-
existing employment or other similar agreement between the Participant and a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate or, in the
absence of such an employment or other similar agreement, a Participant’s total disability as defined below and (in the case of a US
Participant to the extent required by Code Section 409A) determined in a manner consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations
thereunder:

(i)    The Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable
physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than
12 months.

(ii)    A Participant will be deemed to have suffered a Disability if determined to be totally disabled by the relevant
social security authority. In addition, the Participant will be deemed to have suffered a Disability if determined to be disabled in
accordance with a disability insurance program maintained by the Company.

(s)    “Discretionary Share Plan” means an Employee Share Plan in which participation is solely at the discretion of the Board or the
Committee.

(t)    “Effective Date” means [               ] 2014, if the Plan is approved by the shareholders of the Company at the annual meeting of
shareholders held on such day.
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(u)    “Eligible Director” means a person who is (i) a “non‑employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b‑3 under the Exchange
Act and (ii) an “independent director” under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation
system on which the Shares are listed or quoted, or a person meeting any similar requirement under any successor rule or regulation.

(v)    “Employee” means any employee (including an executive director) of a member of the plc Group whose terms of service require
him to devote substantially the whole of his working time to the affairs of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate.

(w)    “Employee Share Plan” means any share option plan or other employees’ share incentive plan established by the Company.

(x)    “Exchange Act” means the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan
to any section of (or rule promulgated under) the Exchange Act shall be deemed to include any rules, regulations or other interpretative
guidance under such section or rule, and any amendments or successor provisions to such section, rules, regulations or guidance.

(y)    “Exercise Price” has the meaning given such term in Section 7(c) of the Plan.

(z)    “Fair Market Value” means, on a given date:

(i)    for so long as the Shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange, the closing middle market quotation
for a Share as derived from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange for that day; or

(ii)    subject to (i) above, its market value determined in accordance with Part VIII of the Taxation of
Chargeable Gains Act 1992 and in the case of any Award under which Shares are to be issued, the nominal value of a
Share.

(aa)    “HMRC” means H.M. Revenue & Customs.

(bb)    “ICTA” means the United Kingdom Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

(cc)    “ITEPA” means the United Kingdom Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003.

(dd)    “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option granted to a US Participant in the Plan which is designated by the Committee as an
incentive stock option as described in Section 422 of the Code and otherwise meets the requirements set forth in the Plan.

(ee)    “the London Stock Exchange” means London Stock Exchange plc or any recognised investment exchange for the purposes of
the UK Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 which may take over the functions of the London Stock Exchange plc.

7



(ff)    “Model Code” means the UKLA’s Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

(gg)     “Nonqualified Stock Option” means an Option granted to a US Participant in the Plan which is not designated by the
Committee as an Incentive Stock Option.

(hh)    “Option” means an Award granted under Section 7 being either an Incentive Share Option, a Nonqualified Share Option, an
Unapproved Option or an Approved Option.

(ii)    “Option Holder” means any individual who holds a subsisting Option (including, where the context permits, the legal personal
representative of a deceased Option Holder).

(jj)    “Option Period” means such period commencing on the Date of Grant and not exceeding ten years, as the Committee may be
determine under Section 7(g) and (h) in respect of an Option or portions of an Option.

(kk)    “Other Share-Based Award” means an Award granted under Section 10 of the Plan.

(ll)    “Participant” means an Employee who pursuant to Section 5 of the Plan has been selected by the Committee to participate in the
Plan and to receive an Award.

(mm)    “Performance Criteria” shall mean the criterion or criteria that the Committee shall select for purposes of establishing the
Performance Goal(s) for a Performance Period with respect to any Award under the Plan.

(nn)    “Performance Goals” shall mean, for a Performance Period, the one or more goals established by the Committee for the
Performance Period based upon the Performance Criteria.

(oo)    “Performance Period” shall mean the one or more periods of time of not less than 12 months, as the Committee may select,
over which the attainment of one or more Performance Goals will be measured for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to, and the
payment of an Award.

(pp)    “Person” has the meaning given such term in the definition of “Change of Control”.

(qq)    “Plan” means this Carnival PLC 2014 Employee Share Plan, as amended.

(rr)    “the plc Group” means the Company and the Subsidiaries and member of the plc Group shall be construed accordingly.

(ss)    “Registered Holder” means any person or persons nominated by the Committee to hold Restricted Shares on behalf of a
Participant.

(tt)    “Released Unit” shall have the meaning given such term in Section 9(g).
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(uu)    “Restricted Period” means the period of time determined by the Committee during which an Award is subject to restrictions or,
as applicable, the period of time within which performance is measured for purposes of determining whether an Award has been earned.

(vv)    “Restricted Shares” means Shares, subject to forfeiture and certain specified restrictions (including, without limitation, a
requirement that the Participant remain continuously employed or provide continuous services for a specified period of time), granted under
Section 9 of the Plan.

(ww)    “Restricted Share Unit” means an unfunded and unsecured promise to deliver Shares, cash, other securities or other property,
subject to certain restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that the Participant remain continuously employed or provide
continuous services for a specified period of time), granted under Section 9 of the Plan.

(xx)    “Retirement” means a termination of employment with a member of the Combined Group and all Affiliates by a Participant on
or after the Participant’s Retirement Age.

(yy)    “Retirement Age” means, unless determined otherwise by the Committee, attainment of the earlier of (i) age 65 with at least
five years of employment with a member of the Combined Group and/or its Affiliates or (ii) age 60 with at least 15 years of employment with
a member of the Combined Group and/or its Affiliates.

(zz)    “SAR Period” has the meaning given such term in Section 8(c) of the Plan.

(aaa)    “Securities Act” means the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any successor thereto. Reference in the Plan to any
section of (or rule promulgated under) the Securities Act shall be deemed to include any rules, regulations or other interpretative guidance
under such section or rule, and any amendments or successor provisions to such section, rules, regulations or guidance.

(bbb)    “Shares” means fully paid and irredeemable ordinary shares in the capital of the Company or shares representing those shares
following any Capital Reorganisation. References to Shares in relation to the granting, operation or satisfaction of any Award include, if the
Committee so decides, reference to ADRs.

(ccc)    “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means an Award granted under Section 8 of the Plan.

(ddd)    “Strike Price” has the meaning given such term in Section 8(b) of the Plan.

(eee)    “Subsidiary” means any subsidiary of the Company, as defined in Section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006, of which the
Company has Control.

(fff)    “Substitute Award” has the meaning given such term in Section 5(c).

(ggg)    “UKLA” means the United Kingdom Listing Authority.

(hhh)    “Unapproved Option” means an Option granted to a Participant other than a US Participant under the Plan which is not
designated by the Committee as an Approved Option.
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(iii)    “US Participant” means a Participant who is a US citizen or US tax resident subject to taxation in the United States.

3.    Effective Date; Duration and Shareholder Approval. The Plan shall be effective as of the Effective Date. The expiration date of the
Plan, on and after which date no Awards may be granted hereunder, shall be the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, that
such expiration shall not affect Awards then outstanding, and the terms and conditions of the Plan shall continue to apply to such Awards.

4.    Administration. (a) The Committee shall administer the Plan. The majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum.
The acts of a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present or acts approved in writing by a majority of the
Committee shall be deemed the acts of the Committee. To the extent required to comply with the provisions of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under
the Exchange Act (if the Board is not acting as the Committee under the Plan), or any exception or exemption under the rules of the London
Stock Exchange or any other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Shares (or ADRs or common stock of Carnival
Corporation) are listed or quoted, as applicable, it is intended that each member of the Committee shall, at the time he or she takes any action
with respect to an Award under the Plan, be an Eligible Director. However, the fact that a Committee member shall fail to qualify as an Eligible
Director shall not invalidate any Award granted or action taken by the Committee that is otherwise validly granted or taken under the Plan.

(b)    Subject to the provisions of the Plan and applicable law, the Committee shall have the sole and plenary authority, in addition to
other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Committee by the Plan, to:

(i)     designate Participants;

(ii)     determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to a Participant;

(iii)     determine the number of Shares to be covered by, or with respect to which payments, rights or other
matters are to be calculated in connection with, Awards;

(iv)     determine the terms and conditions of any Award;

(v)     determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances Awards may be settled or exercised in
cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property or cancelled, forfeited or suspended, and the method or
methods by which Awards may be settled, exercised, canceled, forfeited or suspended;

(vi)     determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances the delivery of cash, Shares, other
securities, other Awards or other property and other amounts payable with respect to an Award shall be deferred, either
automatically or at the election of the Participant or the Committee;
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(vii)     interpret, administer, reconcile any inconsistency in, correct any defect in and/or supply any omission
in the Plan and any instrument or agreement relating to, or Award granted under, the Plan;

(viii)     establish, amend, suspend or waive any rules and regulations and appoint such agents as the
Committee shall deem appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan; and

(ix)     make any other determination and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or
desirable for the administration of the Plan.

(c)    Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law or the applicable rules and regulations of any securities exchange or inter-
dealer quotation system on which the Shares or any successor securities of the Company are listed or traded, the Committee may allocate all
or any portion of its responsibilities and powers to any one or more of its members and may delegate all or any part of its responsibilities and
powers to any person or persons selected by it. Any such allocation or delegation may be revoked by the Committee at any time. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee may delegate to one or more officers of any member of the Combined Group or any
Affiliate the authority to act on behalf of the Committee with respect to any matter, right, obligation or election which is the responsibility of
or which is allocated to the Committee herein, and which may be so delegated as a matter of law.

(d)    The Committee shall have the authority to amend the Plan (including by the adaptation of appendices or subplans) and/or the
terms and conditions relating to an Award to the extent necessary to permit participation in the Plan by Employees who are located outside of
the United Kingdom on terms and conditions comparable to those afforded to Employees located within the United Kingdom; provided,
however, that no such action shall be taken without shareholder approval if such approval is necessary to comply with any tax or regulatory
requirement applicable to the Plan.

(e)    Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, all designations, determinations, interpretations and other decisions under or
with respect to the Plan or any Award or any documents evidencing Awards granted pursuant to the Plan shall be within the sole discretion of
the Committee, may be made at any time and shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons or entities, including, without limitation,
each member of the Combined Group, each Affiliate, any Participant, any holder or beneficiary of any Award and any shareholder.

(f)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, the Board may, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time
to time, grant Awards and administer the Plan with respect to such Awards. Any such actions by the Board shall be subject to the applicable
rules of the London Stock Exchange or any other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the Shares are listed or
quoted. In any such case, the Board shall have all the authority granted to the Committee under the Plan.

5.    Grant of Awards; Shares Subject to the Plan; Limitations. (a) The Committee may from time to time grant Options, Stock
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units and/or Other Share-Based Awards to one or more Employees.
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(b)    Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to the following limitations: (i) subject to Section 11 of the Plan, grants of
Options or SARs in respect of no more than 3,000,000 Shares may be made to any individual Participant during any period of 36 consecutive
months; (ii) subject to Section 11 of the Plan, no more than 1,000,000 Shares may be delivered in respect of an Award subject to performance
conditions to any individual Participant for a single fiscal year during a Performance Period (or with respect to each single fiscal year in the
event a Performance Period extends beyond a single fiscal year), or in the event such Award subject to performance conditions is paid in cash,
other securities, other Awards or other property, no more than the Fair Market Value of such Shares on the last day of the Performance Period
to which such Award relates; and (iii) the maximum amount that can be paid to any individual Participant for a single fiscal year during a
Performance Period (or with respect to each single fiscal year in the event a Performance Period extends beyond a single fiscal year) pursuant
to an award subject to performance conditions that is denominated in cash shall be $10,000,000.

(c)    (i)    no Award to subscribe for Shares shall be granted to the extent that the aggregate number of Shares that could be issued
pursuant to that Award and any other Awards granted at the same time when added to the number of Shares that:

(a)    could be issued on the exercise or vesting of any other subsisting share options or awards granted during the
preceding ten years under the Plan or any other Employee Share Plan; and

(b)    have been issued on the exercise or vesting of any share options or awards granted during the preceding ten years
under the Plan or any other Employee Share Plan; and

(c)    have been issued during the preceding ten years under any Employee Share Plan or any profit sharing or other
employee share incentive plan established by the Company,

would exceed 10% of the ordinary share capital of the Company for the time being in issue.

(ii)    no Award to subscribe for Shares shall be granted to the extent that the aggregate number of Shares that could be issued pursuant
to that Award and any other Awards granted at the same time when added to the number of Shares that:

(a)    could be issued on the exercise or vesting of any other subsisting share options or awards granted during the
preceding ten years under the Plan or any other Discretionary Share Plan; and

(b)    have been issued on the exercise or vesting of any share options or awards granted during the preceding ten years
under the Plan or any other Discretionary Share Plan; and

(c)    have been issued during the preceding ten years under any Discretionary Share Plan established by the Company;
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would exceed 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company for the time being in issue.

(d)    Shares delivered by the Company in settlement of Awards may be authorised and unissued Shares, Shares held in the treasury of
the Company, Shares purchased on the open market or by private purchase or a combination of the foregoing.

(e)    Awards may, in the sole discretion of the Committee, be granted under the Plan in assumption of, or in substitution for,
outstanding awards previously granted by an entity directly or indirectly acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines
(“Substitute Awards”). Substitute Awards issued in connection with the assumption of, or in substitution for, outstanding options intended to
qualify as “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code shall be counted against the aggregate number of Shares
available for Awards of Incentive Stock Options under the Plan. Subject to applicable stock exchange requirements, available shares under a
shareholder approved plan of an entity directly or indirectly acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines (as appropriately
adjusted to reflect the acquisition or combination transaction) may be used for Awards under the Plan and shall not reduce the number of
Shares available for delivery under the Plan.

(f)    Any member of the plc Group may provide money to the trustees of any trust or any other person to enable them or him to
acquire Shares to be held for the purposes of the Plan, or enter into any guarantee or indemnity for those purposes, to the extent not prohibited
by section 678 of the Companies Act 2006.

6.    Eligibility. Participation shall be limited to Employees who have received written notification from the Committee or from a person
designated by the Committee, that they have been selected to participate in the Plan.

7.    Options. (a)     Generally. The Committee is authorised to grant one or more Approved Options, Unapproved Options, Incentive Share
Options or Nonqualified Share Options to any Employee. Each Option so granted shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 7
and to such other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be reflected in the applicable Award agreement.

(b)    NQSO and Incentive Options. All Options granted under the Plan to US Participants shall be Nonqualified Stock Options unless
the applicable Award agreement expressly states that the Option is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option. Incentive Stock Options shall be
granted only to US Participants who are employees of a member of the plc Group, and no Incentive Stock Option shall be granted to any
Employee who is ineligible to receive an Incentive Stock Option under the Code. No Option shall be treated as an Incentive Stock Option
unless the Plan has been approved by the shareholders of the Company in a manner intended to comply with the shareholder approval
requirements of Section 422(b)(1) of the Code, provided, that any Option intended to be an Incentive Stock Option shall not fail to be
effective solely on account of a failure to obtain such approval, but rather such Option shall be treated as a Nonqualified Stock Option unless
and until such approval is obtained. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the terms and conditions of such grant shall be subject to and
comply with such rules as may be prescribed by Section 422 of the Code. If for any reason an Option intended to be an Incentive Stock
Option (or any portion thereof) shall not qualify as an
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Incentive Stock Option, then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such Option or portion thereof shall be regarded as a Nonqualified Stock
Option appropriately granted under the Plan.

(c)    Exercise Price. The Exercise Price per Share for each Option shall be set by the Committee at the Date of Grant but shall not be
less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Date of Grant and, if the Shares are to be issued, the nominal value of a Share. Any
modification to the Exercise Price of an outstanding Option shall be subject to the prohibition on repricing set forth in the proviso to Section
13(b).

(d)    Tax conditions. An Option may be granted subject to such conditions for payment of taxation, employees’ National Insurance
contributions and employer’s National Insurance contributions liability as the Committee may determine (including without limitation the
right to sell on an Option Holder’s behalf sufficient Shares to satisfy any taxation, National Insurance or other social security contributions)
and if any condition is imposed relating to the assumption, payment or reimbursement by the Option Holder of employer’s National Insurance
contributions liability, such conditions shall comply with any applicable legislation or regulations and the Company shall be entitled to waive
in whole or in part the Option Holder’s obligation in respect of such liability.

(e)    Performance Goals. The Committee shall determine prior to the Date of Grant whether any Performance Goals shall apply to the
vesting of an Option and if so these shall be set out in the applicable Award agreement.

(f)    Model Code. The Committee shall not grant Options at any time when it would be prohibited from doing so by the Model Code
(or the Company’s dealing code).

(g)    Vesting and Expiration. Options shall vest and become exercisable in such manner and on such date or dates as the Committee
may determine at the Date of Grant and set out in a vesting schedule (a “Vesting Schedule”) in the applicable Award agreement. The
Committee may determine that an Option may vest in full on one date only or may vest partially as to different portions on different dates so
that an Option may have one Option Period or a number of Option Periods applying to determine when each portion shall vest. Subject to
Section 13, Options shall lapse on the earlier of:

(i)    the expiry of the Option Period; and

(ii)    the Option Holder being declared bankrupt or entering into any general composition with or for the benefit of his
creditors including a voluntary arrangement under the Insolvency Act 1986;

provided, however, that notwithstanding any vesting dates set by the Committee, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, accelerate the
exercisability of any Option, which acceleration shall not affect the terms and conditions of such Option other than with respect to
exercisability; provided, further, that if the Option Period (other than in the case of an Incentive Stock Option) would expire at a time when
trading in the Shares is prohibited by the Company’s insider trading policy (or Company-imposed “blackout period”), the Option Period shall
be automatically extended until the 30th day following the expiration of such prohibition; provided, however, that in no event shall the Option
Period exceed ten years from the Date of Grant or five years from the Date of Grant in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a US
Participant who on
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the Date of Grant owns share representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of share capital of the Company or any Affiliate.
If an Option is exercisable in instalments, such instalments or portions thereof which vest and become exercisable shall remain exercisable
until the Option lapses but subject to any earlier lapse provisions under Sections 7(h) and 12.

(h)    Exercise and Lapse of Options - Cessation of Employment. Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Award agreement, an
Option shall expire earlier than the end of the Option Period in the following circumstances:

(i)    If prior to the end of the Option Period, the Participant’s employment with each member of the Combined Group and all
Affiliates is terminated without Cause or by the Participant for any reason other than Retirement, the Option shall expire on the earlier of the
last day of the Option Period or the date that is three months after the date of such termination; provided, however, that any Participant whose
employment with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate is terminated and who is subsequently rehired or reengaged by a member
of the Combined Group or any Affiliate within three months following such termination and prior to the expiration of the Option shall be
treated as if his employment had not terminated. In the event of a termination described in this clause (i), the Option shall remain exercisable
by the Participant until its expiration only to the extent the Option was exercisable at the time of such termination.

(ii)    If the Participant dies or his employment is terminated on account of Disability prior to the end of the Option Period and
while still in the employment of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, or dies following a termination described in clause (i)
above but prior to the expiration of an Option, the Option shall expire on the earlier of the last day of the Option Period or the date that is one
year after the date of death or cessation on account of Disability of the Participant, as applicable. In such event, the Option shall remain
exercisable by the Participant or his or her beneficiary determined in accordance with Section 14(g), as applicable, until its expiration only to
the extent the Option was exercisable by the Participant at the time of such event.

(iii)    If the Participant ceases employment with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliates due to a termination for
Cause, the Option shall expire immediately upon such cessation of employment.

(iv)    If the Participant’s employment ceases by reason of Retirement prior to the end of the Option Period, the Option shall (i)
expire at the end of the Option Period and (ii) continue vesting in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Award agreement,
without regard to any requirement in such Vesting Schedule that the Participant remain employed with a member of the Combined Group or
an Affiliate as a condition to vesting.

(v)    If the Participant’s employment ceases on account of Disability at a time when the Participant has attained the age and
service requirements for Retirement, the Participant shall receive the better of the treatment under clause (ii) and clause (iv) above.

(vi)     For the avoidance of doubt, an Option exercisable under Sections (i) to (v) may lapse at an earlier date by virtue of
Section 12 and may not be exercised after the expiry of the Option Period.
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(vii)    For the purposes of this Section 7 a female Option Holder shall not be treated as ceasing to be an employee of a member of the
Combined Group or an Affiliate if absent from work wholly or partly because of pregnancy or confinement until she ceases to be entitled to
exercise any statutory or contractual right to return to work.

(viii)    Where any exercise of an Option under this Section 7 would be prohibited by law or the Model Code (or the Company’s dealing
rules) the period during which the Option Holder may exercise his Options shall be extended by an additional period equal to the length of the
period of prohibition but not beyond the expiry of the Option Period.

(i)    Other Terms and Conditions. Each Option granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement. Immediately prior
to the granting of any Options, the Committee may, in its absolute discretion, enter into a deed poll recording its intention to be bound by the
share option certificates to be issued to the Option Holder in respect of such Option. Except as specifically provided otherwise in an Award
agreement, each Option granted under the Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:

(i)    Each Option or portion thereof that is exercisable shall be exercisable for the full amount or for any part thereof.

(ii)    Each Share acquired through the exercise of an Option shall be treated as fully paid up at the time of issue or transfer.
Each Option shall cease to be exercisable, as to any Share, when the Participant purchases the Share or when the Option expires.

(iii)    Options shall not be transferable by the Participant except by will or the laws of descent and distribution and shall be
exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant.

(iv)    each Option shall vest and become exercisable by the Participant in accordance with the Vesting Schedule established by
the Committee and set forth in the Award agreement;

(v)    at the time of any exercise of an Option, a Participant must take whatever action is reasonably required by the Committee
to ensure compliance with applicable securities laws; and

(vi)    Except as specifically provided otherwise in an Award agreement, any Participant who is classified as a “shipboard
employee,” and who has not otherwise evidenced a specific intent to permanently terminate his employment with each member of the
Combined Group and all Affiliates (as reasonably determined by the Committee) shall not be considered to have terminated
employment with each member of the Combined Group and all Affiliates until a six-month period has expired from his signing off of a
ship without physically signing on to another ship.

(j)    Method of Exercise and Form of Payment. No Shares shall be delivered pursuant to any exercise of an Option until payment in
full of the Exercise Price therefore is received by the Company or the Participant has made arrangements acceptable to the Company for the
payment of the Option Price. Options which have become exercisable may be exercised by delivery of written notice (or electronic notice or
telephonic instructions to the extent provided by the Committee) of exercise to the Company or its designee (including a third party
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administrator) in accordance with the terms of the Option accompanied by payment of, or an understanding to pay, the Exercise Price. The
Exercise Price shall be payable (i) in cash, check, cash equivalent and/or Shares valued at the Fair Market Value at the time the Option is
exercised (including, pursuant to procedures approved by the Committee, by means of attestation of ownership of a sufficient number of
Shares in lieu of actual delivery of such shares to the Company or such other method as determined by the Committee); provided, that such
Shares are not subject to any pledge or other security interest; or (ii) by such other method as the Committee may permit in its sole discretion,
including without limitation: (A) in other property having a fair market value on the date of exercise equal to the Exercise Price or (B) if there
is a public market for the Shares at such time, by means of a broker-assisted “cashless exercise” pursuant to which the Company is delivered
(including telephonically to the extent permitted by the Committee) a copy of irrevocable instructions to a stockbroker to sell the Shares
otherwise deliverable upon the exercise of the Option and to deliver promptly to the Company an amount equal to the Exercise Price or (C) a
“net exercise” procedure effected by withholding the minimum number of Shares otherwise deliverable in respect of an Option that are
needed to pay the Exercise Price and all applicable required withholding taxes.

(k)    Notification upon Disqualifying Disposition of an Incentive Stock Option. Each Participant awarded an Incentive Stock Option
under the Plan shall notify the Company in writing immediately after the date he or she makes a disqualifying disposition of any Shares
acquired pursuant to the exercise of such Incentive Stock Option. A disqualifying disposition is any disposition (including, without limitation,
any sale) of such Shares before the later of (A) two years after the Date of Grant of the Incentive Stock Option or (B) one year after the date
of exercise of the Incentive Stock Option. The Company may, if determined by the Committee and in accordance with procedures established
by the Committee, retain possession, as agent for the applicable Participant, of any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Incentive
Stock Option until the end of the period described in the preceding sentence, subject to complying with any instructions from such Participant
as to the sale of such Share.

(l)    Compliance With Laws, etc. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall a Participant be permitted to exercise an Option in
a manner which the Committee determines would violate any applicable law or the applicable rules and regulations of the London Stock
Exchange or the UKLA or of any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the securities of the Company are listed or
traded.

(m)    Incentive Stock Option Grants to 10% Shareholders. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 7, if an Incentive
Stock Option is granted to a Participant who owns shares representing more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of share capital
of the Company or of a Subsidiary or a parent of the Company, the Option Period shall not exceed five years from the Date of Grant of such
Option and the Option Price shall be at least 110 percent of the Fair Market Value (on the Date of Grant) of the Shares subject to the Option.

(n)    $100,000 Per Year Limitation for Incentive Stock Options. To the extent the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the
Date of Grant) of Shares for which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by any Participant during any calendar year
(under all plans of the Company) exceeds $100,000, such excess Incentive Stock Options shall be treated as Nonqualified Stock Options.
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8.    Stock Appreciation Rights. (a) Generally. Each SAR granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement. Each SAR so
granted shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 8, and to such other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as may be
reflected in the applicable Award agreement. Any Option granted under the Plan may include tandem SARs. The Committee also may award
SARs to Employees independent of any Option.

(b)    Strike Price. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee in the case of Substitute Awards, the strike price (“Strike Price”) per
Share for each SAR shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of such share (determined as of the Date of Grant). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, a SAR granted in tandem with (or in substitution for) an Option previously granted shall have a Strike Price equal to the Exercise
Price of the corresponding Option. Any modification to the Strike Price of an outstanding SAR shall be subject to the prohibition on repricing
set forth in Section 13(b).

(c)    Vesting and Expiration. A SAR granted in connection with an Option shall become exercisable and shall expire according to the
same vesting schedule and expiration provisions as the corresponding Option. A SAR granted independent of an Option shall vest and
become exercisable and shall expire in such manner and on such date or dates determined by the Committee and shall expire after such
period, not to exceed ten years, as may be determined by the Committee (the “SAR Period”); provided, that if the SAR Period would expire at
a time when trading in the Shares is prohibited by a member of the Combined Group’s insider trading policy (or a member of the Combined
Group’s-imposed “blackout period”), the SAR Period shall be automatically extended until the 30th day following the expiration of such
prohibition.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Award agreement, a SAR shall expire earlier than the end of the SAR Period in the
following circumstances:

(i)    If prior to the end of the SAR Period, the Participant’s employment with each member of the Combined Group and all
Affiliates is terminated without Cause or by the Participant for any reason other than Retirement, the SAR shall expire on the earlier of the last
day of the SAR Period or the date that is three months after the date of such termination; provided, however, that any Participant whose
employment with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate is terminated and who is subsequently rehired or reengaged by a member
of the Combined Group or any Affiliate within three months following such termination and prior to the expiration of the SAR shall be treated
as if his employment had not terminated. In the event of a termination described in this clause (i), the SAR shall remain exercisable by the
Participant until its expiration only to the extent the SAR was exercisable at the time of such termination.

(ii)    If the Participant dies or his employment is terminated on account of Disability prior to the end of the SAR Period and
while still in the employment of a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, or dies following a termination described in clause (i)
above but prior to the expiration of an SAR, the SAR shall expire on the earlier of the last day of the SAR Period or the date that is one year
after the date of death or cessation on account of Disability of the Participant, as applicable. In such event, the SAR shall remain exercisable
by the Participant or his or her beneficiary determined in accordance with Section 14(g), as applicable, until its expiration only to the extent
the SAR was exercisable by the Participant at the time of such event.
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(iii)    If the Participant ceases employment with a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliates due to a termination for
Cause, the SAR shall expire immediately upon such cessation of employment.

(iv)    If the Participant’s employment ceases by reason of Retirement prior to the end of the SAR Period, the SAR shall (i)
expire at the end of the SAR Period and (ii) continue vesting in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Award agreement,
without regard to any requirement in such Vesting Schedule that the Participant remain employed with a member of the Combined Group or
an Affiliate as a condition to vesting.

(v)    If the Participant’s employment ceases on account of Disability at a time when the Participant has attained the age and
service requirements for Retirement, the Participant shall receive the better of the treatment under clause (ii) and clause (iv) above.

(d)    Method of Exercise. SARs which have become exercisable may be exercised by delivery of written notice (or electronic notice or
telephonic instructions to the extent provided by the Committee) of exercise to the Company or its designee (including a third party
administrator) in accordance with the terms of the Award, specifying the number of SARs to be exercised and the date on which such SARs
were awarded.

(e)    Payment. Upon the exercise of a SAR, a member of the plc Group shall pay to the Participant an amount equal to the number of
shares subject to the SAR that are being exercised multiplied by the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of one Share on the exercise date
over the Strike Price, less an amount equal to any income and employment taxes, National Insurance or other social security contributions
required to be withheld. A member of the plc Group shall pay such amount in cash, in Shares valued at Fair Market Value, or any combination
thereof, as determined by the Committee.

(f)    Substitution of SARs for Nonqualified Stock Options. The Committee shall have the authority in its sole discretion to substitute,
without the consent of the affected Participant or any holder or beneficiary of SARs, SARs settled in Shares (or settled in shares or cash in the
sole discretion of the Committee) for outstanding Nonqualified Stock Options, provided that (i) the substitution shall not otherwise result in a
modification of the terms of any such Nonqualified Stock Option, (ii) the number of Shares underlying the substituted SARs shall be the same
as the number of Shares underlying such Nonqualified Stock Options and (iii) the Strike Price of the substituted SARs shall be equal to the
Exercise Price of such Nonqualified Stock Options; provided, however, that if, in the opinion of the Company’s auditors, the foregoing
provision creates adverse accounting consequences for a member of the Combined Group, such provision shall be considered null and void.

9.    Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units. (a) Generally. The Committee shall have the authority:

(i)    to grant Restricted Share Awards and Restricted Share Unit Awards to Employees;

(ii)    to issue or transfer Restricted Shares to Registered Holders on behalf of Participants; and
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(iii)    to establish terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units, including
the Restricted Period, which may differ with respect to each Participant, the time or times at which Restricted Shares or
Restricted Share Units shall become vested and the number of Shares or units to be covered by each grant and whether the
Award shall be subject to Performance Goals.

Each Restricted Share and Restricted Share Unit grant shall be subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 9, and to such
other conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as determined by the Committee and may be reflected in the applicable Award agreement. No
Restricted Share Awards or Restricted Share Unit Awards shall be granted at any time when the Committee is prohibited from doing so by the
Model Code (or the Company’s dealing rules).

(b)    Holding of Restricted Shares. The Committee may require a Participant granted a Restricted Share Award to execute and deliver
to the Company a Restricted Share Agreement with respect to the Restricted Shares setting forth the restrictions applicable to such Restricted
Shares. The Committee shall determine the terms of such Restricted Share Agreement and in particular whether:

(i)    the Restricted Shares shall be held in escrow rather than delivered to the Participant pending the release of the applicable
restrictions, in which case the Committee may require the Participant to additionally execute and deliver to the Company an escrow agreement
satisfactory to the Company; or

(ii)    the Restricted Shares shall be registered in the name of the nominated Registered Holder during the Restricted Period; or

(iii)    other arrangements shall apply to the holding of Restricted Shares during the Restricted Period, the terms of such
arrangements being consistent with the terms of this Plan.

(c)    Rights of a Participant: Subject to the restrictions set forth in this Section 9 and the applicable Restricted Share
Agreement, the Participant generally shall have the rights and privileges of a shareholder as to such Restricted Shares, including without
limitation the right to direct the Registered Holder how to vote such Restricted Shares. Subject to Section 14(c), at the discretion of the
Committee, cash dividends and share dividends with respect to the Restricted Shares may be either currently paid to the Participant or
withheld by the Company or the Registered Holder for the Participant’s account, and interest may be credited on the amount of cash dividends
withheld at a rate and subject to such terms as determined by the Committee. The cash dividends or share dividends so withheld by the
Committee and attributable to any particular Restricted Shares (and earnings thereon, if applicable) shall be distributed to the Participant upon
the release of restrictions on such Restricted Shares. To the extent Restricted Shares are forfeited, any share certificates issued to the
Participant evidencing such shares shall be returned to the Company, and all rights of the Participant to such shares and as a shareholder with
respect thereto, including, but not limited to, the right to any cash dividends and share dividends, shall terminate without further obligation on
the part of the Company.

(d)    Restricted Share Units: The terms and conditions of a grant of a Restricted Share Unit Award will be reflected in a written
Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement. The
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Committee may determine that a Restricted Share Unit Award be granted in the form of a nil cost option or a conditional or contingent right to
acquire shares. Where a Restricted Share Unit Award is granted in the form of a nil cost option, any reference to the Restricted Period
expiring in respect of Restricted Share Units shall be construed as meaning that a Participant may call for the Restricted Share Units within
the period determined by the Committee. A Participant shall not have any beneficial interest in any Shares during the Restricted Period as a
result of being granted a Restricted Share Unit Award. The Company will not be required to set aside a fund for the payment of any such
Award. At the discretion of the Committee, each Restricted Share Unit (representing one Share) awarded to a Participant may be credited with
cash and share dividends paid in respect of one Share (“Dividend Equivalents”). Subject to Section 14(c), at the discretion of the Committee,
Dividend Equivalents may be either currently paid to the Participant or withheld by the Company for the Participant’s account, and interest
may be credited on the amount of cash Dividend Equivalents withheld at a rate and subject to such terms as determined by the Committee.
Dividend Equivalents credited to a Participant’s account and attributable to any particular Restricted Share Unit (and earnings thereon, if
applicable) shall be distributed to the Participant upon settlement of such Restricted Share Unit and, if such Restricted Share Unit is forfeited,
the Participant shall have no right to such Dividend Equivalents.

(e)    Restrictions; Forfeiture: (i) Restricted Shares comprised in a Restricted Share Award awarded to a Participant shall be subject to
the following restrictions until the expiration of the Restricted Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the
Committee, and to such other terms and conditions as may be set forth in the applicable Restricted Share Agreement: (A) the Participant shall
not be entitled to delivery of the share certificate; (B) the Restricted Shares shall be subject to the restrictions on transferability set forth in the
Restricted Share Agreement; (C) the Shares shall be subject to forfeiture to the extent provided in the applicable Restricted Share Award
Agreement. In the event of any forfeiture all rights of the Participant to such Restricted Shares and as a shareholder shall terminate without
further obligation on the part of the Company.

(ii)    Restricted Share Units awarded to any Participant shall be subject to (1) forfeiture until the expiration of the
Restricted Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the Committee, to the extent provided in these Rules and the
applicable Restricted Share Unit Agreement. In the event of any forfeiture, all rights of the Participant to such Restricted Share Units shall
terminate without further obligation on the part of the Company and (2) such other terms and conditions as may be set forth in the applicable
Restricted Share Unit Agreement.

(iii)    The Committee shall have the authority to remove any or all of the restrictions on the Restricted Shares and
Restricted Share Units whenever it may determine that, by reason of changes in applicable laws or other changes in circumstances arising after
the date of the Restricted Share Award or Restricted Share Unit Award, such action is appropriate.

(f)    Restricted Period: The Restricted Period applicable to Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units comprised in an Award shall
commence on the Date of Grant and shall expire from time to time as to that part of the Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units indicated
in a schedule (the “Vesting Schedule”) established by the Committee and set out in the applicable Restricted Share Agreement or Restricted
Share Unit Agreement.
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(g)    Delivery of Restricted Shares and Settlement of Restricted Share Units. (i) Upon the expiration of the Restricted Period with
respect to any Restricted Shares covered by a Restricted Share Award, the restrictions set forth in these Rules and the applicable Restricted
Share Agreement shall be of no further force or effect with respect to such Restricted Shares, except as set forth in the applicable Restricted
Share Agreement. Dividends, if any, that may have been withheld by the Committee and attributable to any particular Restricted Share (and
the interest thereon, if any) shall be distributed to the Participant in cash or, at the sole discretion of the Committee, in Shares having a Fair
Market Value (on the date of distribution) equal to the amount of such dividends, upon the release of restrictions on such Restricted Share.

(ii)    Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in an Award agreement, upon the expiration of the Restricted
Period and the attainment of any other vesting criteria established by the Committee, with respect to any outstanding Restricted Share Units
covered by a Restricted Share Unit Award, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, or his or her beneficiary, without charge, one Share (or
other securities or other property, as applicable) for each such outstanding Restricted Share Unit which has not then been forfeited and with
respect to which the Restricted Period has expired and any other such vesting criteria are attained (“Released Unit”); provided, however, that
the Committee may, in its sole discretion, elect to (i) pay cash or part cash and part Shares in lieu of delivering only Shares in respect of such
Released Units or (ii) defer the delivery of Shares (or cash or part Shares and part cash, as the case may be) beyond the expiration of the
Restricted Period if such extension would not cause adverse tax consequences (whether under Section 409A of the Code or otherwise). If a cash
payment is made in lieu of delivering Shares, the amount of such payment shall be equal to the Fair Market Value of the Shares as of the date
on which the Restricted Period lapsed with respect to such Restricted Share Units. Dividend Equivalent payments due in accordance with
Section 9(d) shall be payable at the same time as the underlying Restricted Share Units are settled following the release of restrictions on such
Restricted Share Units.

(h)    Tax Conditions: Restricted Share Awards and Restricted Share Unit Awards may be granted subject to such conditions for
payment of tax and employees’ National Insurance contributions and employer’s National Insurance contributions as the Committee may
determine, including that, with respect to Awards of Restricted Shares which qualify as employment related restricted securities under
Chapter 2 of Part VII of ITEPA, any member of the plc Group may require a Participant to enter into an election under section 430 or
section 431 of ITEPA.

10.    Other Share-Based Awards. The Committee may issue unrestricted Shares, rights to receive grants of Awards at a future date, the grant
of securities convertible into Shares, the grant of other Awards denominated in Shares (including, without limitation, performance shares, or
performance units), or valued with reference to Shares, under the Plan to Employees, alone or in tandem with other Awards, in such amounts as
the Committee shall from time to time in its sole discretion determine. Each Other Share-Based Award granted under the Plan shall be
evidenced by an Award agreement. Each Other Share-Based Award so granted shall be subject to such conditions not inconsistent with the Plan
as may be reflected in the applicable Award agreement including, without limitation, the payment by the Participant of the Fair Market Value of
such Shares on the Date of Grant.

11.    Changes in Capital Structure and Similar Events. In the event of any:
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(a)    Capital Reorganisation;

(b)    Corporate Transaction; or

(c)    the implementation by the Company of a demerger, or the payment by the Company of a dividend in specie or a super dividend or
other transaction or any change in applicable laws or any change in circumstances which in the opinion of the Committee (acting fairly and
reasonably and taking into account any criteria it may consider to be relevant) would materially affect (whether by increasing or reducing) the
current or future value of an Award

then the Committee shall make any such adjustments in such manner as it may deem equitable, including without limitation, any or all of the
following:

(i)    adjusting any or all of (A) the number of Shares or other securities of the Company (or number and kind of other
securities or other property) which may be delivered in respect of Awards or with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan
(including, without limitation, adjusting any or all of the limitations under Section 5 of the Plan) and (B) the terms of any outstanding Award,
including, without limitation, (1) the number of Shares or other securities of the Company (or number and kind of other securities or other
property) subject to outstanding Awards or to which outstanding Awards relate, (2) the Exercise Price with respect to any Award or (3) any
applicable performance measures (including, without limitation, Performance Criteria and Performance Goals);

(ii)    providing for a substitution or assumption of Awards (or awards of an acquiring company), accelerating the
exercisability of, lapse of restrictions on, or termination of, Awards or providing for a period of time (which shall not be required to be more
than ten (10) days) for Participants to exercise outstanding Awards prior to the occurrence of such event (and any such Award not so exercised
shall terminate upon the occurrence of such event); and

(iii)    cancelling any one or more outstanding Awards and causing to be paid to the holders thereof, in cash, Shares,
other securities or other property, or any combination thereof, the value of such Awards, if any, as determined by the Committee (which if
applicable may be based upon the price per Share received or to be received by other shareholders of the Company in such event), including
without limitation, in the case of an outstanding Option or SAR, a cash payment in an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market
Value (as of a date specified by the Committee) of the Shares subject to such Option or SAR over the aggregate Exercise Price or Strike Price
of such Option or SAR, respectively (it being understood that, in such event, any Option or SAR having a per share Exercise Price or Strike
Price equal to, or in excess of, the Fair Market Value of a Share subject thereto may be canceled and terminated without any payment or
consideration therefor);

provided, however, that:

(i)    in the case of any “equity restructuring” (within the meaning of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor pronouncement thereto) (“ASC 718”)), the Committee shall make an equitable or
proportionate adjustment to outstanding Awards to reflect such equity restructuring;
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(ii)    except as otherwise determined by the Committee, any adjustment in Incentive Stock Options under this Section 11 (other
than any cancellation of Incentive Stock Options) shall be made only to the extent not constituting a “modification” within the meaning of
Section 424(h) (3) of the Code, and any adjustments under this Section 11 shall be made in a manner which does not adversely affect the
exemption provided pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. Any such adjustment shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes;

(iii)    except as provided in this sub-paragraph (iii), no adjustment may have the effect of reducing the Exercise Price of any
Option to less than the nominal value of a Share. Where an Option subsists over both issued and unissued Shares, any such adjustment may
only be made if the reduction of the Exercise Price of Options over both issued and unissued Shares can be made to the same extent. Any
adjustment to the Exercise Price of Options over unissued Shares shall only be made if and to the extent that the Committee shall be authorised
to capitalise from the reserves of the Company a sum equal to the amount by which the nominal value of the Shares in respect of which the
Option is exercisable exceeds the adjusted Exercise Price. The Company may apply such sum in paying up such amount on such Shares and so
that, on exercise of any Option in respect of which such reduction shall have been made, the Company shall capitalise such sum (if any) and
apply the same in paying up such amount as aforesaid; and

(iv)    any adjustment in Incentive Share Options under this Section 11 shall be made only to the extent not constituting a
“modification” within the meaning of Section 424(h)(3) of the Code, and any adjustments under this Section 11 shall be made in a manner
which does not adversely affect the exemption provided pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act.

12.    Effect of Change of Control: Except to the extent a particular Award agreement or Award agreement otherwise provides:

(a)    In the event a Participant’s employment with the Combined Group is terminated by the Combined Group without Cause (and
other than due to death or Disability) on or within 12 months following a Change of Control, notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the
contrary, all Options and SARs held by such Participant shall become immediately exercisable with respect to 100 percent of the Shares subject
to such Options and SARs, and the Restricted Period shall expire immediately with respect to 100 percent of the Restricted Shares and
Restricted Share Units and any other Awards held by such Participant (including a waiver of any applicable Performance Goals); provided that
in the event the vesting or exercisability of any Award would otherwise be subject to the achievement of performance conditions, a portion of
any such Award that shall become fully vested and immediately exercisable shall be based on (a) actual performance through the date of
termination as determined by the Committee or (b) if the Committee determines that measurements of actual performance cannot be reasonably
assessed, the assumed achievement of target performance as determined by the Committee.

(b)    In addition, in the event of a Change of Control, the Committee may in its discretion and upon at least 10 days’ advance notice to
the affected persons, cancel any outstanding Award and pay to the holders thereof, in cash or shares, or any combination thereof, the value of
such Awards based upon the price per Share received or to be received by other shareholders of the Company in the event. Notwithstanding the
above, the Committee shall, in the case of US Participants, exercise such discretion over any Award subject to Code Section 409A at the time
such Award is granted.
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(c)    The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be binding upon any successor corporation or organization resulting from the
merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor corporation or organization succeeding to substantially all
of the assets and business of the Company. The Company agrees that it will make appropriate provisions for the preservation of Participants’
rights under the Plan in any agreement or plan which it may enter into or adopt to effect any such merger, consolidation, reorganization or
transfer of assets.

13.    Amendments and Termination. (a) Amendment and Termination of the Plan. The Board may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or
terminate the Plan or any portion thereof at any time; provided, that no amendment to the advantage of Employees or may be made to:

(i)    the definition of Employee in Section 2;

(ii)    the limitations on the number of Shares subject to the Plan;

(iii)    the basis for determining an Executive’s entitlement to Shares under the Plan;

(iv)    the terms of Shares to be provided under the Plan;

(v)    the adjustment provisions of Section 11 of the Plan; or

(vi)    the Option Price applicable to an Option (other than in the circumstances permitted in Section 11),

without the prior approval of the Company in general meeting except in the case of minor amendments to benefit the administration of the Plan,
to take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment for Employees or
any member of the Combined Group.

(b)    Amendment of Award Agreements. The Committee may, to the extent consistent with the terms of any applicable Award
agreement, waive any conditions or rights under, amend any terms of, or alter, suspend, discontinue, cancel or terminate, any Award
theretofore granted or the associated Award agreement, prospectively or retroactively (including after a Participant’s termination of
employment with the Company); provided, that without shareholder approval, except as otherwise permitted under Section 11 of the Plan,
(i) no amendment or modification may reduce the Exercise Price of any Option or the Strike Price of any SAR, (ii) the Committee may not
cancel any outstanding Option or SAR and replace it with a new Option or SAR (with a lower Exercise Price or Strike, as the case may be) or
other Award or cash and (iii) the Committee may not take any other action which is considered a “repricing” for the purposes of the
shareholder approval rules of any securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which the securities of the Company are listed or
quoted.

provided, further, that any such amendment that would materially and adversely affect the rights of any Participant or any holder or beneficiary
of any Award theretofore granted shall not to that extent be effective without the consent of or sanction of a majority of Participants who,
having been notified of the proposed amendment express their views. For this purpose a majority is determined by reference to the position if
the affected Participants exercised their Options in full or the Restricted Period in respect of their Award expired, and they became entitled to
all the
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Shares which would fall to be allotted, transferred or released upon exercise in full of all outstanding Options and expiry of the Restricted
Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment shall be made to proviso (iii) of this Section 13(b) without shareholder approval.

(c)    Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Committee may establish appendices to the Plan for the purpose of granting
Approved Options to Employees who are primarily liable to tax in the United Kingdom and Awards to Employees who are or may become
primarily liable to tax outside the United Kingdom on their remuneration, subject to such modifications as may be necessary or desirable to
take account of overseas tax, exchange control or securities laws provided that any shares made available under such appendices shall count
towards the limits set out in Section 5.

(d)    Benefits under the Plan shall not be pensionable.

14.    General. (d) Award Agreements.

(i)    Each Award under the Plan shall be evidenced by an Award agreement, which shall be delivered to the Participant and shall
specify the terms and conditions of the Award and any rules applicable thereto, including without limitation, the effect on such Award of the
death, Disability or termination of employment of a Participant, or of such other events as may be determined by the Committee. For purposes
of the Plan, an Award agreement may be in any such form (written or electronic) as determined by the Committee (including, without
limitation, a Board or Committee resolution, an employment agreement, a notice, a certificate or a letter) evidencing the Award. The Committee
need not require an Award agreement to be signed by the Participant or a duly authorised representative of the Company.

(ii)    Awards granted to a Participant under the Plan also may be subject to such other provisions (whether or not applicable to Awards
granted to any other Participant) as the Committee determines appropriate including, without limitation, provisions to assist the Participant in
financing the acquisition of Shares upon the exercise of Options (provided that the Committee determines that providing such financing does
not violate the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and applicable UK law), provisions for the forfeiture of or restrictions on resale or other
disposition of Shares acquired under any Award, provisions giving the Company the right to repurchase Shares acquired under any Award in
the event the Participant elects to dispose of such Shares, provisions allowing the Participant to elect to defer the receipt of Shares upon the
exercise of Awards for a specified period or until a specified event, and provisions to comply with any applicable securities laws or tax
withholding requirements. Any such provisions shall be reflected in the applicable Award agreement.

(b)    Nontransferability. Each Award shall be exercisable only by a Participant during the Participant’s lifetime, or, if permissible
under applicable law, by the Participant’s legal guardian or representative. No Award may be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or
otherwise transferred or encumbered by a Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and any such purported
assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against each member of the plc
Group or any Affiliate; provided that the designation of a beneficiary shall not constitute an assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale,
transfer or encumbrance.
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(c)    Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. The Committee in its sole discretion may provide a Participant as part of an Award with
dividends or dividend equivalents, payable in cash, Shares, other securities, other Awards or other property, on a current or deferred basis, on
such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, including without limitation, payment directly to the
Participant, withholding of such amounts by the Company subject to vesting of the Award or reinvestment in additional Shares, Restricted
Shares or other Awards; provided, that no dividends or dividend equivalents shall be payable in respect of outstanding (i) Options or SARs or
(ii) unearned Awards subject to performance conditions (other than or in addition to the passage of time) (although dividend equivalents may
be accumulated in respect of unearned Awards and paid as soon as administratively practicable (but not more than 60 days) after such Awards
are earned and become payable or distributable).

(d)    Tax Withholding. (i) A Participant may be required to pay to a member of the Combined Group, and each member of the
Combined Group shall have the right and is hereby authorised to withhold from any Shares or other property deliverable under any Award or
from any compensation or other amounts owing to a Participant the amount (in cash, Shares or other property) of any required tax
withholding and payroll taxes in respect of an Award, its exercise, or any payment or transfer under an Award or under the Plan and to take
such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes.

(ii)    Without limiting the generality of the above, the Committee pre-authorizes and permits a Participant to satisfy, in
whole or in part, the foregoing withholding liability (but no more than the minimum required withholding liability if using method (B) or (C) of
this subsection); in each case such withholding intended to satisfy the exemption available under Rule 16b-3(e), to the extent that Rule 16(b)-3
under the United States Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is applicable by:

(A)    payment in cash;

(B)    delivery of Shares owned by the Participant with a Fair Market Value equal to such withholding liability;

(C)    having the Company withhold from the number of Shares otherwise issuable pursuant to the exercise of
the Award a number of Shares with a Fair Market Value equal to such withholding liability; or

(D)    authorising the Company to arrange the sale of sufficient Shares to generate proceeds sufficient to
discharge any withholding liability.

(e)    No Claim to Awards; No Rights to Continued Employment; Waiver. No employee of a member of a Combined Group or an
Affiliate, or other person, shall have any claim or right to be granted an Award under the Plan or, having been selected for the grant of an
Award, to be selected for a grant of any other Award. There is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Participants or holders or
beneficiaries of Awards. The terms and conditions of Awards and the Committee’s determinations and interpretations with respect thereto
need not be the same with respect to each Participant and may be made selectively among Participants, whether or not such Participants are
similarly situated. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any Participant any right to be retained in the
employ of
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a member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate, nor shall it be construed as giving any Participant any rights to continued service on the
Board. A member of the Combined Group or any of its Affiliates may at any time dismiss a Participant from employment (lawfully or
unlawfully), free from any liability or any claim under the Plan, unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or any Award agreement. By
accepting an Award under the Plan, a Participant shall thereby be deemed to have waived any claim to continued exercise or vesting of an
Award or to damages or severance entitlement related to non-continuation of the Award beyond the period provided under the Plan or any
Award agreement, except to the extent of any provision to the contrary in any written employment contract or other agreement between a
member of the Combined Group and its Affiliates and the Participant, whether any such agreement is executed before, on or after the Date of
Grant.

(f)    Terms of employment. The rights and obligations of an Employee under the terms and conditions of his office or employment
shall not be affected by his participation in the Plan or any right he may have to participate in the Plan. An individual who participates in the
Plan waives all and any rights to compensation and damages in consequence of the termination of his office or employment with any
company for any reason whatsoever (whether lawfully or unlawfully) insofar as those rights arise, or may arise, from his ceasing to have
rights under or his entitlement to an Award under the Plan as a result of such termination or from the loss or diminution in value of such rights
or entitlements. In the event of conflict between the terms of this Section 14(f) and the Employee’s terms of employment, this Section will
take precedence.

(g)    Designation and Change of Beneficiary. If provided in an Award agreement or otherwise permitted by the Company, each
Participant may file with the Company a written designation of one or more persons as the beneficiary(ies) who shall be entitled to receive the
amounts payable with respect to an Award, if any, due under the Plan upon his or her death. If a beneficiary designation is permitted, a
Participant may, from time to time, revoke or change his or her beneficiary designation without the consent of any prior beneficiary by filing a
new designation with the Committee. The last such designation received by the Committee shall be controlling; provided, however, that no
designation, or change or revocation thereof, shall be effective unless received by the Committee prior to the Participant’s death, and in no
event shall it be effective as of a date prior to such receipt. If the Company does not allow a Participant to file a beneficiary designation in an
Award Agreement or otherwise, or if a beneficiary designation is permitted but no beneficiary designation is filed by a Participant, the
beneficiary shall be determined by will or the laws of descent and distribution. After receipt of Options in accordance with this paragraph,
beneficiaries will only be able to exercise such Options in accordance with Section 7(h)(ii) of this Plan.

(h)    Termination of Employment. Except as otherwise provided in an Award agreement or an employment, severance, consulting,
letter or other agreement with a Participant, unless determined otherwise by the Committee at any point following such event, neither a
temporary absence from employment due to illness, vacation or leave of absence (including, without limitation, a call to active duty for
military service through a reserve unit) nor a transfer from employment with a member of the Combined Group to employment with another
member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate (or vice-versa) shall be considered a termination of employment of such Participant with a
member of the Combined Group or an Affiliate.
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(i)    No Rights as a Shareholder. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or any Award agreement, no person shall be
entitled to the privileges of ownership in respect of Shares which are subject to Awards hereunder until such Shares have been issued or
delivered to that person.

(j)    Government and Other Regulations. (i) The obligation of the Company to settle Awards in Shares or other consideration shall be
subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by governmental agencies as may be required. Notwithstanding
any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Committee reserves the right to add any additional terms or provisions to any Award granted
under the Plan that it in its sole discretion deems necessary or advisable in order that such Award complies with the legal requirements of any
governmental entity to whose jurisdiction the Award is subject.

(ii)    The Committee may cancel an Award or any portion thereof if it determines, in its sole discretion, that legal or
contractual restrictions and/or blockage and/or other market considerations would make the Company’s acquisition of Shares from the public
markets, the Company’s issuance of Shares to the Participant, the Participant’s acquisition of Shares from the Company and/or the Participant’s
sale of Shares to the public markets, illegal, impracticable or inadvisable. If the Committee determines to cancel all or any portion of an Award
in accordance with the foregoing, the Company shall pay to the Participant an amount equal to the excess of (A) the aggregate Fair Market
Value of the shares of Shares subject to such Award or portion thereof canceled (determined as of the applicable exercise date, or the date that
the shares would have been vested or delivered, as applicable), over (B) the aggregate Exercise Price (in the case of an Option) or any amount
payable as a condition of delivery of Shares (in the case of any other Award). Such amount shall be delivered to the Participant as soon as
practicable following the cancellation of such Award or portion thereof.

(k)    No Section 83(b) Elections Without Consent of Company. No election under Section 83(b) of the Code or under a similar
provision of law may be made unless expressly permitted by the terms of the applicable Award agreement or by action of the Committee in
writing prior to the making of such election. If a Participant, in connection with the acquisition of Shares under the Plan or otherwise, is
expressly permitted to make such election and the Participant makes the election, the Participant shall notify the Company of such election
within ten days of filing notice of the election with the US Internal Revenue Service or other governmental authority, in addition to any filing
and notification required pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code or other applicable provision.

(l)    Payments to Persons Other Than Participants. If the Committee shall find that any person to whom any amount is payable under
the Plan is unable to care for his or her affairs because of illness or accident, or is a minor, or has died, then any payment due to such person
or his or her estate (unless a prior claim therefor has been made by a duly appointed legal representative or a beneficiary designation form has
been filed with the Company) may, if the Committee so directs the Company, be paid to his or her spouse, child, relative, an institution
maintaining or having custody of such person, or any other person deemed by the Committee to be a proper recipient on behalf of such person
otherwise entitled to payment. Any such payment shall be a complete discharge of the liability of the Committee and the Company therefor.

(m)    Nonexclusivity of the Plan. Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Board nor the submission of this Plan to the shareholders of
the Company for approval shall be construed
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as creating any limitations on the power of the Board to adopt such other incentive arrangements as it may deem desirable, including, without
limitation, the granting of share options otherwise than under this Plan, and such arrangements may be either applicable generally or only in
specific cases.

(n)    No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any
kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company or any Affiliate, on the one hand, and a Participant or other person or entity, on the
other hand. No provision of the Plan or any Award shall require the Company, for the purpose of satisfying any obligations under the Plan, to
purchase assets or place any assets in a trust or other entity to which contributions are made or otherwise to segregate any assets, nor shall the
Company maintain separate bank accounts, books, records or other evidence of the existence of a segregated or separately maintained or
administered fund for such purposes. Participants shall have no rights under the Plan other than as unsecured general creditors of the
Company, except that insofar as they may have become entitled to payment of additional compensation by performance of services, they shall
have the same rights as other employees under general law.

(o)    Reliance on Reports. Each member of the Committee and each member of the Board shall be fully justified in acting or failing
to act, as the case may be, and shall not be liable for having so acted or failed to act in good faith, in reliance upon any report made by the
independent public accountant of the Combined Group and its Affiliates and/or any other information furnished in connection with the Plan
by any agent of the Combined Group or the Committee or the Board, other than himself.

(p)    Relationship to Other Benefits. No payment under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any benefits under any
pension, retirement, profit sharing, group insurance or other benefit plan of the Combined Group except as otherwise specifically provided in
such other plan.

(q)    Governing Law. The Plan shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of England. All disputes arising out
of or in connection with the rules shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

(r)    Severability. If any provision of the Plan or any Award or Award agreement is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction or as to any person or entity or Award, or would disqualify the Plan or any Award under any law deemed
applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to conform to the applicable laws, or if it cannot be
construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee, materially altering the intent of the Plan or the Award, such
provision shall be construed or deemed stricken as to such jurisdiction, person or entity or Award and the remainder of the Plan and any such
Award shall remain in full force and effect.

(s)    Obligations Binding on Successors. The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be binding upon any successor
corporation or organization resulting from the merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor
corporation or organization succeeding to substantially all of the assets and business of the Company.

(t)    409A of the Code. (i) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, it is intended that, to the extent this Plan applies
to US Participants, the provisions of this Plan
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comply with Section 409A of the Code, and all provisions of this Plan shall be construed and interpreted in a manner consistent with the
requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code. Each Participant is solely responsible and liable for the
satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may be imposed on or in respect of such Participant in connection with this Plan or any other plan
maintained by the Company (including any taxes and penalties under Section 409A of the Code), and neither any member of the Combined
Group nor any Affiliate shall have any obligation to indemnify or otherwise hold such Participant (or any beneficiary) harmless from any or
all of such taxes or penalties. With respect to any Award that is considered “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Code,
references in the Plan to “termination of employment” (and substantially similar phrases) shall mean “separation from service” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, each payment that may be made in respect of any Award
granted under the Plan is designated as a separate payment.

(ii)    Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, if a Participant is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, no payments in respect of any Awards that are “deferred compensation” subject to Section
409A of the Code shall be made to such Participant prior to the date that is six months after the date of such Participant’s “separation from
service” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code) or, if earlier, the Participant’s date of death. Following any applicable six month delay, all
such delayed payments will be paid in a single lump sum on the earliest date permitted under Section 409A of the Code that is also a business
day.

(iii)    Unless otherwise provided by the Committee, in the event that the timing of payments in respect of any Award
(that would otherwise be considered “deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A of the Code) would be accelerated upon the occurrence
of (A) a Change of Control, no such acceleration shall be permitted unless the event giving rise to the Change of Control satisfies the definition
of a change in the ownership or effective control of a corporation, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of a
corporation pursuant to Section 409A of the Code and any Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder or (B) a Disability, no such
acceleration shall be permitted unless the Disability also satisfies the definition of “Disability” pursuant to Section 409A of the Code and any
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

(u)    Clawback/Forfeiture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, an Award agreement may provide that the
Committee may in its sole discretion cancel such Award if the Participant, without the consent of a member of the Combined Group, while
employed by a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate or after termination of such employment, violates a non-competition, non-
solicitation or non-disclosure covenant or agreement or otherwise has engaged in or engages in Detrimental Activity that is in conflict with or
adverse to the interest of a member of the Combined Group or any Affiliate, including fraud or conduct contributing to any financial
restatements or irregularities, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee may also provide in an Award agreement
that if the Participant otherwise has engaged in or engages in any activity referred to in the preceding sentence, the Participant will forfeit any
gain realized on the vesting or exercise of such Award, and must repay the gain to the Company. The Committee may also provide in an
Award agreement that if the Participant receives any amount in excess of what the Participant should have received under the terms of the
Award for any reason (including without limitation
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by reason of a financial restatement, mistake in calculations or other administrative error), then the Participant shall be required to repay any
such excess amount to the Company.

(v)    Expenses; Gender; Titles and Headings. The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the plc Group. Masculine
pronouns and other words of masculine gender shall refer to both men and women. The titles and headings of the sections in the Plan are for
convenience of reference only, and in the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than such titles or headings shall control. Words in
the singular shall include the plural and words in plural shall include the singular.

Approved by Executive Committee: February 18, 2014
Approved by Shareholders: April 17, 2014
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APPENDIX

HMRC approved part of the Scheme

In relation to any Employee whose remuneration is subject to taxation in the UK and to whom the Committee wishes to grant Approved
Options, the following provisions relating to Options shall apply:

(A) Sections 1 to 14 of the Plan shall apply to the grant of Approved Options under this Appendix subject to the modifications contained in
the following paragraphs.

(B) This Appendix shall not apply to Awards of Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units, Stock Appreciation Rights or Other Share-Based
Awards and, accordingly, Sections 8 to 12 shall not apply to this Appendix.

(C) The definition of Employee in Section 2 shall be construed so that:

(i)    no Option may be granted under this Appendix to a director of any member of the plc Group unless such
director is required to devote not less than 25 hours per week to the affairs of the plc Group; and

(ii)    no Option may be granted under this Appendix to an employee (including one who is a director) who is
ineligible to participate in the Plan by virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA.

(D) Part (b) of the definition of Fair Market Value shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place, a new
paragraph (b) shall be inserted as follows:

“(b) subject to (a) above, the value as agreed between HMRC and the Company in writing in advance of the Date of Grant;”

(E) The definition of Shares shall be subject to the condition that they satisfy paragraphs 16 to 20 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA. For the
avoidance of doubt, Options may not be granted over ADRs under this Appendix.

(F) In addition to its powers under Section 4, the Committee may make such amendments to this Appendix without the approval of
shareholders in general meeting as are necessary or desirable to obtain or maintain HMRC approval of this Appendix.

(G) Any Option granted under this Appendix may only be exercised by an Option Holder who is not ineligible to participate in the Plan by
virtue of paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA.

(H) Section 4(b)(v) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix.

(I) Section 4(b)(vi) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix.

(J) Any correction pursuant to Section 4(b)(vii) to an Option granted under this Appendix shall be subject to the exercise of the
amendment power under Section 13, as modified by this Appendix.
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(K) Section 6 shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place a new Section 6 shall be inserted as follows:

“6.    ELIGIBILITY

6.1    No Employee shall be granted an Option unless:

(a)he has received written notification from the Committee, or from a person designated by the Committee, that he has been selected to
participate in the Plan; and

(b)immediately following such grant the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares which he may acquire by exercise of the Option
and any Shares which he may acquire by exercise of any other options granted under the Plan or any other approved CSOP
scheme (within the meaning of section 521(4) of ITEPA) established by the plc Group will not exceed £30,000 or such
other amount as may be specified pursuant to paragraph 6 of Schedule 4 to ITEPA and for this purpose Fair Market Value
shall be determined on the date on which the relevant Option is granted.”

(L) Section 7(d) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place a new Section 7(d) shall be inserted as follows:

“Conditions of Exercise

(d) The exercise of an Option may be subject to such conditions for payment of taxation, employees’ National Insurance
contributions and employer’s National Insurance contributions liability as the Committee may determine (including without
limitation the right to sell on an Option Holder’s behalf sufficient Shares to satisfy any taxation or National Insurance
contributions) and if any condition is imposed relating to the assumption, payment or reimbursement by the Option Holder of
employer’s National Insurance contributions liability, such conditions shall comply with any applicable legislation or
regulations and the Company shall be entitled to waive in whole or in part the Option Holder’s obligation in respect of such
liability.”

(M) Section 7(e) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place a new Section 7(e) shall be inserted as follows:

“Performance Goals

(e) The Committee shall determine prior to the Date of Grant whether any Performance Goals shall apply to the vesting of an
Option and if so these shall be set out in the applicable Award agreement or share option certificate. Any Performance Goals
applied by the Committee must be objective. If events subsequently occur which cause the Committee to consider that a
different Performance Goal would be a fairer measure of the performance of the job-holder, an amendment may be made to the
extent that the Committee reasonably consider would result in the Performance Goal being no more nor less difficult to satisfy
than it would have been without such amendment.”

(N) The provisos to Section 7(g) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.
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(O) Section 7(i)(iii) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place a new Section 7(i)(iii) shall be inserted as
follows:

“Options shall not be transferable by the Participant other than to the Option Holder’s personal representative on his death and shall be
exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime by him alone;”

(P) Section 11 shall be amended so that the Committee shall not have power to adjust Options granted under this Appendix in the
circumstances envisaged by (b) or (c) of Section 11, nor to adjust the type of Shares subject to an Option. Any adjustment pursuant to
Section 11 to an Option granted under this Appendix shall not take effect without the prior approval of HMRC.

(Q) Section 12(b) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(R) New Sections 12(d) and (e) shall be inserted as follows:

“Roll-over of Options

(d) If any event occurs which falls within sub-section (i), (iv) or (v) of the definition of Change of Control, each Participant who
holds an Option granted under this Appendix may at any time within the appropriate period (which expression shall be
construed in accordance with paragraph 26(3) of Schedule 4 of ITEPA), by agreement with the acquiring company, release any
Option which has not lapsed (the “Old Option”) in consideration of the grant to him of an option (the “New Option”) which (in
accordance with Section 12(e) below) is equivalent to the Old Option but relates to shares in a different company (whether the
acquiring company itself or another company falling within paragraph 27(2)(b) of Schedule 4 of ITEPA) (the “New Grantor”).

(e) The New Option shall not be regarded for the purposes of Section 12(d) as equivalent to the Old Option unless the conditions
set out in paragraph 27(4) of Schedule 4 of ITEPA are satisfied and, in relation to the New Option, the provisions of the Plan
shall be construed as if:

(i) the New Option were an option granted under the Plan at the same time as the Old Option;

(ii) references to any Performance Goals were references to such new Performance Goals (if any) relating to the business
of the New Grantor or any member of the New Grantor’s group as the Committee may consider are appropriate in the
circumstances;

(iii) references to the Company in Sections 2 to 12 and in the definition of plc Group were references to the New Grantor;

(iv) references to Shares were references to shares in the New Grantor.”

(S) Options granted under this Appendix may be exercised by delivery of written notice of exercise (or electronic notice or telephonic
instructions to the extent provided by the
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Committee) accompanied by payment of, or an undertaking to pay, the aggregate Exercise Price). The Exercise Price shall be payable
in cash. Section 7(j) shall be modified accordingly.

(T) Section 14(a)(ii) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix. In its place, a new Section 14(a)(ii) shall be inserted as
follows:

“Additional Provisions of an Award

(ii) Awards granted to a Participant under the Plan may also be subject to such other provisions (whether or not applicable to other
Awards granted to any such Participant) as the Committee determines appropriate to be offered to a Participant to assist the
Participant in financing the acquisition of Shares upon the exercise of Options (provided that such financing does not violate
the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and applicable UK law). Any such arrangements are subject to the prior approval of
HMRC”

(U) Section 14(b) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(V) Section 14(c) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(W) Section 14(d) shall not apply to the grant of Options under this Appendix. In its place a new Section 14(d) shall be inserted as follows:

“Tax Withholding

(i) Subject to Section 14(d)(ii) below, a Participant may be required to pay to a member of the Combined Group, and each
member of the Combined Group shall have the right and is hereby authorised to withhold from any Shares or other property
deliverable under any Award or from any compensation or other amounts owing to a Participant, the amount (in cash) of any
required tax withholding and payroll taxes in respect of an Award, its exercise, or any payment or transfer under an Award or
under the Plan and to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the
payment of such taxes.

(ii) Prior to the exercise of an Option, the Committee shall offer a Participant the opportunity to elect to satisfy, in whole or in part,
any withholding liability by the methods set out in this subsection (but no more than the minimum required withholding
liability if using method (b) or (c) of this subsection):

(a)     payment in cash;

(b) delivery of Shares owned by the Participant with a Fair Market Value equal to such withholding liability;

(c) authorising the Company to arrange the sale of sufficient Shares to generate proceeds sufficient to discharge any
withholding liability.
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In the event that the Participant fails to satisfy the liability within 7 days, the Committee shall be authorised to arrange the sale of
sufficient Shares to generate proceeds sufficient to discharge.”

(X) Section 14(g) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(Y) The second sentence of Section 14(j)(i) and the whole of Section 14(j)(ii) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(Z) Section 14(l) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(AA) Sections 14(u) and (v) shall not apply to Options granted under this Appendix.

(BB) At a time when this Appendix is approved by HMRC, and if such approved status is to be maintained, no amendment to any key
feature (as defined by paragraph 30(4) of Schedule 4 to ITEPA) of the rules of the Plan or this Appendix may take effect as regards this
Appendix without the prior approval of HMRC (and if such approved status is not to be maintained, the Company shall notify HMRC
of the relevant amendment).

(CC) All Shares allotted or transferred upon the exercise of an Option granted under this Appendix shall rank pari passu in all respects with
the Shares in issue at the date of exercise save as regards any rights attaching to such Shares by reference to a record date prior to the
date of exercise.
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FORM OF NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR 
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

FOR THE
CARNIVAL CORPORATION 

2011 STOCK PLAN 
THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made effective as of [DATE], (hereinafter the “Grant Date”) between Carnival Corporation,

a corporation organized under the laws of the Republic of Panama (the “Company”), and [FIRST_NAME] [LAST_NAME] (the “Director”),
pursuant to the Carnival Corporation 2011 Stock Plan (the “Plan”).

R E C I T A L S:

WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Plan pursuant to which awards of restricted Shares may be granted; and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to grant Director an award of restricted Shares pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the covenants of the parties contained in this Agreement, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, for themselves, their successors and assigns,
hereby agree as follows:

DIRECTOR WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE ACCEPTED THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IF
DIRECTOR DOES NOT OBJECT IN WRITING WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS FOLLOWING DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT.

1. Grant of Restricted Stock.
Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and in this Agreement, the Company hereby grants to Director a Restricted Stock

Award consisting of [QUANTITY] Shares (the “Restricted Stock”). The Restricted Stock is subject to the restrictions described herein,
including forfeiture under the circumstances described in Section 5 hereof (the “Restrictions”). The Restrictions shall lapse and the Restricted
Stock shall become nonforfeitable in accordance with Section 3 and Section 5 hereof.

2. Incorporation by Reference, Etc.
The provisions of the Plan are hereby incorporated herein by reference. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Agreement

shall be construed in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and any interpretations, amendments, rules and regulations promulgated by the
Committee from time to time pursuant to the Plan. Any capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the definitions set
forth in the Plan. The Committee shall have final authority to interpret and construe the Plan and this Agreement and to make any and all
determinations under them, and its decision shall be binding and conclusive upon the Director and his legal representative in respect of any
questions arising under the Plan or this Agreement.
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3. Lapse of Restriction.
Except as otherwise provided in Section 5 hereof, the Restrictions with respect to the Restricted Stock shall lapse on the third anniversary

of the Grant Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall have the authority to remove the Restrictions on the Restricted Stock
whenever it may determine that, by reason of changes in applicable laws or other changes in circumstances arising after the Grant Date, such
action is appropriate.

Any shares of Restricted Stock for which the Restrictions have lapsed or been removed shall be referred to hereunder as “released
Restricted Stock.”

4. Share Issuance.
Certificates or book entries evidencing the Restricted Stock shall be issued by the Company and shall be registered in Director’s name on

the stock transfer books of the Company promptly after the date hereof. Subject to Section 6 hereof, the certificates or book-entry evidencing
the Restricted Stock shall remain in the custody and/or subject to the control of the Company at all times prior to the date such Restricted Stock
becomes released Restricted Stock. Pending the release of the Restrictions, the Committee may require the Director to additionally execute and
deliver to the Company (i) an escrow agreement satisfactory to the Committee and (ii) the appropriate stock power (endorsed in blank) with
respect to the Restricted Stock.

5. Effect of Termination of Service.
Upon the termination of Director’s service as a member of the Board, the Restrictions on the unreleased Restricted Stock shall be

released according to the following:

(a) In the event the Director’s service terminates by reason of death or Disability, the Restrictions on the Restricted Stock shall lapse on
the date of Director’s death or Disability and the Restricted Stock shall become released Restricted Stock.

(b) In the event the Director’s service terminates other than by reason of death or Disability, prior to the first anniversary of the
Director’s initial election to the Board, no release of Restricted Stock shall be made, and all unreleased Restricted Stock issued hereunder and
all rights under this Agreement shall be forfeited.

(c) In the event the Director’s service terminates other than by reason of death or Disability, on or after the first anniversary of the
Director’s initial election to the Board, the Restrictions on the Restricted Stock shall lapse (and the Restricted Stock shall become released
Restricted Stock) in accordance with the schedule set forth in Section 3.

6. Rights as a Shareholder.
Director shall not be deemed for any purpose to be the owner of any Restricted Stock unless and until (i) the Company shall have issued

the Restricted Stock in accordance with Section 4 hereof and (ii) the Director’s name shall have been entered as a stockholder of record with
respect to the Restricted Stock on the books of the Company. Upon the fulfillment of the conditions in (i) and (ii) of this Section 6, Director
shall be the record owner of the Restricted Stock unless and until such shares are forfeited pursuant to Section 5 hereof or sold or otherwise
disposed of, and as record owner shall be entitled to all rights of a common stockholder of the Company, including, without limitation, voting
rights and rights to receive currently the dividends, if any, with respect to the Restricted Stock; provided, that the Restricted Stock shall be
subject to the
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limitations on transfer and encumbrance set forth in this Agreement. As soon as practicable following the lapse or removal of Restrictions on
any Restricted Stock, the Company shall deliver the certificate representing such released Restricted Stock to the Director with the restrictive
legend removed. In the event the Restricted Stock is forfeited pursuant to Section 5 hereof, the Director’s name shall be removed from the stock
transfer books of the Company and all rights of the Participant to such shares and as a stockholder with respect thereto, including, but not
limited to, the right to any cash dividends and stock dividends, shall terminate without further obligation on the part of the Company.

7. Restrictive Legend; Compliance with Legal Requirements.
All certificates or book entries representing Restricted Stock shall have affixed thereto a legend in substantially the following form, in

addition to any other legends that may be required under federal or state securities laws:
TRANSFER OF THIS CERTIFICATE AND THE SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY IS RESTRICTED PURSUANT TO THE
TERMS OF THE CARNIVAL CORPORATION 2011 STOCK PLAN, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AND A RESTRICTED
STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF [DATE], BETWEEN CARNIVAL CORPORATION AND [FIRST_NAME]
[LAST_NAME], COPIES OF SUCH PLAN AND AGREEMENT ARE ON FILE AT THE OFFICES OF CARNIVAL CORPORATION.
The granting and delivery of the Restricted Stock, and any other obligations of the Company under this Agreement, shall be subject to all

applicable federal, state, local and foreign laws, rules and regulations and to such approvals by any regulatory or governmental agency as may
be required. If the delivery of the Restricted Stock would be prohibited by law or the Company’s dealing rules, the delivery shall be delayed
until the earliest date on which the delivery would not be so prohibited. Upon the expiration of the Restricted Period of any Restricted Stock,
Director agrees to enter into such written representations, warranties and agreements as the Committee may reasonably request in order to
comply with applicable securities laws or with the Plan or this Agreement.

8. Transferability.
The Restricted Stock may not, at any time prior to becoming released Restricted Stock, be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or

otherwise transferred or encumbered by Director, and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or
encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company; provided, that, the designation of a beneficiary shall not constitute an
assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unreleased Restricted Stock may be
transferred by the Director, without consideration, to a Permitted Transferee in accordance with Section 15(b) of the Plan.

9. Withholding; Section 83(b) Election.
All distributions under the Plan are subject to withholding of all applicable federal, state, local and foreign taxes, and the Committee may

condition the grant and/or delivery of Restricted Stock on satisfaction of the applicable withholding obligations. The Company, Carnival plc or
any Affiliate of the Company or Carnival plc has the right, but not the obligation, to withhold or retain any Restricted Stock or other property
deliverable to the Director in connection with the Award of Restricted Stock or from any compensation or other amounts owing to the Director
the amount (in cash, Shares or other property) of any required tax withholding in respect of the
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Restricted Stock and to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the payment of
such taxes. Director may make an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code in respect of the Restricted Stock and, if he does so, he shall
timely notify the Company of such election and send the Company a copy thereof. Director shall be solely responsible for properly and timely
completing and filing any such election.

10.    UK Income Tax Election.

(a) If the Director is a resident of the UK, the Director and the Company agree that if either of them so elects, they will each enter into
an irrevocable election either jointly or separately pursuant to section 431 of the UK Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (in such
form as is approved by the Commissioners for Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs) not later than 14 days after the Grant Date of this award of
Restricted Shares.

(b) Upon the expiration of the Restricted Period of any Restricted Shares, the Director agrees to enter into such written representations,
warranties and agreements as the Committee may reasonably request in order to comply with applicable securities laws or with the Plan or this
Agreement.

11.    Clawback/Forfeiture.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event of a material restatement of the Company’s issued financial

statements, the Committee shall review the facts and circumstances underlying the restatement (including, without limitation any potential
wrongdoing by Director and whether the restatement was the result of negligence or intentional or gross misconduct) and may in its sole
discretion direct the Company to recover all or a portion of any income or gain realized on the vesting of the Restricted Stock or the subsequent
sale of shares of released Restricted Stock with respect to any fiscal year in which the Company’s financial results are negatively impacted by
such restatement. If the Committee directs the Company to recover any such amount from the Director, then the Director agrees to and shall be
required to repay any such amount to the Company within 30 days after the Company demands repayment. In addition, if the Company is
required by law to include an additional “clawback” or “forfeiture” provision to outstanding awards, under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act or otherwise, then such clawback or forfeiture provision shall also apply to this Agreement as if it had been
included on the Grant Date and the Company shall promptly notify the Director of such additional provision.

12. Miscellaneous.
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(a) Waiver. Any right of the Company contained in this Agreement may be waived in writing by the Committee. No waiver of
any right hereunder by any party shall operate as a waiver of any other right, or as a waiver of the same right with respect to any subsequent
occasion for its exercise, or as a waiver of any right to damages. No waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement shall be held to
constitute a waiver of any other breach or a waiver of the continuation of the same breach.

(b) Notices. Any written notices provided for in this Agreement or the Plan shall be in writing and shall be deemed sufficiently
given if either hand delivered or if sent by fax or overnight courier, or by postage paid first class mail. Notices sent by mail shall be deemed
received three business days after mailing but in no event later than the date of actual receipt. Notices shall be directed, if to the Director, at the
Director’s address indicated by the Company’s records, or if to the Company, at the Company’s principal executive office.

(c) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, and each other provision of this Agreement shall be severable and enforceable to the
extent permitted by law.

(d) No Right to Continued Service. Nothing in the Plan or in this Agreement shall confer upon Director any right to continue to
serve as a member of the Board or shall interfere with or restrict in any way the right of the Company, which are hereby expressly reserved, to
remove, terminate or discharge Director at any time for any reason.

(e) Bound by Plan. Director acknowledges that he has received a copy of the Plan and has had an opportunity to review the Plan
and agrees to be bound by all the terms and provisions of the Plan

(f) Beneficiary. In the event of the Participant’s death, any Shares that vest pursuant to Section 3(b) of this Agreement will be
issued to the legal representative of the Participant’s estate.

(g) Successors. The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company, its successors and
assigns, and on Director and the beneficiaries, executors, administrators, heirs and successors of Director.

(h) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Plan contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior communications, representations and negotiations in respect thereto. No
change, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless the same be in writing and signed by the parties hereto,
except for any changes permitted without consent under Section 14 of the Plan.

(i) Governing Law; JURY TRIAL WAIVER. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of
the State of Florida without regard to principles of conflicts of law thereof, or principles of conflicts of laws of any other jurisdiction which
could cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Florida. THE PARTIES EXPRESSLY AND KNOWINGLY
WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN THE
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EVENT ANY ACTION ARISING UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT IS LITIGATED OR HEARD IN ANY
COURT.

(j) Data Protection. The Employer, the Company and any Affiliate may collect, use, process, transfer or disclose the
Participant’s Personal Information for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan, in accordance
with the Carnival Corporation & plc Equity Plans Participant Privacy Notice the Participant previously received. (The Participant should
contact ownership@carnival.com if he or she would like to receive another copy of this notice.) For example, the Participant’s Personal
Information may be directly or indirectly transferred to Equatex AG or any other third party stock plan service provider as may be selected by
the Company, and any other third parties assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan

(k) Insider Trading/Market Abuse Laws. The Participant may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws
in applicable jurisdictions, including the United States, the United Kingdom, and the Participant’s country, which may affect the Participant’s
ability to directly or indirectly, for his- or her- self or a third party, acquire or sell, or attempt to sell, Shares under the Plan during such times as
the Participant is considered to have “inside information” regarding the Company (as defined by the laws and regulations in the applicable
jurisdiction, including the United States, the United Kingdom, and the Participant’s country), or may affect the trade in Shares or the trade in
rights to Shares under the Plan. Local insider trading laws and regulations may prohibit the cancellation or amendment of orders the Participant
placed before the Participant possessed inside information. Furthermore, the Participant could be prohibited from (i) disclosing the inside
information to any third party, which may include fellow employees (other than on a “need to know” basis) and (ii) “tipping” third parties or
causing them otherwise to buy or sell securities. Local insider trading laws and regulations may be the same or different from any Company
insider trading policy. The Participant acknowledges that it is the Participant’s responsibility to be informed of and compliant with such
regulations, and the Participant should speak to the Participant’s personal advisor on this matter.

(l) Foreign Asset/Account, Exchange Control and Tax Reporting. The Participant may be subject to foreign asset/account,
exchange control and/or tax reporting requirements as a result of the acquisition, holding and/or transfer of Shares or cash (including dividends,
dividend equivalents and the proceeds arising from the sale of Shares) derived from the Participant’s participation in the Plan, to and/or from a
brokerage/bank account or legal entity located outside the Participant’s country. The applicable laws of the Participant’s country may require
that the Participant report such accounts, assets, the balances therein, the value thereof and/or the transactions related thereto to the applicable
authorities in such country. The Participant may also be required to repatriate sale proceeds or other funds received as a result of the
Participant’s participation in the Plan to the Participant’s country through a designated bank or broker within a certain time after receipt. The
Participant acknowledges that the Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance with any applicable foreign asset/account, exchange
control and tax reporting requirements and should consult the Participant’s personal legal advisor on this matter

(m) No Advice Regarding Grant. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making
any recommendations regarding the Participant’s participation in the Plan, or the Participant’s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares. The
Participant should consult with the Participant’s own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding the Participant’s participation in the
Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
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(n) Headings. The headings of the Sections hereof are provided for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for
interpretation or construction, and shall not constitute a part, of this Agreement

(o) Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic
delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third
party designated by the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed this Agreement as of the day first written above.

CARNIVAL CORPORATION 

By:  /s/ Jerry Montgomery               
Jerry Montgomery
Chief Human Resources Officer



Exhibit 31.1

I, Arnold W. Donald, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carnival Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ Arnold W. Donald
Arnold W. Donald
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

I, David Bernstein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carnival Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ David Bernstein
David Bernstein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer



Exhibit 31.3

I, Arnold W. Donald, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carnival plc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ Arnold W. Donald
Arnold W. Donald
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.4

I, David Bernstein, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Carnival plc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ David Bernstein
David Bernstein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer



Exhibit 32.1

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2019 as filed by Carnival Corporation with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carnival Corporation.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ Arnold W. Donald
Arnold W. Donald
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2019 as filed by Carnival Corporation with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carnival Corporation.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ David Bernstein
David Bernstein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer



Exhibit 32.3

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2019 as filed by Carnival plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carnival plc.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ Arnold W. Donald
Arnold W. Donald
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.4

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2019 as filed by Carnival plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carnival plc.

Date: June 24, 2019

By:/s/ David Bernstein
David Bernstein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer


